

## UNIVERSIDADE DO ESTADO DE SANTA CATARINA – UDESC CENTRO DE EDUCAÇÃO DO OESTE – CEO PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ZOOTECNIA

DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO OVINOCULTURA DE LEITE EM CONDIÇÕES DE DESAFIO: IMPACTOS DA NUTRIÇÃO SOBRE DESEMPENHO ZOOTÉCNICO E SAÚDE ANIMAL

DAVI FERNANDO ALBA

# OVINOCULTURA DE LEITE EM CONDIÇÕES DE DESAFIO: IMPACTOS DA NUTRIÇÃO SOBRE DESEMPENHO ZOOTÉCNICO E SAÚDE ANIMAL

Dissertação apresentada ao Curso de Mestrado do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia, Área de Concentração Ciência e Produção Animal, da Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina (UDESC), como requisito parcial para obtenção de grau de **Mestre em Zootecnia Orientador (a): Aleksandro Schafer da Silva** 

Chapecó, SC, Brasil

2019

#### Ficha catalográfica elaborada pelo programa de geração automática da

#### Biblioteca Setorial do CEO/UDESC,

#### com os dados fornecidos pelo(a) autor(a)

#### Alba, Davi Fernando

Óvinocultura de leite em condições de desafio: impactos da nutrição sobre desempenho zootécnico e saúde animal / Davi Fernando Alba. -- 2019. 181 p.

Orientador: Aleksandro Schafer da Silva Dissertação (mestrado) -- Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina, Centro de Educação Superior do Oeste, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia, Chapecó, 2019.

 Ovinocultura. 2. Mastite subclínica. 3. Estresse térmico. 4. Aditivos. 5. Bem-estar animal. I. Schafer da Silva, Aleksandro. II. Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina, Centro de Educação Superior do Oeste, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia. III. Título. A Comissão Examinadora, abaixo assinada, aprova a Dissertação de Mestrado

# OVINOCULTURA DE LEITE EM CONDIÇÕES DE DESAFIO: IMPACTOS DA NUTRIÇÃO SOBRE DESEMPENHO ZOOTÉCNICO E SAÚDE ANIMAL

Elaborada por

#### Davi Fernando Alba

como requisito parcial para obtenção do grau de

Mestre em Zootecnia

Comissão Examinadora:

Aleksandro Schafer da Silva (UDESC)

Aleksandro Schafer da Silva (UDESC) Orientador

hogor (UDESC) Ana Luiza Bachmann

José Francisco Manta/Bragança (UNOESC)

Chapecó, 22 de novembro de 2019.

#### AGRADECIMENTOS

A conclusão do mestrado não é apenas uma etapa, mas uma junção de sonhos, metas, análises, amizades e trabalho que deu certo.

Gostaria de agradecer inicialmente a oportunidade de cursar uma pós-graduação em uma universidade pública e de qualidade, a UDESC foi uma escolha que só me deu bons resultados, principalmente pela possibilidade de estudar com uma bolsa de estudos.

Agradeço a minha família, a meu pai Osmar que mesmo não estando ao meu lado, está zelando por mim, pois me ver formado e estudando era um de seus sonhos; a minha mãe Elsa, padrasto João, irmãos Andrei, Venicios e Laura pelo incentivo durante esse período, afinal vocês também fazem parte dessa construção. Ter uma família com quem contar é algo inestimável, obrigado por tudo!

Um agradecimento especial ao meu orientador Aleksandro, que sim, foi de fato um professor, doutor que conseguiu realizar com êxito sua função, afinal, além de orientar, sempre foi compreensivo e acima de tudo humano, perante minhas dúvidas e dificuldades. Orientar um aluno é um conjunto de tarefas, pois você deve ao mesmo tempo, estimular, corrigir, cobrar, ensinar uma pessoa, que muitas vezes você pouco conhece, a realizar um trabalho pensando não apenas em um certificado, mas sim, em fazer com que esse indivíduo saia melhor como humano e profissional. Obrigado pelos conselhos, pelas cobranças e por todo incentivo a mim repassado nesses dois anos de trabalho (intenso por assim dizer rs). Hoje somos o resultado de uma parceria que deu certo e continuará dando bons frutos!

Quero agradecer a todos os colegas com os quais dividi momentos e aprendizados durante as disciplinas e demais momentos de encontros, conversas e desabafos pelos corredores. Um agradecimento também a meus primeiros "cobaias", alunos para os quais ministrei as aulas sobre parasitologia na graduação, obrigado.

A construção de uma dissertação exige muito esforço, seja ele físico ou mental, quero aqui deixar meu agradecimento aos amigos e parceiros do laboratório de Aditivos na Nutrição Animal. João, Roger, Daiane, Hian, Jorge, obrigado pela força e apoio!

Agradeço também a todos os professores que fizeram parte da minha graduação na UFFS e também na pós-graduação na UDESC, cada um de vocês foi essencial para que eu chega-se até aqui. Sempre digo que precisamos estar rodeados de pessoas que nos fazem bem, obrigado pela amizade Jhonata, Ian, Wilian, Thalia, Laura, Bianca (e tantos outros) que mesmo de longe sempre me deram apoio nesta caminhadada.

As minhas irmãs como costumo falar, Gilneia, Karoline, Marily, Vanessa e Gabriela, obrigado pela convivência, pela amizade e pela ajuda nas infindáveis coletas e análises.

Como Clarice Lispector já dizia "Quem caminha sozinho pode até chegar mais rápido, mas aquele que vai acompanhado, com certeza vai mais longe" e eu sou a prova disso, meu caminho foi mais fácil por cada um de vocês estarem comigo!

#### RESUMO

Dissertação de Mestrado Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina

# OVINOCULTURA DE LEITE EM CONDIÇÕES DE DESAFIO: IMPACTOS DA NUTRIÇÃO SOBRE DESEMPENHO ZOOTÉCNICO E SAÚDE ANIMAL

#### AUTOR: DAVI FERNANDO ALBA ORIENTADOR: ALEKSANDRO SCHAFER DA SILVA Chapecó, 22 de novembro de 2019

A exploração de ovinos para a produção de leite e para fabricação de derivados, como o queijo, sorvetes e iogurtes é uma realidade crescente no Brasil. No entanto, diversos fatores podem estar presentes nos sistemas de produção afetando a saúde dos animais e consequentemente a produção de leite. Dentre os principais problemas enfrentados pelas ovelhas destaca-se o estresse térmico, o balanço energético negativo no período de transição e a mastite. Visando reduzir os diferentes fatores estressantes para ovelhas em lactação, a presente dissertação teve como objetivo avaliar variáveis relacionadas à saúde animal, desempenho produtivo e qualidade de leite de ovelhas Lacaune expostas a condições desafiadoras, isto é, animais em estresse térmico, com mastite ou em período de transição, assim como verificar se a adição de aditivos na dieta poderia minimizar os efeitos negativos causados pelos diferentes desafios. Para isso, quatro experimentos distintos foram realizados. No experimento I, usamos 30 ovelhas (20 com mastite subclínica e 10 usadas como controle) em duas etapas do experimento, sendo que em um primeiro momento identificamos os agentes etiológicos envolvidos, a produção e qualidade do leite, assim como realizado testes de sensibilidade a antimicrobianos; já no segundo momento avaliamos a eficácia de ceftiofur no tratamento de mastite por duas vias de administração (intramuscular e intramamaria), além de verificado a presença da droga no leite pós-tratamento. Na etapa I desse estudo destacamos que ovelhas com mastite subclínica apresentavam uma resposta leucocitária elevada, maior peroxidação lipídica no soro e no leite, menor produção e qualidade de leite, assim como verificamos que o gênero Staphylococcus spp. foi o mais comum dentre os microorganismos envolvido nos casos de mastite. Na segunda etapa detacamos que as duas vias de tratamento tiveram baixa eficácia na cura da mastite, assim como ambas as vias deixam resíduos no leite por maior período que o descrito na bula dos produtos. No experimento II, 30 ovelhas da raça Lacaune no pico de produção foram usadas no estudo durante o verão, quando os animais sofrem com estresse térmico por calor. Animais foram divididos em três grupos (controle; suplementadas com 1% de farinha de resíduo de uva (FRU) e suplementadas com 2% de FRU) com 10 ovelhas cada. Entre os resultados destacamos que a adição de FRU na dieta das ovelhas teve efeitos benéficos à saúde animal, isto é, houve redução dos níveis de oxidantes e aumento do sistema antioxidante no soro e no leite, além de apresentar uma resposta antinflamatória nos animais que receberam 2% FRU. Esses resultados tiveram papel importante para o aumento na produção de leite e redução na contagem de células somáticas (CCS) no leite. No experimento III, houve a adição de biocolina vegetal (BV) na dieta de ovelhas no período de transição, sendo usado 24 ovelhas em período pré-parto (aproximadamente 20 dias), divididas em dois grupos (um sem BV e outro recebendo 5g de BV/animal/dia). No período conhecido como de transição (20 dias pré e pós-parto) não verifiquei diferença entre grupos nos parâmetros resposta avaliados, isto é, a BV não teve os efeitos hepatoprotetores e antioxidantes esperados; mas após o pico de produção, a adição de BV na dieta das ovelhas estimulou aumento de globulinas, reduziu a atividade de enzimas hepáticas, reduziu reações oxidativas no soro em consequência da resposta antioxidante. Também acredito que esses benefícios da BV na dieta estão relacionados a maior percistencia de lactação das ovelhas, assim como maiores níveis de glutationas (GST e GPx) no leite. O experimento IV usou 30 ovelhas em pico de produção e em condições de estresse por calor, divididas em três grupos homogêneos (controle, 5g BV/animal/dia e 10g BV/animal/dia). O estudo teve duração de 20 dias, onde destaco como principais resultados a maior eficiência produtiva dos animais, devido a um aumento na produção de leite, assim como melhorá da qualidade do leite, isto é, houve redução da CCS e oxidantes. Analisando os parâmetros resposta referente a saúde animal, novamante destaco o aumento de globulinas e variáveis antioxidantes séricas, efeitos positivos ao animal em situação de estresse. De modo geral, verifiquei que as condições de estresse avaliadas aqui, como mastite e estresse térmico afetam negativamente a saúde animal, a produtividade e qualidade do leite, assim verificamos que a FRU e BV são aditivos em potencial para minimizar esses efeitos negativos. A BV na dose usada no periodo de transição não mostrou-se eficiente, porém nos periodo de lactação foi capaz de manter a persistência da lactação.

Palavras-chave: Mastite subclínica, estresse térmico, aditivos, bem-estar animal.

#### ABSTRACT

Master's Dissertation Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina

# MILK FARMING IN CHALLENG CONDITIONS: IMPACTS OF NUTRITION ON ZOOTHENIC PERFORMANCE AND ANIMAL HEALTH

#### AUTHOR: DAVI FERNANDO ALBA ADVISER: ALEKSANDRO SCHAFER DA SILVA Chapecó, 22 de november 2019

The exploiration of sheep farming in the production of milk for the production of dairy products such as cheese, ice cream and yogurt is a growing reality in Brazil. However, several factors may be present in production systems affecting animal health and consequently milk production. Among the main problems faced by sheep we highlight the thermal stress, the negative energy balance in the transition period and mastitis. Aiming to reduce the different stressors for lactating sheep, this dissertation aimed to evaluate variables related to animal health, productive performance and milk quality of Lacune ewes exposed to stress conditions, that is, animals in thermal stress, with mastitis or In the transition period, as well as checking if adding additives to the diet could minimize the negative effects caused by different stresses. For this, four distinct experiments were performed. In experiment I, we used 30 sheep (20 with subclinical mastitis and 10 used as controls) in two stages of the experiment. First, we identified the etiological agents involved, milk yield and quality, as well as antimicrobial susceptibility tests. In the second stage we evaluated the efficacy of ceftifur in the treatment of mastive by two routes of administration (intramuscular and intramammary), and verified the presence of the drug in milk after treatment. In step I of this study we highlight that sheep with subclinical mastitis had a high leukocyte response, higher serum and milk lipid peroxidation, lower milk yield and quality, as well as the genus Staphylococcus spp. It was the most common among the microorganisms involved in cases of mastitis. In the second stage we found that both treatment routes had low efficacy in curing mastitis, as both routes leave residues in the milk for a longer period than described in the package insert. In experiment II, 30 lacaune ewes at peak production were used in the study during the Brazilian summer, when the animals suffer from heat stress. Animals divided into three groups (control; supplemented with 1% grape residue flour (FRU); and supplemented with 2% FRU) with 10 sheep each. Among the results we highlight that the addition of FRU in the sheep diet had beneficial effects on animal health, that is, the reduction of oxidant levels and increase of the antioxidant system in whey and milk, besides presenting an anti-inflammatory response in the animals that received 2 % FRU. These results probably played an important role in increasing milk production and reducing somatic cell count (SCC) in milk. In experiment III, there was the addition of plant biocolin (BV) in the sheep diet during the transition period, and 24 ewes were used in the pre-partum period (approximately 20 days), divided into two groups (one without BV and another receiving 5g of BV / animal / day). During the transitional period (20 days before and after delivery) we did not find any difference between groups in the evaluated response parameters, ie, BV did not have the expected hepatoprotetotes and antioxidant effects; but after peak production, the addition of BV to sheep diets stimulated increased globulins, reduced liver enzyme activity, reduced serum oxidative reactions as a result of the antioxidant response. We also believe that these dietary benefits of BV are related to higher lactation rates of sheep, as well as higher levels of glutathione (GST and GPx) in milk. Experiment IV used 30 sheep at peak production and under heat stress conditions, divided into three homogeneous groups (control, 5g BV / animal / day and 10g BV / animal / day). The study lasted 20 days, where we highlight as main results the higher productive efficiency of the animals, due to an increase in milk production, as well as improved milk quality, ie, reduced CCS and oxidants. Analyzing the response parameters related to animal health, novamante highlight the increase of globulins and serum antioxidant variables, positive effects to the animal under stress. Overall, we found that stress conditions evaluated here as mastitis and heat stress negatively affect animal health, milk yield and quality, thus found that FRU and BV are potential additives to minimize these negative effects. BV at the dose used in the transition period was not efficient, but in lactation periods it was able to maintain lactation persistence.

Keywords: Subclinical mastitis, heat stress, additives, animal welfare.

# SUMÁRIO

1. Capítulo I	12
Revisão de Literatura	12
1.1. Ovinocultura de leite no Brasil	12
1.1.1. Impactos da mastite na ovinocultura	14
1.1.2. Ambiente e estresse térmico	17
1.2. Nutrição de ovelhas leiteiras	20
1.2.1. Fontes de colina natural como suplemento na nutrição animal	21
1.2.2. Diferentes usos dos resíduos agroindustriais da uva	24
1.3. Parâmetros resposta da saúde animal	26
1.4. Objetivo	29
1.4.1 Objetivo geral	29
1.4.2. Objetivos específicos	29
2. Capítulo II	30
2.1. Artigo I	31
2.2. Artigo II	67
2.3. Manuscrito I	102
2.4. Manuscrito II	130
3. Considerações Finais	170
Referências	171
Anexos: Certificados de aprovação dos projetos de pesquisa pelo Cômite de Ética n	o Uso
de Animais (CEUA)	178

#### 1. CAPÍTULO I

#### **REVISÃO DE LITERATURA**

#### 1.1. PANOMARA DA OVINOCULTURA DE LEITE NO BRASIL

O setor de ovinocultura está em constante crescimento, pois segundo dados coletados em 2017, o rebanho ovino em nível mundial era composto por 1.202.430.935 animais, sendo a China o maior produtor, seguida pela Austrália e Índia; já o Brasil ocupava o 19º lugar com 17.976.367 animais (FAO, 2017). Quando olhamos o cenário nacional, notamos que o rebanho ovino possui destaque nas regiões Nordeste e Sul do Brasil, ao passo que as regiões Centro-Oeste e Sudeste não possuem um setor desenvolvido nesse agronegócio. O censo do Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística (IBGE) realizado em 2017 revelou um rebanho ovino de 13.770.344 animais no país, número menor do que o contabilizado pela Organização das Nações Unidas (FAO). Destes, a Região Nordeste possui 9.032.191 animais, seguida pela Região Sul com 3.304.397 (Embrapa, 2018a).

A criação de ovinos é norteada pela finalidade dos animais, direcionados para produção de carne, leite, lã ou pele. Dessa forma, cada finalidade possui diferentes exigências a serem atendidas pelo produtor. Para a determinação do sistema de produção deve-se considerar a raça a ser utilizada de acordo com o clima, levando em conta a interação genótipo/ambiente, mão de obra requerida no manejo a ser empregado, bem como cuidados com úbere e ordenha dos animais (Selaive e Osório, 2014).

Uma característica da criação de ovinos é a precocidade em comparação aos bovinos. Mais animais nascem em um ano, já que o tempo de gestação de uma ovelha é de 152 dias (5 meses), enquanto que o de uma vaca é de 280 a 290 dias (9 meses). Isto facilita a troca de animas na ocorrência de doenças, também possibilita uma seleção maior das matrizes utilizadas e consequente melhoria do desempenho, além de antecipar o retorno do investimento na criação (Morris e Kenyon, 2014). A atividade pode ser utilizada em propriedades com mão de obra familiar, visando incrementar a renda das famílias (Selaive e Osório, 2014; Epagri, 2019).

A comercialização de ovinos gerou ao Brasil uma movimentação de R\$641.015,00 em 2017, com 3.372.707 animais. Com isso, houve um aumento econômico da atividade de 229,25% em relação ao censo anterior (2006). A produção de lã no Brasil chegou a 7.134.000 Kg, com um total de 2.232.606 animais tosquiados, sendo que apenas o Sul do

país foi o responsável por quase toda essa produção, isto é, 7.059.000 kg (Embrapa, 2018b).

A produção de leite de ovelha é uma atividade desenvolvida em pequena escala no Brasil. O início da produção leiteira no país se deu pela raça Lacaune no sul do país (Guimarães e Souza, 2014). Em estudo elaborado por Bianchi (2018) com dados de 15 propriedades no Brasil, observou-se que a produção comercial de leite de ovelha tem se desenvolvido a partir da década de noventa, o que demonstra que é uma atividade agropecuária com poucos anos de produção. Em 2011, a atividade computava uma produção de aproximadamente 509.000 litros (Rohenkohl et al., 2011). Segundo a Associação Brasileira de Criadores de Ovinos Leiteiros (ABCOL), em 2015 o rebanho de ovinos leiteiros no país era de pouco mais de 6800 matrizes, com produção de 700 mil litros de leite por ano (Bianchi, 2017). Nos anos de 2015 a 2017 das principais unidades significativamente produtoras de leite de ovelha no Brasil, quatro estavam na localizadas no estado do Rio Grande do Sul, três unidades em Santa Catarina, uma no Paraná, duas em São Paulo, uma no Rio de Janeiro, três em Minas Gerais eem Brasília (Bianchi, 2018).

Uma das raças mais exploradas para a atividade leiteira é a Lacaune. As fêmeas da raça podem atingir produção de até 4,5 litros de leite por dia no pico de produção (Brito et al., 2006), mas isso depende da idade da ovelha e das condições alimentares e ambientais oferecidas ao animal. Estudos realizados com ovelhas Lacaune no Oeste de Santa Catarina verificaram produção em torno de 2 litros de leite/animal/dia no pico de produção (Bianchi et al., 2018; Santos et al., 2019).

Mesmo a produção por animal ser em menor quantidade, o leite ovino tem elevado teor de sólidos (Sakul e Boylan, 1992; Katsiari et al., 2002; Pavic et al., 2002), o que favorece a produção de derivados, principalmente o queijo. Além disso, a produção de queijos permite agregação de valor ao produto final, o que pode aumentar a renda dos agricultores.

Um dos momentos mais críticos para as ovelhas leiteiras é o final da gestação, parto e início da lactação, também conhecido como período de transição, onde os animais podem desenvolver doenças metabólicas. Uma das mais importantes é a toxemia da prenhez (Marteniuk e Herdt, 1988; Santos et al., 2011; Schlumbohm e Harmeyer, 2008), que estão relacionadas a maiores demandas de glicose sérica no final da gestação (principalmente quando a gestação é de mais de um cordeiro), mas que não consegue ser suprida apenas pela alimentação, o que estimula a lipólise sobrecarregando o fígado das ovelhas, gerando transtornos metabólicos. Além disso, estudos têm apontado que a toxemia da prenhez, além de alterações metabólicas, pode diminuir a imunidade dos animais (Lacetera et al., 2001; Hefnawy et al., 2010), o que também pode predispor a outras doenças infecciosas, como a mastite. Já o tratamento dos casos de mastite ovina, muitas vezes é realizado com medicamentos para uso em bovinos, o que pode deixar resíduos de antimicrobianos no leite devido a períodos de retenção diferentes entre as espécies (Pengov e Kirbis, 2009).

Somado a isso, animais mantidos em ambientes com altas temperaturas demandam de maior gasto de energia para dissipação de calor devido ao estresse térmico, o que também afeta a produção dos animais (Morrison, 1983; Marai et al., 2007), assim como o consumo de alimentos (Costa et al., 1992). Para minimizar os efeitos do balanço energético no final da gestação, são necessários cuidados com a dieta dos animais, disponibilizando alimentos concentrados que consigam fornecer maiores quantidade de glicose (Van Saum, 2000; Brozos et al., 2011). Salienta-se que a dieta deve ser formulada de acordo com idade dos animais, de modo a atender as exigências nutricionais, principalmente em ovelhas no pico de lactação, para obter o máximo desempenho produtivo.

#### **1.1.1. IMPACTOS DA MASTITE NA OVINOCULTURA**

Um dos principais problemas que comprometem a ovinocultura é a mastite. Doença que compromete a glândula mamária das ovelhas diminuindo a produção (Santos et al., 2007). A mastite é o resultado da resposta imunológica a algum tipo de agressão sofrida pelo tecido mamário, afetando o bem-estar dos animais, diminuindo a eficiência produtiva e aumentando o custo de produção (Nogueira et al., 2013), além de aumentar custos com tratamentos e reposição de matrizes descartadas devido a doença.

De acordo com Mutinati et al. (2013), a gestação e a produção de leite exigem bastante da ovelha, que acaba perdendo peso, reduzindo resposta imunológica e ocasionando o que se chama de estresse oxidativo. A diminuição da capacidade imunológica frente aos agentes patogênicos, somada aos danos celulares provocados pelo estresse oxidativo podem favorecer o desenvolvimento da mastite.

As cabras e ovelhas sadias apresentam níveis basais de CCS muito mais elevado do que os verificados em vacas sadias (~300.000 cel./ml para cabras, ~200.000 cel./ml para ovelhas e ~70.000 cel./ml para vacas), desse modo o nível de células somáticas em leite proveniente de úberes com infecção é, geralmente, muito mais elevado em caprinos

e ovinos do que em vacas (Junior et al., 2015). Brito et al. (2006) afirmam que a detecção da mastite através da contagem de células somáticas e o "California Mastitis Test" (CMT) é uma importante ferramenta para o diagnóstico precoce de mastite, resultando em menores perdas econômicas.

Nas mastites clínicas, em ovelhas leiteiras e nas ovelhas destinadas à produção de carne os principais microrganismos isolados em casos isolados ou em surtos são *Staphylococcus aureus, Staphylococcus* coagulase negativos, *Mannheimia haemolytica* (Bergonier e Berthelot, 2003). Analisando 124 amostras de leite provenientes de 62 ovelhas, 26,6% mostraram-se microbiologicamente positivas, onde *Staphylococcus* coagulase negativo foi o principal microrganismo isolado, detectado em 19 glândulas mamárias (57,6%), *Staphylococcus aureus, Micrococcus* sp., *Streptococcus α hemolítico* e *Streptococcus agalactiae* foram isolados, respectivamente, em cinco (15,2%), três (9%) e uma (3%) glândulas mamárias (Coutinho et al., 2006).

Silva e Silva (2010) examinaram 352 glândulas mamárias, das quais 5,97% apresentaram mastite clínica (MC) e por meio do California Mastitis Test, 7,39% das metades mamárias apresentaram mastite subclínica (MSC). Na MC as bactérias isoladas foram *Staphylococcus* spp. coagulase negativo (42,9%); *Staphylococcus aureus* (9,52%); *Streptococcus* spp. (4,76%) e *Escherichia coli* (4,76%). Na MSC as bactérias isoladas foram *Staphylococcus* spp. coagulase negativo (26,9%); *Staphylococcus aureus* (15,4%); *Streptococcus* spp. (7,69%); *Escherichia coli* (7,69%) e *Citrobacter freundii* (11,5%). Em um compilado de dados de pesquisas, os principais microrganismos isolados de casos de mastite em pequenos ruminantes no Brasil foram *Staphylococcus* spp., *Staphylococcus* spp., *S. agalactiae, Micrococcus* spp., *Corynebacterium bovis, Bacillus* spp., *Pasteurella multocida, Pseudomonas* spp, *Escherichia coli, Klebsiella* spp., *Serratia* spp (Peixoto, 2010). Esses dados evidenciam que os principais microrganismos envolvidos na mastite em ovinos pertencem ao gênero *Staphylococcus* spp.

A sensibilidade a antimicrobianos é muito variável e depende de diversos fatores. Dentre eles estão à cepa bacteriana, dose correta dos produtos, uso ou aplicações de acordo com o recomendado na bula do medicamento e testes de sensibilidade antes da aplicação. Estudos verificaram que a sensibilidade a antimicrobianos de microrganismos isolados de amostras de leite de ovelhas com mastite oscila entre 20 a 100% (Coutinho et al., 2006) ou 50 a 100% (Silva e Silva, 2010). Além de reduzir a produção, a mastite pode comprometer a qualidade dos produtos derivados do leite. Rovai et al. (2015) utilizaram leite de ovelhas sadias e com mastite para avaliar a produção, valores de CCS, propriedades de coagulação, o rendimento da produção de queijo, os constituintes do queijo (gordura, proteína) observando que houve diferença significativa entre a produção entre uma glândula saudável e uma com mastite, e entre os valores de CCS no mesmo animal; além da diminuição da gordura do queijo do leite de animais com mastite; no entanto, quando misturados o leite de animais sadios e doentes, não ocorreu diferença significativa. Esses dados evidenciam a importância do diagnóstico precoce dos animais com mastite, visto que se a proporção de animais com a doença no rebanho for elevada, podem ocorrer perdas significativas na produção (litros de leite/animal/dia) e dos derivados do leite (quilos de queijo).

As características sensoriais do queijo podem ser afetadas pelo armazenamento do leite com mastite quando este não é processamento logo após a ordenha, onde o queijo produzido com esse leite apresentou pior aceitação por ter sabor menos palatável (ser mais ácido, amargo) e ainda ter a textura menos resistente (Rovai et al., 2015). Como na maioria das fazendas produtoras de leite, o processamento não ocorre logo após a ordenha, a presença de leite com mastite e microrganismos pode comprometer a produção dos derivados, e consequentemente diminuir a aceitação pelo consumidor.

Uma questão que dificulta o tratamento de mastite em ovinos é a falta de formulações com antimicrobianos direcionadas a espécie. Isso se torna ainda mais difícil quando se busca tratamentos por via intramamária, devido a escassez de bisnagas com tamanho adequado para a aplicação do produto pelo esfíncter do teto das ovelhas. Isso restringe os produtores a usar medicamentos destinados ao tratamento de mastite em bovinos, o que pode causar outros problemas, como resíduos de antibiótico no leite, apontado por Pengov e Kirbis (2009), que também verificaram que o período de retirada do leite (descarte) é maior para ovelhas do que para vacas, pois o período de retenção dos produtos foram maiores para ovelhas.

Em rebanhos com casos frequentes de mastite, ressalta-se a necessidade fazer o isolamento bacteriano a fim de identificar quais os microrganismos presentes na fazenda produtora, bem como, testar a sensibilidade a diferentes classes de antimicrobianos antes de realizar a aplicação nos animais. Esse procedimento reduz os custos com tratamentos, visto que o produtor utiliza apenas produtos previamente selecionados, aumentando as

chances de eficácia e diminui a possibilidade de usar drogas para as quais já existe resistência bacteriana.

#### **1.1.2. AMBIENTE E ESTRESSE TÉRMICO**

A região Sul do Brasil é caracterizada por estações do ano definidas, sendo que o inverno é frio e úmido e o verão quente e úmido. Essa variação climática exige dos animais de produção uma adaptação constante às variações de umidade e temperatura. O conjunto de mecanismos utilizados pelos animais para manter a temperatura corporal é denominado termorregulação, sendo fundamental para a adaptação dos animais aos diferentes ambientes (Souza e Batista, 2012). Os autores apontam que quando as temperaturas são muito severas, os animais tem dificuldade de dissipar calor, podendo desenvolver uma quadro de estresse térmico. Ames (2014) cita que as necessidades de direcionamento de energia para ganhos ou perdas de calor podem comprometer a produção animal.

Um termo utilizado sobre a temperatura ideal para os animais de produção foi apresentado por Mount (1974), a termoneutralidade. De acordo com o autor, seria a faixa de temperatura ambiental onde o animal necessita gastar a menor quantidade de energia para regulação da temperatura, onde o mesmo esteja em uma zona de conforto ideal, em plena saúde e potencial produtivo. A faixa correspondente a termoneutralidade pode ser observada na Figura 1.



Figura 1. Zona de termoneutralidade. Adaptado de Neto Carvalho, Revista leite Integral, 2012.

Estudos com ovinos e caprinos no Brasil verificaram que além do ambiente, fatores como a cor da pele e o tamanho dos pelos podem afetar a temperatura corporal dos animais (Acharya et al., 1995; Leitão et al., 2013). A zona de conforto térmico para fêmeas da raça Santa Inês foi em torno de 25°C em ambiente com umidade relativa de 65% (Eustáquio Filho, et al., 2011). No entanto, em ambientes abertos (campos e pastagens) não é possível controlar umidade e temperatura, o que pode expor os animais a situações de estresse. Marai et al. (2007) apontam que ovinos expostos a altas temperaturas tem diminuição na taxa de ingestão de alimentos, comprometendo sua produção e reprodução, visto que a temperatura afeta negativamente as funções biológicas. O estresse térmico também foi verificado em ovinos transportados em caminhões, principalmente quando os mesmos ficavam estacionados, devido ao menor fluxo de ar (Fisher et al., 2005).

Buscando a melhoria dos sistemas de produção, Wojtas et al. (2014) observaram parâmetros fisiológicos de ovinos em diferentes temperaturas e umidades, bem como

efeitos do aumento da ventilação no ambiente, e verificaram que o aumento da velocidade do ar melhorou a condição dos animais mesmo em temperaturas mais elevadas. A partir desses dados, verificou-se que a construção de locais para produção de ovinos devem ser planejados de modo a aproveitar as correntes de ar. Chauhan et al. (2014) observaram que o estresse térmico prejudica as respostas do sistema antioxidante das ovelhas, no entanto, este efeitos negativos são amenizado quando adicionados alimentos com propriedade antioxidante na dieta. O mesmo foi observado por Santos et al. (2019), isto é, com a adição de óleo de açaí na dieta de ovelhas em lactação em estresse térmico os autores verificaram que os animais melhoraram a produção de leite e tiveram ativação do sistema antioxidante, mesmo em condições adversas. A adição de farinha de resíduos de uva na dieta de galinhas de postura em estresse térmico melhorou a eficiência produtiva e a qualidade dos ovos (Reis et al., 2019). Esses dados mostram que a adequação das instalações, ou mesmo, a adição de produtos (via alimentar) que minimizem os impactos do estresse térmico podem ser utilizados para melhorar a saúde e o desempenho dos animais de produção.

Diante do exposto verifica-se a necessidade de ajuste dos ambientes para o melhor desenvolvimento da ovinocultura. Além disso, fatores relacionados às raças utilizadas também podem comprometer o sistema produtivo, visto que as necessidades e capacidade de adaptação ambiental podem ser diferentes. A disponibilização de água e alimentos de qualidade, junto a um ambiente adequado (temperatura, umidade e velocidade do ar) é essencial para a exploração máxima da atividade.

#### **1.2. NUTRIÇÃO DE OVELHAS LEITEIRAS**

A eficiência produtiva de ovelhas está relacionada a diversos fatores, dentre eles, a genética, a idade, o desenvolvimento corporal e principalmente aos alimentos disponíveis durante a lactação. O manejo das fêmeas destinadas a produção de leite deve iniciar logo ao nascimento, estendendo-se até as mesmas chegarem a idade reprodutiva, onde cada cabanha deve estabelecer calendário de vacinação contra doenças, aplicação de vermífugos, de acordo com as necessidades locais e do sistema de produção utilizado. Por se tratarem de animais destinados a produção de leite para consumo humano, os cordeiros são separados das mães precocemente, sendo alimentados parcial ou totalmente de forma artificial (Monteiro et al., 2014), isto é, com leite de ovelha ou sucedâneos. Bôas

et al. (2003) apontam que os cordeiros têm um crescimento expressivo nas primeiras semanas de vida. No entanto a separação dos cordeiros da mãe exige mais atenção aos animais, visto que se deve fornecer alimentação suficiente e de boa digestibilidade, para garantir esse crescimento. Uma forma de manter o desenvolvimento dos cordeiros é a suplementação com concentrado (Bôas et al., 2003), que ajuda a fornecer energia e proteína aos animais. O desenvolvimento dos animais até a idade reprodutiva depende de vários fatores, dentre eles a genética, o ambiente e o sistema de produção onde estão inseridos (Simplício e Maia, 2014).

Em relação as matrizes, Kahn et al. (1999) apontam que final da gestação e durante a lactação, há um aumento das necessidades de energia metabolizável, que pode se intensificar conforme o aumento da produção de leite. Os autores citam também que a suplementação nutricional das ovelhas pode melhorar a resistência a parasitoses e melhorar a produtividade. Uma característica comum em ovinos é o desenvolvimento de gestações gemelares, com dois ou mais fetos em ovelhas multíparas. Estudo elaborado por Macedo Junior et al. (2011), apontaram que ovelhas com gestações gemelares com 2 fetos apresentaram maior produção de leite, sendo que este leite possui maior valor energético. Consequentemente, como a produção de leite foi maior, os autores citam que a necessidade energética dessas ovelhas é superior quando comparado as com gestações simples. Esse é um fator que deve ser considerado em sistemas de produção, onde ovelhas, de mesma idade, raça e peso, podem ter demandas nutricionais distintas, mas que devem ser consideradas para manter a produção e saúde do rebanho. Principalmente, por que animais com maior produtividade podem consumir mais reservas corporais (gordura e musculatura), o que pode comprometer gestações posteriores.

Para melhorar a saúde e produtividade de ovelhas em lactação, diversos estudos têm sido realizados utilizando aditivos e suplementos. Dentre os estudos recentes com ovinos, podem ser citados Santos et al. (2019) que adicionaram óleo de açaí na dieta de ovelhas Lacaune em lactação, o qual melhorou o status antioxidante e aumentou a produção de leite; Jaguezeski et al. (2019) que adicionaram nanocapsulas de curcumina na dieta de ovelhas, o que aumentou os níveis de antioxidantes e reduziu a peroxidação lipídica no leite, bem como reduziu os leucócitos totais; Biazus et al. (2018) que suplementaram ovelhas com difenil disseleneto e verificaram aumento da atividade antioxidante e de gordura no leite, bem como ação antinflamatória nos animais. Custódio et al. (2017) adicionaram um produto homeopático na dieta de ovelhas prenhez durante o período de transição, que reduziu os níveis de corpos cetônicos e enzimas hepáticas,

melhorando a saúde das ovelhas. Os dados da literatura apontam melhoras na saúde animal, bem como, do leite de ovelhas, o que ressalta a importância do desenvolvimento e utilização de produtos naturais visando melhorias na saúde e produção animal.

# 1.2.1. FONTES DE COLINA NATURAL COMO SUPLEMENTO NA NUTRIÇÃO ANIMAL

Para que ovinos possam ter um bom desenvolvimento e posteriormente uma boa vida produtiva, é necessário formular uma dieta completa, de onde o organismo possa extrair os macro e micronutrientes desde o nascimento. A colina é uma nutriente importante para as funções celulares, seja em sua forma íntegra, ou em seus metabolitos, e está diretamente relacionada a mecanismos de sinalização transmembrana, neurotransmissão e transporte de lipídios (Zeisel e Blusztajn, 1994). Tem grande importância para a função hepática, sendo essencial para síntese de lipoproteínas e fosfolipídios, atuando também no transporte e quebra de gorduras, prevenindo o desenvolvimento do fígado gorduroso (Saeed et al., 2017).

Em aves e suínos (denominados não ruminantes), já existem valores de exigência para a suplementação de colina na dieta (Rostagno et a., 2005), comumente utilizada na forma de cloreto de colina (Pompeu et al., 2011; Farina, 2014; Trindade Neto et al., 2009; Robles-Huaynate et al., 2014). Em ruminantes, como os ovinos, a suplementação de colina na forma de cloreto de colina na dieta é ineficaz, pois está é degradada no rúmen e convertida em metano (Neill et al. 1978; Neill et al., 1979).

Buscando melhorias de produção em ruminantes e, sabendo que a colina era degradada no rúmen, foi necessária a busca por outras maneiras de suplementação do nutriente. Neste sentido, diversos estudos foram realizados utilizando fontes de colina protegidas da degradação ruminal (RPC), para avaliar se a suplementação do nutriente traria efeitos benéficos para bovinos (Cooke et al., 2007; Bryant et al., 1999; Bindel et al., 2000; Guretzky et al., 2006) e ovinos (Tsiplakou et al., 2016; Michailoff et al., 2017).

A maioria dos estudos com a RPC focaram em aumento da produção (ganho de peso) e avaliação da função hepática. A colina protegida melhorou o ganho de peso de novilhas em terminação (Bindel et al., 2000), bovinos em terminação alimentados com quatro níveis de colina protegida (0; 0,25; 0,5 e 1,0 % do concentrado) que tiveram maior ganho de peso na dose de 0,25%; enquanto que cordeiros a suplementação com as mesmas doses do produto não tiveram efeito sobre o ganho de peso (Bryant et al., 1999),

todavia a suplementação de colina protegida melhorou o ganho de peso de bovinos no início da terminação (Pinotti et al., 2009).

Em vacas em lactação, a suplementação de RPC tem sido estudada buscando aumento da produção de leite, bem como aumento dos sólidos (proteína, lactose e gordura). A adição RPC em diferentes doses aumentou a produção de leite por animal/dia de acordo com o aumento dos níveis de suplementação, parecendo ser um limitador de produção (Erdman e Sharma, 1991), pode prevenir ou atenuar os casos de lipidose hepática em vacas com restrição alimentar (Cooke et al., 2007). Estudo com suplementação de RPC em vacas holandesas sugere que a colina pode aumentar a taxa de síntese de lipoproteínas de densidade muito baixa e a secreção de lipídios esterificados do fígado, sendo que o desempenho das vacas é responsivo ao aumento da oferta de colina durante o período pré e pós-parto (Piepenbrink e Overton, 2003). A adição de RPC aumentou a produção de leite e a concentração de colina no leite (Piotti et al., 2003), dado que reforça que a produção de leite pode estar relacionada a biodisponibilidade de colina.

A discussão sobre a importância de aditivos na dieta animal, bem como, as novas perspectivas mundiais voltadas para o uso de fontes renováveis de alimentos, estimularam estudos com extratos de plantas com ação no metabolismo animal, melhorando a saúde e desempenho (Rochfort et al., 2008; Vasta e Luciano, 2011; Geraci et al., 2012; Hassan et al., 2013; Valero et al., 2014). Sabendo disso, um dos produtos que foram desenvolvidos é a biocolina, uma fonte vegetal de colina (BV), composta por extratos vegetais a base de Trachyspermum amni, Citrullus colocynthis, Achyranthus aspera e Azadirachta, e que possui baixa capacidade higroscópica (Rohr, 2018). De acordo com a literatura, a BV contém a colina em forma de conjugados de colina, principalmente na forma de fosfatidilcolina, uma molécula que apresenta resistência natural contra a degradação ruminal (Godínez-Cruz et al., 2015). Estudos com a BV foram realizados em frangos de corte (Calderano et al., 2015) que verificaram que a BV pode substituir o cloreto de colina na dieta. Mena-Bustamante (2018) adicionou a BV na dieta de galinhas de postura, onde a mesma teve bons resultados em relação a taxa de postura e qualidade dos ovos. A adição de BV na dieta de ovelhas em período pré-parto melhorou o peso das ovelhas, bem como aumentou a produção de leite após o parto (Crosby et al., 2017). Já em bovinos de corte, a BV na dieta aumentou o ganho de peso dos animais (Fernandes et al., 2008). As rotas de síntese de colina e fosfatidilcolina podem ser observadas na Fígura 2, onde hipotetizamos o local onde a colina vegetal agiria.



Figure 2. O metabolismo da colina, folato e metionina estão intimamente relacionados (setas em preto). A hipótese é que a colina vegetal (em verde) seria absorvida pelo intestino animal já na forma de fosfadilcolina, poupando a transformação de colina em fosfatidilcolina. Adaptado de Zeisel & Blusztajn (1994).

Os estudos com essa nova fonte de colina ainda são recentes, no entanto, têm apresentados bons resultados. A principal dificuldade de utilizar a colina na dieta de ruminantes é o fato desta ser degradada no rúmen; se a BV não for degradada pelos microrganismos ruminais, será uma fonte viável de suplementação, mas para isso são necessários mais estudos a fim de verificar se a mesma é absorvida pelos animais e qual a dose recomendada para cada espécie.

# 1.2.2. USO DOS RESÍDUOS AGROINDUSTRIAIS DA UVA NA

#### SUPLEMENTAÇÃO ANIMAL

Uma das atividades agrícolas desenvolvida em regiões do Brasil e a viticultura, com a maior produção destinada ao processamento da uva para produção de vinho (vinicultura). Atualmente, o Brasil ocupa o 17º lugar na produção de vinho no mundo (Embrapa, 2018). Em 2015 a produção brasileira mostrou crescimento comparado aos

anos anteriores, onde foram produzidas mais de 1.499.353 toneladas de uvas, das quais 1.025,475 produzidas na região Sul (Mello, 2015).

As uvas podem ser consumidas in natura, ou serem processadas para fabricação de geleias, sucos e vinho. De toda uva produzida em 2015, mais de 52% foi destinada a produção de produtos derivados (Mello, 2015). Alguns produtos podem utilizar a totalidade da fruta, como as geleias, no entanto, bebidas como o suco e o vinho, utilizam apenas a parte líquida da fruta, sendo produzidas quantidades significativas de resíduos.

A produção de vinho pode ser obtida através da moagem dos cachos de uva íntegros, ou apenas dos grãos, sendo que isso vai depender das tecnologias empregadas na produção. De modo geral, cerca de 3 a 7% do peso do cacho é composta pelos ramos que dão sustentação aos grãos; já após a moagem dos grãos, o bagaço composto pelas sementes e casca da uva equivalem a 15% do peso dos grãos (Cataluña, 1984), dessa forma a cada quilograma de uva processada, são produzidos em torno de 200 gramas de resíduos. A produção de vinhos produz grande quantia de material orgânico que são despejados no meio ambiente, sendo o bagaço o principal tipo de resíduo (Embrapa, 2018c). Os autores citam ainda que podem ser produzidos óleos utilizados em cosméticos, extratos ricos em compostos fenólicos ou fibras alimentares que trazem benefícios para a saúde.

A extração de fibras com potencial antioxidante do bagaço de uva é possível, sendo que esta pode ser utilizada como alimento, sendo uma forma que minimiza os impactos da produção desse resíduo ao meio ambiente (Costa et al., 2019). Estudos comparando farinha de uva e seu extrato líquido mostrou que a farinha pode ser indicada para aumentar teores de fibra na dieta, bem como, o extrato líquido servir como fonte de antioxidantes, visto que o mesmo foi adicionado a um produto que teve boa aceitação (Beres et al., 2019). Alimentos funcionais com propriedades antioxidantes como a uva e o vinho podem trazer benefícios a saúde humana, minimizando efeitos metabólicos e dos radicais livres, sendo que já existem estudos avaliando esses efeitos no sistema cardiovascular (Siochetta, 2018). Como os compostos bioativos estão presentes nos resíduos, a adição desses na dieta de animais de produção também podem trazer melhorias na saúde e consequentemente na produção.

Eleonora et al. (2014) adicionou diferentes doses de bagaço de uva na dieta de cordeiros e verificaram que níveis mais altos de inclusão do resíduo na dieta diminuiu o ganho de peso dos animais devido a diminuição da digestibilidade, uma consequência da grande quantidade de fibras, taninos e lignina. Estudos com adição de silagem de bagaço

de uva em diferentes níveis de inclusão na dieta de vacas observaram que a capacidade antioxidante do leite pode ser melhorada através do resíduo na dieta (Santos et al., 2014). Esses estudos apontam que o resíduo pode ser utilizado na alimentação animal, no entanto a quantidade de inclusão na dieta total deve ser melhor estudada. Os efeitos esperados pela utilização de resíduos da uva estão relacionados aos compostos bioativos, porem ainda existem poucos dados concretos; sabe-se que os polífenois auxiliam na função antioxidante, pois sua adição nas dietas melhora estabilidade oxidativa da carne dos animais, mas é difícil determinar níveis ideais de inclusão, devido a grande variação dos resíduos, além disso deve-se verificar a aceitação dos produtos com esses compostos; pois de acordo com a literatura seu uso pode afetar as características sensoriais dos produtos (Brenes et al., 2016).

Dentre os componentes com ação funcional da uva e derivados estão os compostos fenólicos, um deles o resveratrol (Sautter et al., 2005; Abe et al., 2007), produzido naturalmente pelas plantas como mecanismo de proteção a infecções fúngicas ou danos por radiação ultravioleta (Langcake e Pryce, 1976). Pesquisadores apontam que o resveratrol previne alterações vasculores e o envelhecimento (Delmas et al., 2005), em ratos com trombose induzida a adição de resveratrol na dieta reduziu em 30% o ateroma (Fukao et al., 2004); já Floreani et al. (2003) verificaram que o resveratrol na dieta de porquinhos da Índia promoveu ação cardiopretatora do coração, melhorando atividade da enzima catalase e redução a produção de radicais livres. Em macrófagos de ratos, o resveratrol minimizou a resposta a estímulos pró-inflamatórios, com redução da produção de óxido nítrico e prostaglandina E2 (Leiro et al., 2004). Em ratos com tumor hepático, o resveratrol teve efeitos antioxidantes, hipolipidêmico e tendencioso efeito anti-tumoral (Miura et al., 2003). Estudos recentes têm apontado efeitos benéficos do resveratrol em tratamento de doenças que afetam o sistema nervoso, como a infecção por Toxoplasma gondii (Bottari et al., 2018) e por Trypanosoma cruzi (Fracasso et al., 2019), visto que o mesmo melhorou a viabilidade das células nervosas, tendo um efeito neuroprotetor. Esses estudos colaboram com a ideia de que o resveratrol melhora a saúde, tendo efeitos antiinflamatórios e imunomoduladores, efeitos desejáveis para potencializar a produção animal.

Mattos et al. (2016) em revisão sobre potencial antimicrobiano e antioxidante de compostos fenólicos da vinificação, encontraram diversos estudos utilizando extratos oriundos da uva, como aditivos naturais na indústria de alimentos, a fim de evitar o crescimento microbiano e a oxidação lipídica. Compostos extraídos dos resíduos de uva

podem ter ação benéfica à saúde, além de serem utilizados como aditivos; para isso novos métodos para o beneficiamento desses produtos estão sendo estudados, de modo a aproveitar os compostos, diminuindo problemas ambientais e pensando em questões econômicas com a sua utilização (Beres et al., 2017). Os resíduos do processamento da uva e do vinho podem ser utilizados em diferentes finalidades, visto que possuem grande potencial antioxidante relacionado a propriedades benéficas a saúde, um potencial como volumoso pelo teor de fibras na alimentação de ruminantes, ou ainda servir como adubo orgânico.

#### 1.3. PARÂMETROS RESPOSTA DA SAÚDE ANIMAL

Para monitorar a saúde animal, ocorrência de doenças ou avaliar efeitos de produtos ou manejos empregados, podem ser utilizadas diferentes técnicas ou análises laboratoriais, como hemograma, dosagem de enzimas e hormônios. Essas análises são comumente utilizadas para avaliar a saúde dos animais (Campigoto et al., 2019; Sousa et al., 2019; Da Rosa et al., 2019). Em relação a variáveis mensuradas para verificar efeitos produtivos em ovinos, são comumente utilizados o ganho de peso diário, produção de leite, relação entre quantidade de alimentos consumido e ganho de peso ou produção de leite (Manso et a., 1998; Vignola et al., 2009; Santos et al., 2019), porém é importante avaliar parâmetros resposta para compreender os mecanismos envolvidos nas alterações verificadas.

O hemograma é utilizado para avaliar os principais componentes do sangue, principalmente leucócitos, eritrócitos e plaquetas (Failace e Fernandes, 2015). É através desse exame que se pode identificar 0 desenvolvimento de processos inflamatórios/infecciosos, anemia ou problemas imune dos animais. O hemograma é um exame comumente usado na rotina hospitalar humana e na clínica de pesquenos animais; porém em animais de produção esse exame é raramente usado no campo, apesar dos importantes dados fornecidos.

A função hepática e renal, assim como o metabolismo (lipídico, proteico e de carboidratos) pode ser avaliada facilmente no soro de animais, investigando variáveis respostas, como o colesterol, triglicerídeos, proteína total, albumina, ureia, glicose, entre outros. Isso é possível, pois existem parâmetros de referência conhecidos sobre essas variáveis nas diferentes espécies (Boyd, 1984). Em casos de onde há suspeita de doenças hepáticas, pode-se mensurar enzimas relacionadas à função e saúde desse órgão como a

alanina aminotransferase, aspartato aminotransferase, gama glutamil transferase referente ao fígado e substâncias como a creatinina e ureia relacionadas à função dos rins, por exemplo. Em estudos com aditivos, suplementos e produtos com ação farmacológica, essas variáveis são fundamentais para verificar os efeitos dos produtos sobre a função de órgãos alvo ou onde estes serão metabolizados, pois alguns níveis de inclusão ou doses utilizadas, podem ser tóxicas, ou causar danos aos órgãos, mesmo que não afete o comportamento e ingestão de alimentos nos animais a curto prazo, como o observado por Melchert et a. (2009) na utilização de Levamisol em gatos, onde os mesmos apresentaram sinais de intoxicação, já Baldissera et al. (2016) avaliaram os efeitos de um medicamento antiparasitário em ratos e verificaram que o produto afetava negativamente o sistema antioxidante dos animais.

Outras variáveis que podem ser mensuradas para avaliar a saúde dos animais são os níveis de antioxidantes e oxidantes, assim como danos provocados pelos radicais livres em células ou tecidos (Barbosa et al., 2010). Os antioxidantes são moléculas com potencial de doação de elétrons, essenciais para o funcionamento dos sistemas, visto que atuam combatendo as substâncias com ação oxidante no organismo, mantendo assim, a homeostase celular (Halliwell, 1990; Sies, 1997). Quando há um desequílibrio entre os níveis de antioxidantes, com aumento dos oxidantes, pode-se desenvolver estresse oxidativo (Rahal et al., 2014), o que pode comprometer a estrutura de membranas celulares, função de órgãos e tecidos, afetando negativamente a saúde e produção animal.

O sistema antioxidante é formado por duas vias; em uma delas, estão as enzimas presentes no organismo com ação antioxidante (superóxido dismutase, catalase, glutationa transferase, glutationa peroxidase, glutationa redutase) e na outra estão substâncias com ação antioxidantes que podem ser obtidas da alimentação, como tocoferóis, carotenoides (Sies, 1993; Sies, 1997). Diversos estudos sugerem que a adição de substâncias com características antioxidantes na alimentação humana trazem benefícios a saúde (Vannucchi et al., 1988; Moraes e Cola, 2006; Pereira e Cardoso, 2012) principalmente em longo prazo, visto que os oxidantes podem causar a morte celular e acelerar o envelhecimento (Hirata et al., 2004; Gava e Zanoni, 2005).

Atualmente estudos mostram que os antioxidantes melhoram o funcionamento celular e consequentemente melhoram a produção animal, isso porque reduzem reações oxidativas e radicais livres no organismo animal (Molosse et al., 2019; Reis et al., 2019; Cazarotto et al., 2019). Além disso, a adição de antioxidantes na dieta de animais aumentou os níveis de antioxidantes nos produtos, o que pode aumentar o tempo de

prateleira (Jaguezeski et a., 2018; Gali et. al., 2018; Migliorini et al., 2019; Fortuoso et. al., 2019).

#### **1.4. OBJETIVO**

#### **1.4.1. OBJETIVO GERAL**

A presente dissertação teve como objetivo avaliar variaveis relacionadas a saúde animal, desempenho produtivo e qualidade de leite de ovelhas Lacaune expostas a condições de estresse, isto é, animais em estresse térmico, com mastite ou em período de transição; assim como verificar se adicionando aditivos na dieta poderíamos minimizar os efeitos negativos causados pelos diferentes tipos de estresse.

#### **1.4.2. OBJETIVOS ESPECÍFICOS**

Quatro objetivos específicos foram planejados:

1. Avaliar os efeitos da mastite subclínica sobre o hemograma, bioquímica sérica, estatus antioxidante e oxidante, produção e composição do leite, além de identificar os agentes causadores da infecção e sua sensibilidade a antimicrobianos.

2. Avaliar se a suplementação de ovelhas leiteiras em estresse térmico com farinha de casca e semente de uva altera positivamente os parâmetros de produção e qualidade do leite, resposta imune e perfil oxidativo.

3. Avaliar os efeitos da inclusão de uma fonte de colina vegetal na dieta de ovelhas no período de transição sobre a produção, função hepática, qualidade do leite e saúde dos animais.

4. Verificar os efeitos da adição de uma fonte de colina vegetal na dieta de ovelhas no pico de lactação sobre a produção e qualidade do leite, função hepática, estatus antioxidante e saúde do animal.

# 2 - CAPÍTULO II

# **ARTIGOS e/ou MANUSCRITO**

Os resultados desta dissertação são apresentados na forma de 2 artigos e 2 manuscritos, com sua formatação de acordo com as orientações das revistas aos quais foram submetidos:

# 2.1 – ARTIGO I

# Subclinical mastitis in Lacaune sheep: causative agents, impacts on production, quality milk, oxidative profiles and treatment efficacy of ceftiofur

Davi Fernando Alba<sup>1</sup>, Gilneia da Rosa<sup>1</sup>, Dalana Hanauer<sup>2</sup>, Thalia Festa Saldanha<sup>3</sup>, Carine F. Souza<sup>4</sup>, Matheus D. Baldissera<sup>4</sup>, Daiane Silva dos Santos<sup>5</sup>, Ana Paula Piovezan<sup>6</sup>, Lilian Kolling Girardini<sup>6</sup>, Aleksandro Schafer da Silva<sup>5\*</sup>

De acordo com normas para publicação em:

Microbial Pathogenesis

Publicado, volume 137, pg.1-10, 2019

# Subclinical mastitis in Lacaune sheep: causative agents, impacts on production, quality milk, oxidative profiles and treatment efficacy of ceftiofur

Davi Fernando Alba<sup>1</sup>, Gilneia da Rosa<sup>1</sup>, Dalana Hanauer<sup>2</sup>, Thalia Festa Saldanha<sup>3</sup>, Carine F. Souza<sup>4</sup>, Matheus D. Baldissera<sup>4</sup>, Daiane Silva dos Santos<sup>5</sup>, Ana Paula Piovezan<sup>6</sup>, Lilian Kolling Girardini<sup>6</sup>, Aleksandro Schafer da Silva<sup>5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Graduate Program in Animal Science, Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina (UDESC), Chapecó, Brazil.

<sup>2</sup>Food Engineering, Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina (UDESC), Pinhalzinho, Brazil.

<sup>3</sup>Department of Animal Science, Universidade Federal da Fronteira Sul (UFFS), Realeza, Brazil.

<sup>4</sup>Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Universidade Federal de Santa Maria (UFSM), Brazil.

<sup>5</sup>Department of Animal Science, UDESC, Chapecó, Brazil.

<sup>6</sup>Department of Animal Science, Universidade do Oeste de Santa Catarina (Unoesc), Xanxere, Brazil.

\*Corresponding author: <u>aleksandro\_ss@yahoo.com.br</u>

#### Abstract

Mastitis is a major disease affecting dairy sheep. It is caused by microorganisms that generate inflammation of the mammary gland in response to tissue invasion. This syndrome affects the welfare of ewes, as well as the production and quality of the milk, thereby reducing its productive efficiency. Because mastitis causes inflammation process, it also increases the production of free radicals that cause lesions via lipoperoxidation, causing damage to proteins, cells and tissues. One way to minimize the impact of the disease is antimicrobial treatment. Nevertheless, the continuous use of antimicrobials contributes to microbial resistance, in addition to producing residues in the milk and derivatives if not given during the grace period. Therefore, the objective of this study was to evaluate the consequences of subclinical mastitis on ewe health, milk production, milk composition and quality. We also evaluated the susceptibility of the bacteria *in vitro* using disk diffusion antibiograms. Finally, we performed two-way testing of efficacy of treatment in Lacaune ewes using the same agents. In the first stage of the study, 30 lactating ewes (± 90 days) were used, 10 of which were negative on the CMT (California Mastitis Test) used as control group (CG) and 20 sheep with subclinical mastitis diagnosed by CMT (MG). Samples were collected and several analyses were performed on the milk and blood. We found that ewes in the MG had higher lipid peroxidation in serum and milk, as well as lower production, with reduction of the total dry extract in milk. There were 15 isolates of Staphylococcus hyicus, four isolates of each S. epidermidis and S. intermedius, and two isolates of Corynebacterium spp. The primary hematological result was leukocytosis in ewes with mastitis. Based on the antibiogram, we chose ceftiofur for in vivo tests. In this stage, we divided the sheep with subclinical mastitis into two subgroups of 10 ewes each, to receive drug by two routes: intramuscular (IM) and intramammary (IMM). In the IMM group, of the 10 CMT-positive ewes at the beginning of the experiment, seven were already negative by the racket test 120 hours after the last application (70% efficacy). In the IM group, of the 10 positive ewes, only four were negative after 120 hours of the final application, a low efficacy treatment (40%). We evaluated antimicrobial residues in the milk of treated animals. We found this material within 5 days after treatment in the two forms used; despite the fact that the product's stated withholding period is 3 days. We conclude that ewes with mastitis produce less milk of lower quality. We also conclude that, although ceftiofur is 100% effective in vitro, when used in ewes with mastitis, the efficacy did not exceed 70%, and was more efficient when administered via the intramammary route.

**Keywords:** oxidative stress, subclinical mastitis, milk sheep, antimicrobial resistance, *Staphylococcus* spp.

#### **1. Introduction**

According to the 2017 agricultural census, sheep flocks in Brazil included approximately 13,770,344 head, of which more than 20% were found in the southern region [1]. The total includes sheep destined for production of meat, wool and milk. In 2009, the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) observed that sheep's milk was the fourth most-produced type worldwide, accounting for 1.3% of total production [2]. Since then, sheep milk production has expanded, especially in Brazil [3]. Even so, the production and industrial processing of sheep milk remains small-scale in Brazil. Data collected directly from companies and websites suggest national output of 509,000 liters per year [4]. Milk yield is high, which is to say that milk solids levels are high, and Lacaune sheep produce more than 15% solids [5]; the same was observed by Blagitz et al. [6] in Santa Inês sheep; Selaive and Osório [7] point out that sheep milk can reach up to 18.5% solids. This property is important in cheese production. Nevertheless, the solids content of the milk may be affected by the feed supplied to the animals and udder health status.

One of the main problems encountered in sheep farming is mastitis, usually caused by microbiological agents that generate severe local inflammation, compromising the mammary gland and significantly reducing milk production [8]. The strong immune response in the affected ewes affects their welfare and increases the cost of production on account of the need for treatment and disposition [9], as well as mortality in more severe cases serious. Ewes with mastitis may have altered milk composition in terms of fat, protein, and somatic cell counts. This is detrimental to industrial processing, altering coagulation characteristics and cheese production [10], as well as sensory characteristics of the product.

Clinical mastitis is easily identified by changes in milk visible in the darkbottomed mug test. Subclinical mastitis is characterized by decreased production at the level of ownership and productive yield [11]. An easy way to identify subclinical mastitis is measurement of somatic cell counts (SCC), as well as the California Mastitis Test (CMT) [5].

Mastitis has great economic importance in dairy flocks [12 - 15]. These studies identified several etiologic agents in milk samples, and found that many of the bacteria

were resistant to drugs used on farms. Cortinhas et al. [16] used ceftiofur hydrochloride for intramammary treatment of clinical mastitis in cows and cured more than 70%. Similarly, Oliver et al. [17] used intramammary infusions to treat subclinical mastitis in cows, curing 65.8% with 8 days of treatment. Neto et al. [18] used ceftiofur hydrochloride to treat dry cows 30 days before delivery; nevertheless, antimicrobial residues were detected in 10% of the milk of animals during the first postpartum days. Cristina et al. [19] used ceftiofur intramuscularly in cows to evaluate the residue in milk, and found that it remained for at least 12 hours after application. Based on these data, we aimed to treat subclinical mastitis in sheep using ceftiofur intramuscularly and intramammary to evaluate the efficacy of the product used by two routes, as well as to measure its excretion in milk.

Although mastitis is a localized pathology, in clinical cases in ewes, it can have up to 40% mortality when left untreated, especially for mastitis caused by *Staphylococcus aureus* [8]. The same author found that inoculation of the pathogens in the mammary gland caused lost production and one ewe died due to the severity of the infection. In addition, the infectious process can produce metabolites from oxidative reactions and inflammation such as free radicals that circulate throughout the ewe's body, as well as depositing into cells and/or organs, thereby causing injury. In these infectious/inflammatory processes, there is a need for greater energy production, because phagocytosis, regulation of cell growth, intercellular signaling and synthesis of biological substances are important for containing the infection [20]. Excess free radicals cause cell damage by lipid peroxidation (LPO), resulting in oxidation of cell membranes, damaging proteins and DNA, and causing changes in cellular and tissue function, ultimately compromising animal health [21].

We designed the present study because of the importance of mastitis for the production of sheep milk, the lack of information regarding this disease in sheep, and because of the need for more effective treatment alternatives. Therefore, the objective of this study was to evaluate the consequences of subclinical mastitis on ewe health, milk production, milk composition and quality. We also evaluated, in vitro, the susceptibility of isolated pathogens using disc diffusion antibiograms, and later *in vivo* tests, to test the two-way efficacy of treatment for ewes using the same agent.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

The project was approved by the Ethics Committee on the Use of Animals (CEUA) of the State University of Santa Catarina, protocol number 8278020918. The experiment was carried out in a dairy sheep farm located in the municipality of Chapecó-SC. The study was divided into two stages, as described below.

#### 2.1. STAGE I

#### 2.1.1. Animals and installation

The farm where the experiment was carried out generates sheep milk for the production of derivatives, mainly cheeses, in addition to marketing animals for breeding and meat production. On this farm, antimicrobial therapy has not been used in dairy sheep to treat mastitis for at least five years; this is a requirement of the company that processes and industrializes milk. However, the percentage of ewes with mastitis in the flock was high, affecting approximately 20%, leading to a considerable volume of milk being discarded, thereby reducing the productive efficiency of the farm and resulting in premature ewe culling. In the experimental period, the shed contained approximately 120 Lacaune lactating ewes (approximate weight 70 kg), all in a confined system, of which 30 were selected during the lactation period of approximately 90 days. The ewes were divided into two groups: 20 mastitic ewes (MG), diagnosed using the California Mastitis Test (CMT) and 10 CMT mastitis-negative ewes, used as control group (CG). MG ewes had a mastitis history of more than 30 days and were already in a separate bay from the other productive ewes; however, they did not present with signs such as fever, loss of appetite, apathy, dyspnea or difficulty in locomotion. The ewes were housed in a covered shed, separated by group in two 24 m<sup>2</sup> bays, in wood-shaving covered floors and access to water ad libitum. The ewes received the same feed, divided twice a day (7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.), concentrate (17% crude protein), corn silage, and hay.

#### 2.1.2. Milk measurement

On day 0 of the experiment, the milking of the animals was mechanized and performed twice (06:00 and 17:00 hours). Individual milked volume was measured using a "Milk Meter" (True Test®, Auckland, New Zeland).
#### **2.1.3. Sample collection**

For culturing and antimicrobial susceptibility testing, on day 0, a milk sample of each ewe was collected in a sterile bottle, after cleaning the teat (papilla), disinfection with 70% alcohol and discarding the first three strips. Another 40 mL from each ewe were collected using WB HI/Pullout Tru-Test © equipment, which allowed collection of a milk sample from the complete milking of each ewe. Of the 40 mL, 2 mL were stored in microtubes for evaluation of antioxidant and antioxidant status biomarkers.

After morning milking, while the ewes were fasting, we manually collected blood samples from jugular vein using Vacutainer tubes. Approximately 4 mL of blood were placed in tubes containing EDTA (ethylenediamine tetra acetic acid) for erythrogram and leukogram; another 4 mL were placed in tubes without anticoagulant to obtain serum for biochemical analyzes and levels of oxidants and antioxidants.

#### 2.1.4. Milk analysis

# 2.1.4.1. Isolation and identification of microorganisms and antimicrobial susceptibility testing

Samples were cultured in blood agar supplemented with 5% defibrinated sheep blood, MacConkey Agar and Sabouraud Agar. The plates were incubated at 37 ° C for 24 to 72 h and the microorganisms were identified according to morphological characteristics as described by the National Mastitis Council [22] and Markey et al. [23].

Sensitivity profiles of the microorganisms were determined using the disc diffusion method in Müller Hinton Agar, as described by Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute [24]. We tested disks (LABORCLIN<sup>®</sup>) impregnated with the following antimicrobials: amoxicillin + clavulanic acid (10  $\mu$ g), ceftiofur (30  $\mu$ g), cefalexin (30  $\mu$ g), ciprofloxacin (5  $\mu$ g), enrofloxacin (5  $\mu$ g), streptomycin (10  $\mu$ g), gentamicin (10  $\mu$ g), marbofloxacin (5  $\mu$ g), neomycin (30  $\mu$ g), oxacillin (1  $\mu$ g), penicillin (10 IU), tetracycline (30  $\mu$ g) and trimethoprim + sulfamethoxazole (25  $\mu$ g). Plates were incubated in a bacteriological oven for 18–24 h at 37 °C. Subsequently, the halos were read and the sensitivity profile of the isolates was determined.

#### 2.1.4.2. Centesimal composition and somatic cell count (CCS) in milk

The centesimal composition of fat, protein, lactose and total dry extract was determined using an infrared analyzer (LactoStar Funke Gerber®) and SCC using a

digital counter (Ekomilk Scan Somatic Cell Analyzer®), field equipment used for SCC counting in cow's milk.

#### 2.1.4.3. Oxidant/antioxidant status analysis

Glutathione peroxidase (GPx) activity was measured using tert-butyl hydroperoxide as the substrate [25]. Enzyme activity was determined by monitoring the disappearance of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) at 340 nm in a medium containing potassium phosphate buffer (100 mM) + EDTA (1 mM), pH 7.7. Results were expressed as U GPx/mg protein. Superoxide dismutase activity (SOD) was determined according to the principle of auto-oxidation of pyrogallol, which is inhibited in the presence of SOD. The variation of optical density was determined kinetically for two minutes at 420 nm, at ten-second intervals, according to the methodology described by Beutler [26]. Activity was expressed as U SOD/mg protein.

Levels of lipid peroxidation (LPO) were measured using the methodology proposed by Monserrat et al. [27]. Results were expressed  $\mu$ mol CHP/mL milk. Nitric oxide levels were measured indirectly as nitrite/nitrate (NOx) levels according to the technique described by Tatsch et al. [28], where 50  $\mu$ L of sample were pipetted into a reaction cuvette with 50  $\mu$ L VCl<sub>3</sub>. Subsequently, 50  $\mu$ L of Griess reagent was added and incubated at 37°C. The readout was performed in 96-well microplates using a SpectraMax I3 (Molecular Devices) plate reader, wavelength 550 nm. The results were expressed as  $\mu$ mol/L. The levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in plasma were analyzed by the method described by Ali et al. [29]. The volume of 10  $\mu$ L of serum were incubated with 12  $\mu$ L of dichlorofluorescein per 1 mm at 37°C for 1 h in the dark. Fluorescence was determined using 488 nm for excitation and 520 nm for emission and the results are expressed as U DCF / mL.

Non-protein thiol (NPSH) levels were measured using the DTNB (5, 5'-dithiobis (2-nitrobenzoic acid); Sigma) method as described by Sedlak and Lindsay [30]. NPSH content in the samples was measured after deproteinization with trichloroacetic acid (TCA 50%). Absorbance readings (405 nm) were performed using a spectrofluorimeter (Biotek, Synergy HT).

#### **2.1.5. Blood analyses**

#### 2.1.5.1. Hemogram

Total erythrocyte and leukocyte counts as well as hemoglobin concentration was performed using a semi-automated cell counter (CELM model CC530). The differential leukocyte count was performed using blood smears stained by the method of Romanowsky [31] and visualized using light microscopy. The hematocrit was obtained using microhematocrit capillary tubes by centrifuging at 11,000 g for 5 minutes.

#### 2.1.5.2. Serum biochemistry

Tubes without anticoagulant were centrifuged (5100 g for 10 minutes) for serum separation. The supernatants were transferred to Eppendorf tubes stored at -20 °C until analysis. Levels of total proteins (TP), albumin, triglycerides, cholesterol and urea were measured using a semi-automatic analyzer (Bio-2000 BioPlus<sup>®</sup>) and commercial kits (Analisa<sup>®</sup>). Globulin levels were calculated as the difference between total protein and albumin.

#### 2.1.5.3. Oxidant and antioxidant status

The method for measuring serum LPO [27], ROS [29], NOx [28] and NPSH [30] levels, as well as the GPx [25] and SOD [26] activities were the same as for milk described in section 2.1.4.3.

#### 2.1.6 Udder conformation

Udders were evaluated according to the recommendations of Feitosa [32], where external inspection was performed. Udders were classified as normal when the two mammary glands were similar and were arranged in the anatomical position expected for the ovine species, and were considered abnormal when there was discrepancy between the glands, lesions or increased volume such that it would hinder milk production and milking. Udders were also evaluated for the presence (positive) or absence (negative) of masses/nodules by palpation after milking.

#### 2.2. STAGE II

#### 2.2.1. Experimental design

After microbial isolation and antimicrobial susceptibility testing in the first stage of this study, the second stage of the project was started. MG ewes were divided into two subgroups of 10 ewes, in order to form two homogenous groups, blocked based on the isolated pathogens. One subgroup (IM) received intramuscular treatment and the other subgroup (IMM) received intramammary treatment. Only one antimicrobial drug available in commercial formulation was chosen for both routes of application. Based on the susceptibility test of step 1 of this experiment, we chose ceftiofur, a 3<sup>rd</sup> generation cephalosporin, active against gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria, including those producing beta-lactamases, as follows: 5 grams of ceftiofur hydrochloride in 100 mL of vehicle) for intramuscular application; and Spectramast<sup>®</sup>LC (125 mg of ceftiofur hydrochloride in 10 mL of vehicle) for intramammary application.

In intramuscularly treated ewes, each ewe received 1.5 mL of ceftiofur once daily for three consecutive days (24-hour interval). The dose was calculated according to the manufacturer's recommendation for the product, which contains 1 mL for each 50 kg of body weight. In ewes with intramammary treatment, the commercially-available product for the treatment of mastitis in dairy cattle was used. Considering the difference between the size of the mammary gland and the milk production, the product was fractionated in four doses of 2.5 mL. The product (2.5 mL) was injected into the interior of each mammary gland through the teat canal, once daily after morning milking for three consecutive days (24-hour intervals).

#### **2.2.2. Sample collection**

On day 4 (24 hours after the last application) and on day 9 (5 days after the last application) individual milk samples were collected from each ewe (including 5 mL off the top of the harvested milk, representing the fat portion, totaling 10 mL), stored in sterile vials and sent for analysis of antimicrobial residues. On day 9, milk and blood samples from the ewes were also collected for analysis of milk composition and hemogram/biochemical variables, respectively.

#### 2.2.3. Treatment efficiency

Efficacy of the treatments was measured according the results of CMT and SCC on day 4 (24 hours after the last application) and on day 9 (120 hours after the last application) compared to day 0 (before antimicrobial application).

#### 2.2.4. Antimicrobial residue in milk

To verify the presence or absence of antimicrobial residues, we used the commercial kit Eclipse 50 – Cap-Lab®. The test measures inhibition of microbial growth, using a microtiter plate whose wells contain specific culture medium with *Geobacillus stearothermophilus* spores and an acid-base indicator. After the application of 50  $\mu$ L of milk, the plates were incubated at 65 °C and the spores germinate and multiply by acidifying the medium and resulting in the indicator changing from blue to yellow-green. If the milk sample contains an antimicrobial concentration higher than the detection limit of the test, the growth of the microorganism is inhibited such that there will be no acid production, nor consequent modification of the color of the medium. The threshold for detection of ceftiofur residues in parts per billion (PPB) was 100 µg/mL.

#### 2.2.5. Milk composition and SCC

The percentage of fat, lactose, protein and total solids, as well as SCC was evaluated according to methodology previously described in stage I.

#### 2.2.6. Hemogram and biochemical analysis

The hemogram and serum biochemistry levels were also evaluated according to methodology previously described in step I.

#### **2.3. Statistical analysis**

The data were subjected to normality testing (Shapiro-Wilk). Data that did not present normal distribution (LPO and SCC in milk; total leukocytes, lymphocytes, neutrophil, monocyte and eosinophil in blood; and LPO and GPx in serum) were transformed to logarithms to normalize them. Data were subsequently subjected to comparison of means using two-way ANOVA for comparisons between groups and analysis over time. Significance was considered when P <0.05. The statistical analyses were performed using R-language, v.3.1 (R Development Core Team 2012).

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Stage I

#### 3.1.1. Isolates and antimicrobials

Of the 30 samples collected (20 ewes from MG and 10 from CG), there was no growth and microbial isolation in five. In the remaining 25 milk samples, there was

growth of *Staphylococcus hyicus* (n = 15, corresponding to 60% of the isolated agents), *S. epidermidis* (n = 4, corresponding to 16% of the isolated agents), *S. intermedius* (n = 4, corresponding to 16% of the isolated agents) and *Corynebacterium* spp. (n = 2, corresponding to 8% of the isolated agents) (Table 1).

Most of the isolated microorganisms were sensitive to the 13 antimicrobials tested, as detailed in Table 1. Only three isolates of *S. hyicus* were resistant to oxacillin, one isolate of *S. intermedius* was resistant to streptomycin, marbofloxacin and oxacillin, and an *S. intermedius* isolate was resistant to tetracycline, just as a *S. hyicus* isolate was resistant to enrofloxacin and tetracycline.

#### **3.1.2. Production, composition and quality of milk**

Production (liters/ewe/day), protein content, fat and total solids were lower in the MG than in CG, except for lactose levels that were greater in the MG (Table 2). With respect to SCC, levels were significantly greater in the MG group (Table 2).

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and LPO levels, as well as GPx and SOD activities were also greater in the milk of the MG group. The NOx levels were lower in the MG group. Non-protein thiol (NPSH) levels were not significantly different between groups (Table 2).

#### 3.1.3. Hemogram

Numbers of erythrocytes, hematocrits, and hemoglobin levels did not significantly differ between groups (P > 0.05), whereas total leukocyte values were significantly higher in the MG group as a consequence of a significant increase in neutrophils and lymphocytes (P < 0.05). The numbers of monocytes and eosinophils were similar in both groups (P > 0.05) (Table 3).

#### 3.1.4. Serum biochemistries and oxidative profile

Urea levels were greater in the MG group than in the CG group (P < 0.05). The other biochemical variables (glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides, total protein and albumin) did not significantly differ between groups. Levels of LPO, NOx, and NPSH as well as SOD activity were greater in the MG than in the CG. Levels of ROS and GPx activity were not significantly different between groups (P > 0.05).

#### **3.1.5 Udder conformation**

Among the 20 ewes in the MG group, 10 (50%) had some alteration of the udder conformation (Figure 1). Of the 10 ewes in the CG group, only one (10%) had conformational alterations. With respect do masses/nodules, of the 20 ewes in the MG group, 7 (35%) had alterations. Of the 10 ewes in the CG group, one (10%) had nodules.

#### 3.2. Stage II

#### **3.2.1. Efficacy of treatment and clinical evolution**

Treatment efficacy is displayed in Table 4. At the beginning of the experiment, 10 ewes in the IM group were positive by the CMT. On day 4 (24 h after the final application) three ewes were had negative CMTs. On day 9, (5 days after the final application), four ewes were negative, with a low efficacy (40%). In the IMM group, of the 10 ewes that were positive on CMT on day 1, on day 4 (24 h after the final application), five ewes were negative on CMT. On day 9 after application, seven ewes were negative, giving an efficacy of 70% for the treatment.

#### 3.2.2. Residual antimicrobial in milk

The results of residual antimicrobial (ceftiofur) in milk are displayed in Table 4. In the IM group, residues were detected in two samples 24 hours after the last application and in two samples 120 hours after last application. For the IMM treatment, 24 hours after the last application residue was detected in all samples, 120 hours after the last application, only one sample had residue.

#### 3.2.3. Milk quality and composition

Milk composition did not significantly differ in terms of percentage of protein and fat between the IM and IMM and CG groups. Lactose was higher in the treated groups (IM and IMM) than in the control group. SCCs were similar in the treated groups (IM and IMM), but were significantly higher than those of the CG group.

#### 3.2.4. Hemogram and serum biochemistries

Blood count variables did not significantly differ between the treated groups (IM and IMM) and GC, except for the number of neutrophils, which was higher in both treated groups. There were no significant differences in terms of biochemical variables (glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides, total protein and albumin) between groups.

#### 4. Discussion

The most prevalent species of microorganism in this study were *Staphylococcus* spp., particularly *S. intermedius*, *S. hyicus* and *S. epidermidis*, corresponding to 92% of the bacterial growth. These species have been reported in the literature as the most prevalent and of greatest importance in the etiology of subclinical mastitis in ruminants ([33], [34], [35]). Drescher et al. [36] also observed that *Staphylococcus* spp. were commonly involved in cases of subclinical mastitis in sheep in the west of Santa Catarina, as observed in the present study.

Among the limitations of the study is that there is a paucity of products that treat mastitis in sheep, especially for intramammary application; instead, we needed to adapt treatments used in cattle that may have different levels of efficacy when the dose is extrapolated one species to another. The time of application of the antimicrobial was determined according to the recommendations for cattle, where the product (IMM) should be applied every 24 hours and can be used in treatments of 2 to 8 days, while the injectable product (IM) is recommended for use every 24 hours for three days. To standardize the application during the study, we used both products for three days. Another limitation was the quantification of SCC with field equipment made to measure cells in cow's milk; This is because equipment for sheep milk analysis is one or the other; furthermore, reference values have not yet been officially established in Brazil. One other important additional limitation is the lack of established antimicrobial resistance breakpoints for ewe mastitis pathogens.

Among the milk samples used for microbial isolation, bacterial growth was observed in six samples from the control group (60%), and the isolated microorganisms were the same ones that were present in milk samples from ewes with subclinical mastitis measured by the CMT test. According to Kulkarni and Kaliwal [37], these agents are part of the normal microbiota of the skin and udder. Several species of *Staphylococcus* are commonly found in the tear ducts and on the skin of domestic ruminants, whereupon they are introduced to the mammary gland via the act of suction performed by calves or lambs, without infection of the mammary parenchyma. It is important to emphasize that *Staphylococcus* spp. has opportunistic behavior in mammary gland infections, since mastitis caused by commensal organisms occurs when the immunity of the host is compromised or when hygienic sanitary conditions are not favorable.

It is also worth mentioning the isolation of *Corynebacterium* spp. in two samples. This microorganism is found in soil and water, and it acts as a secondary pathogen in subclinical mastitis, suggesting transmission at the time of milking, both from the hands of the milker, or from equipment and utensils that have not been not properly disinfected [38]. Mastitis related to this bacterial genus has also been attributed to excessive sucking by the lamb, or by the contact of the skin of the teat with contaminated pastures and beds post-milking [39].

Subclinical mastitis caused by *Corynebacterium* spp. occur rarely and are less worrying because they generally cause a considerable increase in SCCs, facilitating early diagnosis, as does infection by *Staphylococcus* spp. that causes significant losses in milk production by permanent destruction of cells of the glandular epithelium. Consequently, the injured tissue is replaced by fibrous tissue that acts as a form of protection against the invading organism, causing reduction in phagocytosis by neutrophils and the spread of infection via the bloodstream [40].

Corroborating the results of the present study, Bolsanello et al. [39], in a study on the etiology of mastitis in Bergamacia sheep, reported that 61.1% of the isolates were *Staphylococcus* spp. and only 11.2% were *Corynebacterium bovis*. Zafalon et al. [41] isolate *Corynebacterium spp*. in only 0.2%. Nevertheless, the literature considers this agent to be the one with the highest prevalence in the southeast and center-west regions, according to a national data survey performed by Acosta et al. [42]. Unlike *Staphylococcus aureus* infections, other staphylococcal infections, such as those found in this study, are more easily treated and eliminated. Nevertheless, knowledge of the antimicrobial susceptibility profile of the causative agents of this infection is important for treatment success [42].

In this study, the sensitivity profile of the isolated microorganisms did not show great variation. Most of the isolated agents were sensitive to all antimicrobials, a fact explained by the non-use of antibiotics on the farm where the study was carried out for at least five years. Nevertheless, some isolates were resistant to oxacillin, streptomycin, marbofloxacin, tetracycline and enrofloxacin. According to the literature, oxacillin-resistant microorganisms are more resistant to other antimicrobials, especially penicillin, cefepime and gentamicin, compared to other oxacillin-sensitive microorganisms [38]. It is important to perform antibiograms prior to the treatment of animals to increase efficacy and to prevent the spread of bacterial resistance; nevertheless, *in vitro* results are not always reproduced *in vivo*, as occurred in the second stage of this study. Acosta et al. [42] found that the main antimicrobial drugs with resistance problems were penicillin (80%), ampicillin (67%), amoxicillin (67.4%) and neomycin (80%) when tested against

microorganisms that cause mastitis in ruminants. In a study carried out in the west of Santa Catarina by Drescher et al. [36] there was a great variation in susceptibility of microorganisms isolated from sheep milk with subclinical mastitis, where novobiocin had the lowest percentage of sensitivity (10.46%), followed by erythromycin (16.29%), lincomycin (17.43%) and amoxicillin (19.77%). However, there is a great diversity of agents involved in cases of subclinical mastitis in sheep, as well as different levels of resistance between regions or even properties, as can be observed by correlating the results of the study with those already mentioned in the literature.

In Brazil today, commercial treatment of mastitis in sheep is usually the systemic route, because it is rare for companies to produce tubes specific for sheep on account of low demand. Santana et al. [43] noted that various antimicrobials have been recommended for intramammary mastitis therapy in sheep; however, these recommendations were based on cattle. The great diversity of organisms responsible for subclinical mastitis and the increasing resistance of these isolates to conventional antimicrobials highlight the need to organize therapeutic protocols with support in microbial sensitivity tests, because only some drugs are licensed and are available for use in small ruminants. Thus, sheep farmers use anti-mastitic agents and other drugs for other species, creating a high risk to the safety of these ewes, as well as to their effectiveness, because little is known about the great majority of the drugs in dairy sheep.

Ceftiofur was 100% effective in *in vitro* tests and, because it is found on the local market in two different routes of administration, it was chosen for this study. The efficacies of IM and IMM treatment were different, being greater for IMM (70%). This efficacy is nevertheless considered low; therefore, further studies should be developed to define the best dose as well as to produce commercially suitable delivery devices for ovine species. We recorded low efficacy for the IM route, one of the main routes used to control mastitis in sheep, probably to producers having difficulty finding proper tubes for sheep in the Brazilian market. The use of ceftiofur hydrochloride for the treatment of clinical mastitis in cows had an efficacy of more than 70% [16]. In a study with cows with subclinical mastitis, 65.8% were cured with intramammary application over 8 continuous days [17]; these efficacy values were similar to those in the present study, with intramammary ceftiofur over 3 consecutive days.

According to the manufacturer, the commercial product based on ceftiofur when applied by IMM has a withholding period of 72 hours for cows; that is, the minimum period that the milk of the animal should not be used. This same product was used for sheep and found that even after 120 hours of the last application, one animal (10%) tested positive for antibiotic residue in milk. This highlights the fact that commercial products produced for cattle and other species have different withholding periods. In the technical recommendations of the commercial product based on ceftiofur used in the IM application, there is no mention of withholding period for the use of cow's milk for human consumption. Nevertheless, in sheep's milk, ceftiofur residues were detected in 3 milk samples 120 hours after application.

The presence of antimicrobial residues in the milk represents a risk to the consumer, and is a serious problem for economic and public health [44]. The economic consequences relate to undesirable effects in the manufacture of dairy products [45]. Antimicrobial residues can influence the quality of the derivatives by inhibiting the fermentation of lactic acid bacteria in the production of yogurt, cheese and butter, causing serious damage to the dairy industry. Public health problems have been pointed out since the 1950s [46], when antimicrobial residues such as penicillin in milk sensitized non-allergic individuals, and caused allergic reactions in previously sensitized patients. In the 1990s, Costa [47] and Albuquerque et al. [48] reported the selection of resistant bacterial strains in the environment caused by the exaggerated use of antimicrobials in animals and in the human gastrointestinal tract after ingestion of antimicrobial residues present in food; therefore, countries have created policies to reduce food contamination by antimicrobials, including banning their use in animal feed. Brazil published decree 171 in December 2018 [49].

During the invasion of the mammary gland by the microorganisms, the number of the defense cells, primarily neutrophils, is increased in order to combat the infectious process, resulting in reduced production and changes in milk composition, concomitant with increased somatic cell counts [50]. This process was observed in the MG, where the ratio of SCC and neutrophils was higher than that of the CG, suggesting that infection with the isolated agents caused severe damage to the glandular tissue, even in subclinical infection. Coelho et al. [51] demonstrated that milk with high somatic cell counts results in alterations of the derivatives, where the cheese presented lower protein content, higher humidity and lower industrial yield, reducing the shelf life of the product. Rovai et al. [10] found that milk from sheep with mastitis also have higher SCC, lower coagulation capacity, and higher serum and protein losses during the coagulation process, where the final product (cheese) was softer and more elastic, probably due to the higher water content. In order to avoid further deterioration of the milk, Rovai et al. [10] recommended that milk from mastitis be processed faster, because the degradation of this milk is greater than the milk of healthy ewes.

Serum NOx levels were higher in sheep with mastitis, whereas in milk, these levels were lower. Although these ewes had chronic mastitis, NOx levels remained high in the blood, probably as a vigilant defense mechanism, keeping bacterial growth controlled, even though they caused only subclinical mastitis. The increase in nitric oxide is normal in acute conditions because of its role in the inflammatory processes, and its metabolism increases considerably in the context of greater flow of epithelial cells and macrophages in processes such as those. Jungi [52] points out that nitric oxide has antimicrobial action, since activated macrophages synthesize NO. We do not have an explanation for the observed difference in NOx levels in whey and milk; however, they may be due to low levels of nitrite/nitrate excretion in milk.

As previously mentioned, the number of neutrophils was higher in ewes with mastitis, a characteristic of the bacterial agents involved in the infection. Pinheiro-Junior et al. [53] in cases of acute mastitis caused by *Corynebacterium pseudotuberculosis*, reported a large release of common adrenocortical substances at the beginning of the infection, reflecting an increase of total leukocytes in infected animals; however, with the chronicity of the disease, the values tend to remain within physiological ranges for the cows [54], possibly explaining why difference was observed between the other variables in the current study.

Increased lipid peroxidation in serum and milk of GM ewes may reflect the inflammatory process caused by mastitis. Ebrahimi et al. [50], reported an increase of neutrophils in order to combat the infectious process. This increase in circulating leukocytes results in higher production of oxidants such as ROS, which also act to combat invasive microorganisms [55]. However, the exacerbated increase in the production of reactive oxygen species can cause lipoperoxidation of cell membranes, consequently causing cellular and tissue damage. It is important to note that high concentrations of ROS in many cells induce the expression of genes whose products exhibit antioxidant activity [56]. In healthy animals, there is constant redox signaling between ROS production and the elimination capacity of ROS. If the initial ROS increase is relatively small, the antioxidant response may be sufficient to compensate for the increase of ROS and to redefine the original long-term equilibrium. These mechanisms tend to maintain a stable state called redox homeostasis [56]. In cases of imbalance, e.g., bacterial infections, there is greater production of oxidizing compounds (excessive generation of free radicals

or to the detriment of their removal speed) and oxidative stress is established that inhibits tissue remodeling and healing of lesions caused by infectious agents [57].

The antioxidant enzymes SOD and GPx responded to the increase of oxidative reactions; in other words, their activities increased in MG ewes. This may be interpreted as a positive reaction of the organism to the inflammatory process, preventing the establishment of a framework of oxidative stress, because the antioxidant systems were activated, protecting cells against ROS [58]. Atakisi et al. [59] investigated total oxidation and antioxidant capacity in the milk of cows with subclinical mastitis, and found that concentrations of cellular oxidation biomarkers were higher in cows with the disease. These authors suggest that this alteration is a form of protection and reaction of the animal. Ellah [60] notes that mastitis affects the milk production of animals and decreases antioxidant defenses, noting that supplementation with vitamin E, C, beta-carotene and minerals helps in the recovery of animals. A recent study has shown that adding grape flour to sheep diets increases antioxidant levels in milk [61], so these natural additives may be an option in sheep farming.

#### **5.** Conclusion

Subclinical mastitis negatively affected udder conformation, production, composition and milk quality in Lacaune sheep. Although the sheep were clinically healthy, subclinical mastitis impaired their health, and they endured inflammatory processes that were intensely activated, reflecting higher energy expenditures as well as greater lipid peroxidation. Bacterial agents were present in the mammary gland of sheep, but did not cause clinical mastitis. The main isolated microbiological agents were those commonly described in ewes with mastitis. Low levels of antimicrobial resistance were detected in this study, possibly as a consequence of the absence of treatment with chemotherapeutic agents in ewes with mastitis. We also concluded that ceftiofur via both routes of administration had low efficacy; however, the intramammary route had 70% grater efficacy than that of the intramuscular route. Antimicrobial residue (ceftiofur) was found in the milk of some sheep within 120 hours after application, exceeding the manufacturer's recommended shelf life for cows. This finding suggests that it is important to use commercial products specific for sheep, in light of the fact that production of dairy sheep has increased in Brazil.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank FAPESC, CAPES, CNPq, UDESC (PROMOP grant) for financial support. We also thank *Cabanha Chapecó* that made the animals available and the facility for this study.

#### References

 [1] IBGE. Censo agropecuário 2017, dados preliminares. Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística. <u>https://censos.ibge.gov.br/agro/2017/resultados-censo-agro-2017.html</u>, 2017 (acessado em 11 de agosto 2018).

[2] FAO. Statistical Database. <u>http://faostat.fao.org /</u>, 2019 (acessado em 2 de fevereiro de 2019).

[3] A. Bianchi, Avaliação de sistemas produtivos de ovinos leiteiros em diferentes regiões do Brasil. Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia, área de concentração Zootecnia – Nutrição e Produção de Herbívoros e Forragicultura, Departamento de Zootecnia, Setor de Ciências Agrárias, Universidade Federal do Paraná. Curitiba, 2018, <u>https://acervodigital.ufpr.br/bitstream/handle/1884/59961/R%20-%20T%20-%20ANDERSON%20ELIAS%20BIANCHI.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>, (acessado em 10 de abril de 2019).

[4] J.E. Rohenkohl, F.F. Corrêa, D.F. Azambuja, F.R. Ferreira, O agronegócio de leite de ovinos e caprinos. Indicadores Econômicos FEE, 39 (2011) 2, 97-114.

[5] M. Brito, F.D. González, L. A. Ribeiro, R. Campos, L. Lacerda, P.R. BARBOSA, G. BERGMANN, Composição do sangue e do leite em ovinos leiteiros do sul do Brasil: variações na gestação e na lactação. Ciência Rural, 36 (2006) 3, 942-948.

[6] M.G. Blagitz, C.F. Batista, V. Gomes, F.N.S. Souza, A.M.M.P. Della Libera, Características físico-químicas e celularidade do leite de ovelhas santa inês em diferentes estágios de lactação. Ciência Animal Brasileira, 14 (2013) 4, 454-461. [7] A.B. Selaive, J.C.S. Osório, Produção de ovinos no Brasil, primeira ed., Roca, 2014.

[8] R.A. Santos, C.L. Mendonça, J.A. B. Afonso, L.C.V. Simâo, Aspectos clínicos e características do leite em ovelhas com mastite induzida experimentalmente com *Staphylococcus aureus*. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira, 27 (2007) 1, 6-12.

[9] F.R.B. Nogueira, B.B. Souza, M.G.X. Carvalho, F.G. Junior, A.V.M.S. Marques, R.F. Leite, Termografia infravermelha: uma ferramenta para auxiliar no diagnóstico e prognóstico de mastite em ovelha. Revista Brasileira de Medicina Veterinária, 35 (2013) 3, 289-297.

[10] M. Rovai, N. Rusek, G. Caja, J. Saldo, G. Leitner, Effect of subclinical intrammamay infection on milk quality in dairy sheep: I. Fresh-soft cheese produced from milk of uninfected and infected glands and from their blends. Small Ruminant Research, 125 (2015) 127–136.

[11] H. Langoni, A. Salina, G.C. Oliveira, N.B. Junqueira, B.D. Menozzi, S.F. Joaquim, Considerações sobre o tratamento das mastites. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira, 37 (2017)
1, 1261-1269.

[12] D. Bergonier, X. Berthelot, New advances in epizootiology and control of ewe mastitis. Livestock Production Science, 79 (2003) 1, 1–16.

[13] D.A. Coutinho, J.N. Costa, M.G. Ribeiro, J.A. Torres, Etiologia e sensibilidade antimicrobiana in vitro de bactérias isoladas de ovelhas da raça Santa Inês com mastite subclínica. Revista Brasileira de Saúde e Produção Animal, 7 (2006) 2, 139-151.

[14] N. Silva e Silva, J.A.S. Silveira, C.P. Pinheiro, M.G.S. Sousa, C.M.C. Oliveira, C.L. Mendonça, M.D. Duarte, J.D. Barbosa, Etiologia e perfil de sensibilidade de bactérias isoladas de ovelhas com mastite na região nordeste do estado do Pará. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira,30 (2010) 12, 1043-1048.

[15] R.M. Peixoto, R.A. Motta, M.M. Costa, Mastite em pequenos ruminantes no Brasil.Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira, 30 (2010) 9,754-762.

[16] C.S. Cortinhas, T. Tomazi, M.S.F. Zoni, E. Moro, M.V. Santos, Randomized clinical trial comparing ceftiofur hydrochloride with a positive control protocol for intramammary treatment of nonsevere clinical mastitis in dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 99 (2016) 7, 5619–5628.

[17] S.P. Oliver, B.E. Gillespie, S.J. headrick, H. Moorehead, P. Lunn, H.H. Dowlen,
W.M. Moseley, Efficacy of Extended Ceftiofur Intramammary Therapy for Treatment of
Subclinical Mastitis in Lactating Dairy Cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 87 (2004) 8,
2393–2400.

[18] A.E. Neto, F.G. Júnior, J.C.A. Santos, L.C.A. Silva, R.A.T. Matos, Evaluation of antibiotic residues in milk samples from cows after dry cow therapy. Arquivos do Instituto Biológico 82 (2015), 1-4.

[19] M. Cristina, R.T. Melo, E.P. Mendonça, L.R. Coelho, D.A. Rossi, Uso de ceftiofur em vacas leiteiras e sua excreção no leite. PUBVET, Londrina, 4 (2010) 33, 931-937.

[20] A.L.B.S. Barreiros, J.M. David, J.P. David, Estresse oxidativo: relação entre geração de espécies reativas e defesa do organismo. Química Nova, 29 (2006) 1, 113-123.

[21] C.D. Schneider, A.R. Oliveira, Radicais livres de oxigênio e exercício: mecanismos de formação e adaptação ao treinamento físico. Revista Brasileira de Medicina do Esporte, 10 (2004), 314-318.

[22] National Mastitis Council. Microbiological procedures for the diagnosis of bovine udder infection and determination of milk quality. (2004) quarta ed., NMC, Verona.

[23] B. Markey, F. Leonard, M. Archambault, A. Cullinane, D. Maguire, Clinical Veterinary Microbiology, segunda ed., Mosby Elsevier, London, 2013.

[24] Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Disk and Dilution Susceptibility Tests for Bacteria Isolated from Animals; Approved Standard, terceira ed., CLSI, Wayne, 2008.

[25] A. Wendel, Glutathione peroxidase. Methods in Enzymology, 77 (1981), 325-333.

[26] E. Beutler, Superoxide dismutase. Red Cell Metabolism. A Manual of Biochemical Methods. Grune & Stratton, Philadelphia, 1984, 83-85.

[27] J.M. Monserrat, L.A. Geracitano, G.L.L. Pinho, T.M. Vinagre, M. Faleiros, J.C. Alciati, A. Bianchini. Determination of Lipid Peroxides in Invertebrates Tissues Using the Fe(III) Xylenol Orange Complex Formation. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 45 (2003), 177–183.

[28] E. Tatsch, G.V. Bochi, R.S. Pereira, A simple and inexpensive automated technique for measurement of serum nitrite/nitrate. Clinical Biochemistry, 44 (2011), 348-350.

[29] S.F. Ali, C.P. Lebel, S.C. Bondy, Formação de espécies reativas de oxigênio como biomarcador da neurotoxicidade do metilmercúrio trimetilestanho. Neurotoxicologia, 13 (1992), 637-648.

[30] J. Sedlak, R.H. Lindsay, Estimation of Total Protein-Bound, and Nonprotein Sulfhydryl Groups in Tissue with Ellman's Reagent. Analytical Biochemistry, 25 (1968), 1192-1205.

[31] C.M. Keebler, T.M. Somrak, The Manual of cytotechnology. American Society of Clinical Pathologists. Chicago, ASCP Press, ©1993.

[32] F.L.F. Feitosa, Semiologia Veterinária: a arte do diagnóstico, segunda ed., São Paulo: Roca, 2008, 754.

[33] E.K. Saeki, E.C.T.M. Peixoto, L.S. Matsumoto, P.F. Marcusso, R.M. Monteiro, Mastite bovina por Staphylococcus aureus: sensibilidade às drogas antimicrobianas e ao extrato alcoólico de própolis. Acta Veterinaria Brasilica, 5 (2012), 284-290.

[34] F.S. Bandeira, T. Picoli, J.L. Zani, W.P. Silva, G. Fischer, Frequency of Staphylococcus aureus from bovine subclinical mastitis cases, in southern Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. Arquivos do Instituto Biológico, 80 (2013), 1-6.

[35] L. Castelani, A.F.S. Santos, M. Santos Miranda, L.F. Zafalon, C.R. Pozzi, J.R.P. Arcaro, Molecular Typing of mastitis-causing Staphylococcus aureus isolated from heifers and cows. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 14 (2013), 4326-4333.

[36] G. Drescher, S.P. Mattiello, R.M. Peixoto, A.C. Vargas, M.M. Costa, Caracterização bioquímica e perfil de sensibilidade aos antimicrobianos de agentes bacterianos isolados de mastite subclínica ovina na região oeste de Santa Catarina. Ciência Animal Brasileira, 11 (2010) 1, 1-4.

[37] A.G. Kulkarni, B. Kaliwal, Bovine mastitis: a review. International Journal of Recent Scientific Research, 4 (2013), 543-548.

[38] H. Jamali, B. Radmehr, S. Ismail, Short communication: Prevalence and antibiotic resistance of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from bovine clinical mastitis. Journal of Dairy Science, 97 (2014), 2226-2230.

[39] R.X. Bolsanello, M. Hartman, P.F. Domingues, A.S. Mello Júnior, L. Langoni, Etiologia da mastite em ovelhas Bergamácias submetidas à ordenha mecânica, criadas em propriedades de Botucatu, SP. Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia, 16 (2009), 221-227.

[40] H.W. Barkema, Y.H. Schukken, R.N. Zadoks, Invited Review: the role of cow, pathogen, and treatment regimen in the therapeutic success of bovine *Staphylococcus aureus* mastitis. Journal of Dairy Science, 89 (2006), 1877-1895.

55

[41] L.F. Zafalon, K.B. Martins, W.A.F. Dias, C.J. Veríssimo, S.N. Esteves, Etiologia infecciosa da mastite subclínica ovina em rebanhos destinados à produção de carne. Veterinária e Zootecnia, 17 (2010) 4, 568-576.

[42] A.C. Acosta, L.B.G. Silva, E.S. Medeiros, J.W. Pinheiro-Júnior, R.A. Mota, Mastites em ruminantes no Brasil. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira, 36 (2016) 7, 565-573.

[43] R.C.M. Santana, L.F. Zafalon, M.G. Ribeiro, S.N. Esteves, Mastite ovina: desafio para a ovinocultura de corte. EMBRAPA, São Carlos, 74 (2016), 1-7.

[44] G.G.F. Nascimento, V. Maestro, M.S.P. Campos, The occurrence of antibiotic residues in milk in commercial the occurrence of antibiotic residues in milk in comercial establishments in the city of Piracicaba, São Paulo, Brazilian Journal of Nutrition, 14 (2001) 2, 119-124.

[45] J. Božo1, S. Andel, Safety and fermentability of dairy products. Food Processing, Quality and Safety, 35 (2008) 2, 77-80.

[46] M.C. Zimmerman, Chronic Penicillin Urticaria from Dairy Products, Proved by Penicillinase Cures. A. M. A. Archives of Dermatology, 79 (1959) 1, 1-6.

[47] E.O. Costa, Resíduos de antibióticos no leite: um risco à saúde do consumidor.Higiene Alimentar,10 (1996) 44, 15-17.

[48] L.M.B. Albuquerque, V.M.M. Melo, S.C.S. Martins, Investigações sobre a presença de resíduos de antibióticos em leite comercializado em Fortaleza-CE-Brasil. Higene Alimentar, 10 (1996) 41, 29-32.

[49] MAPA. Portaria Nº 171, DE 13 de dezembro de 2018. Informa sobre a intensão de proibição de uso de antimicrobianos com a finalidade de aditivos melhoradores de desempenho de alimentos e abre prazo manifestação. Ministério da agricultura, pecuária e abastecimento. Diário oficial da união, 243 (2018), 23.

[50] A. Ebrahimi, F. Soleimani, A. Moatamedi, N. Shams, S. Lotfalian, Study on some characteristics of Staphylococci isolated from sheep sub clinical mastitis milk in Shahrekord, Iran. Biological Journal of Microorganism, 2 (2014) 8, 57-62.

[51] K.O. Coelho, A.J. Mesquita, P.F. Machado, M.E. Lage, P.M. Meyer, A.P.Reis, Efeito da contagem de células somáticas sobre o rendimento e a composição físicoquímica do queijo muçarela. Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia, 66 (2014) 4, 1260–1268.

[52] T.W. Jungi, Research from the Division of Immunology, production of nitric oxide, NO. by macrophages in ruminants. Schweizer Archiv für Tierheilkunde, 142 (2000), 215–217.

[53] J.W. Pinheiro Junior, A.A.F. Oliveira, F.S.F. Alves, L.B.G. Silva, S.S.S. Rabelo,R.A. Mota, Corynebacterium pseudotuberculosis experimental infection of goats mammary gland. Arquivos do Instituto Biológico, 73 (2006) 4, 395-400.

[54] M.A. ThralL, Hematologia e bioquímica clínica veterinária, primeira ed., Brasil: Editora Roca, 2007, 592.

[55] L.I. Filippin, R. Vercelino, N.P. Marroni, R.M. Xavier, Redox Influence on the Inflammatory Response in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Revista Brasileira de Reumatologia, 48 (2008) 1, 17-24.

[56] Droge, W. Free Radicals in the Physiological Control of Cell Function. Physiological Reviews, 82 (2002), 47–95.

[57] K.B.F. Barbosa, N.M.B. Costa, R.C.G. Alfenas, S.O. De Paula, V.P.R. Minim, J. Bressan, Oxidative stress: concept, implications and modulating factors. Revista de Nutrição, 23 (2010) 4, 629-643.

[58] W.R. García-Niño, J. Pedraza-Chaverrí, Protective effect of curcumin against heavy metals-induced liver damage. Food and chemical toxicology, 69 (2014), 182-201.

[59] O. Atakisi, H. Oral, E. Atakisi, O. Merhan, S.M. Pancarci, A. Ozcan, S. Marasli, B. Polat, A. Colak, S. Kaya, Subclinical mastitis causes alterations in nitric oxide, total oxidant and antioxidant capacity in cow milk. Research in Veterinary Science, 89 (2010) 1, 10-13.

[60] M.R.A. Ellah, Role of Free Radicals and Antioxidants in Mastitis. Journal of Advanced Veterinary Research, 3 (2013), 1-7.

[61] D.F. Alba, G. Campigotto, C.J. Cazarotto, D.S. Santos, R.R. Gebert, J.H. Reis, C.F. Souza, M.D. Baldissera, A.P. Kempka, E. Palmer, M. Vedovatto, A.S. Da Silva, Use of grape residue flour in lactating dairy sheep in heat stress: Effects on health, milk production and quality. Journal of Thermal Biology 82 (2019) 197-205.

Table 1: STAGE I: microorganisms isolated in the 30 dairy sheep; and results of sensitivity testing (S: sensitive; R: resistant) for various antibiotics: AM (amoxicillin + clavulanic acid - 10  $\mu$ g), CE (ceftiofur - 30  $\mu$ g), CA (cefalexin - 30  $\mu$ g), CI (ciprofloxacin - 5  $\mu$ g), EN (enrofloxacin - 5  $\mu$ g), ST (streptomycin - 10  $\mu$ g), GE (gentamicin -10  $\mu$ g), MA (marbofloxacin - 5  $\mu$ g), NE (neomycin - 30  $\mu$ g), OX (oxacillin - 1  $\mu$ g), PE (penicillin – 10 IU), TE (tetracycline - 30  $\mu$ g), TR (trimethoprim + sulfamethoxazole - 25  $\mu$ g).

-

Sheep <sup>1</sup>	Isolated agent	Antimicrobial													
		AM	CE	CA	CI	EN	ST	GE	MA	NE	ОХ	PE	TE	TR	
M1	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	R	S	S	S	
M2	Staphylococcus epidermidis	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M3	Staphylococcus intermedius	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M4 <sup>3</sup>	Corynebacterium sp.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
M5	Staphylococcus intermedius	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M6	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M7	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	R	S	S	S	
M8	Staphylococcus epidermidis	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M9	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M10	Staphylococcus intermedius	S	S	S	S	R	S	S	R	S	Ι	S	S	S	
M11	Staphylococcus intermedius	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	R	S	
M12 <sup>2</sup>		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
M13	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M14	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M15	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M16	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M17	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	R	S	S	S	S	S	R	S	
M18	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M19	Staphylococcus epidermidis	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
M20	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
C1	Staphylococcus hyicus		S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S

$C2^2$		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
C3	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S		S
C4	Corynebacterium sp.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
C5	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	R	S	S	S
C6	Staphylococcus hyicus	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
C7 <sup>2</sup>		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
C8 <sup>2</sup>		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
C9	Staphylococcus epidermidis	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
C10 <sup>2</sup>		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Note 1: Animals M1 to M20 belong to the group with mastitis and C1 to C10 to the control group. Note 2: No etiological agent was isolated (---), resistance test not performed (-).

Note 3: No antibiogram was performed for *Corynebacterium*, because the technique used is only for fast growing bacteria, as *Corynebacterium* has slow growth the result would not be reliable.

Variable	Mastitis	Control group (CG)	<b>P-values</b>
	group (MG)		
Production (L)	0.51 (0.2)	0.85 (0.2)	0.001*
Protein (%)	2.64 (0.9)	3.95 (0.4)	0.001*
Fat (%)	4.30 (0.9)	5.93 (0.9)	0.001*
Lactose (%)	4.93 (0.7)	3.90 (0.30)	0.046*
Total solids (%)	11.91 (0.8)	13.68 (1.0)	0.008*
$CCS (x10^3 \text{mL})$	3059 (1704)	503.1 (456)	0.014*
Oxidant/antioxidant status			
ROS (U/DCF mg protein)	0.27 (0.08)	0.20 (0.03)	0.001*
LPO (µmol CHP/mL milk)	164.3 (96.2)	42.2 (29.1)	0.001*
NOx (µmol/L)	65.4 (10.5)	81.2 (11.0)	0.023*
NPSH (SH/g of tissue)	0.80 (0.14)	0.81 (0.12)	0.956
SOD (U SOD/mg protein)	1.12 (0.41)	0.62 (0.32)	0.050*
GPx (U GPx/mg protein)	14.2 (5.4)	9.85 (2.3)	0.047*

Table 2. STAGE I - production, composition and milk quality of sheep diagnosed with subclinical mastitis compared to control (negative in the CMT test).

\*P <0.05 shows significant difference between groups.

Variable	Mastitis group	Control group	<b>P-values</b>
	( <b>MG</b> )	(CG)	
Hemogram			
Erythrocytes ( $x10^6 \mu L$ )	7.25 (1.53)	6.22 (1.68)	0.142
Hematocrit (%)	35.5 (3.78)	33.10 (5.8)	0.587
Hemoglobin (mg/dL)	10.7 (1.78)	10.0 (1.20)	0.624
Leukocytes (x $10^3 \mu$ L)	17.1 (5.8)	9.58 (1.9)	0.001*
Lymphocytes (x $10^3 \mu$ L)	6.36 (2,5)	3.38 (1,6)	0.001*
Neutrophils (x $10^3 \mu$ L)	10.02 (4.3)	5.68 (2.2)	0.001*
Monocytes ( $x10^3 \mu L$ )	0.72 (0.5)	0.50 (0.27)	0.534
Eosinophils (x $10^3 \mu$ L)	0.03 (0.1)	0.0 (0.0)	0.667
Serum biochemistries			
Glucose (mg/dL)	62.0 (7.2)	71.8 (9.4)	0.207
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	59.0 (11.3)	68.9 (7.4)	0.159
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	21.1 (5.4)	23.0 (4.9)	0.847
Total protein (g/dL)	8.25 (1.2)	8.0 (0.87)	0.924
Albumin (g/dL)	2.92 (0.4)	2.90 (0.40)	0.947
Globulin (g/dL)	5.35 (1.23)	5.12 (0.88)	0.854
Urea (mg/dL)	45.6 (8.3)	62.3 (11.3)	0.001*
Oxidant/antioxidant Status			
ROS (U/DCF mg protein)	1.71 (0.35)	1.44 (0.24)	0.081
LPO (µmol CHP/mL serum)	226.2 (134)	52.2 (25.5)	0.001*
NOx (µmol /L)	156.8 (17.0)	129.2 (19.0)	0.047*
NPSH (SH/g of tissue)	1.51 (0.22)	1.21 (0.10)	0.034*
SOD (U SOD/mg protein)	0.89 (0.35)	0.41 (0.23)	0.050*
GPx (U GPx/mg protein)	7.60 (4.2)	7.2 (5.2)	0.795

Table 3. STAGE I - Hemogram, serum biochemistry and status of antioxidants and oxidants in serum of sheep diagnosed with subclinical mastitis compared to control (negative California Mastitis Test).

\*P <0.05 showns significant difference between groups.

Table 4. STAGE I - Results (PO: positive; NE: negative) of the California Mastitis Test
(CMT) after intramuscular treatment (IM) or intramammary treatment (IMM) in sheep
compared to the control (CON), as a result of the presence (PR) or absence (AU) of
antimicrobial residues in sheep milk 24 and 120 h after final application.

Animal/group	Animal/group Organism		st (CMT)	Residual antibiotic in milk			
IM group		Day 4 (24 h post-last dose)	Day 9 (5 days post- last dose)	Day 4 (24 h post-last does)	Day 9 (5 days post- last dose)		
1	Staphylococcus hyicus	PO	NE	PR	PR		
2	Staphylococcus epidermidis	NE	РО	PR	PR		
3	Staphylococcus intermedius	РО	NE	AU	AU		
4	Corynebacterium sp.	NE	NE	AU	AU		
5	Staphylococcus intermedius	РО	РО	AU	AU		
6	Staphylococcus hyicus	РО	РО	AU	AU		
7	Staphylococcus hyicus	РО	РО	AU	AU		
8	Staphylococcus epidermidis	РО	РО	AU	AU		
9	Staphylococcus hyicus	NE	NE	PR	PR		
10	Staphylococcus hyicus	РО	PO	AU	AU		
Efficacy		30% (3/10)	40% (4/10)	-	-		

### IMM group

1	Staphylococcus intermedius	NE	РО	PR	AU
2	Staphylococcus intermedius	РО	РО	PR	AU
3		PO	NE	PR	AU
4	Staphylococcus hyicus	NE	NE	PR	AU

5	Staphylococcus hyicus	РО	РО	PR	PR
6	Staphylococcus hyicus	NE	NE	PR	AU
7	Staphylococcus hyicus	РО	NE	PR	AU
8	Staphylococcus hyicus	NE	NE	PR	AU
9	Staphylococcus hyicus	NE	NE	PR	AU
10	Staphylococcus epidermidis	РО	NE	PR	AU
Efficacy		50% (5/10)	70% (7/10)	-	-

CON

1	Staphylococcus hyicus	NE	NE	AU	AU
2		NE	NE	AU	AU
3	Staphylococcus hyicus	NE	NE	AU	AU
4	Corynebacterium sp.	NE	NE	AU	AU
5	Staphylococcus hyicus	NE	NE	AU	AU
6	Staphylococcus hyicus	NE	NE	AU	AU
7		NE	NE	AU	AU
8		NE	NE	AU	AU
9	Staphylococcus epidermidis	NE	NE	AU	AU
10		NE	NE	AU	AU

Note: Etiologic agent not isolated (---).

experiment, i.e., 9 days after starting treatment with chemotherapeutic agents.								
Variable	IM	IMM	CON	<b>P-values</b>				
Protein (%)	3.81 (0.3)	3.55 (0.6)	3.97 (0.20)	0.757				
Fat (%)	5.65 (1.2)	6.87 (1.6)	4.90 (1.5)	0.052				
Lactose (%)	$5.63 (0.5)^{a}$	$5.24(0.9)^{a}$	3.85 (0.2) <sup>b</sup>	0.001*				
Total solids (%)	14.79 (1.3) <sup>a</sup>	$16.0(1.9)^{a}$	12.72 (1.0) <sup>b</sup>	0.001*				
$CCS(x10^{3})$	2503 (1463) <sup>a</sup>	1729 (1154) <sup>a</sup>	229.3 (155.2) <sup>b</sup>	0.001*				

Table 5. STAGE II - Milk composition in the sheep of the three experimental groups (intramuscular -IM; intramammary -IMM; control group -CON) on the 9<sup>th</sup> day of experiment, i.e., 9 days after starting treatment with chemotherapeutic agents.

 $P \le 0.05$  shows difference between groups, identified by different letters (a, b) on the same line.

Variable	IM	IMM	CON	<b>P-values</b>
Hemogram				
Erythrocytes ( $x10^6 \mu L$ )	9.74 (1.4)	10.0 (1,2)	8.45 (1.2)	0.214
Hematocrit (%)	32.4 (3.1)	34.4 (4.8)	31.8 (3.2)	0.567
Hemoglobin (mg/dL)	9.68 (0.9)	10.3 (1.5)	9.91 (0.9)	0.814
Leukocytes (x $10^3 \mu$ L)	18.83 (9.1)	23.14 (13.0)	9.04 (6.3)	0.093
Lymphocytes ( $x10^3 \mu$ L)	8.89 (6.6)	8.40 (5.5)	4.48 (4.0)	0.310
Neutrophils ( $x10^3 \mu L$ )	9.30 (3.7) <sup>a</sup>	13.8 (8.7) <sup>a</sup>	3.89 (2.6) <sup>b</sup>	0.002*
Monocytes ( $x10^3 \mu L$ )	0.63 (0.6)	0.04 (0.1)	0.29 (0.3)	0.064
Eosinophils ( $x10^3 \mu L$ )	0.01 (0.09)	0.04 (0.1)	0.02 (0.07)	0.798
Serum biochemistries				
Glucose (mg/dL)	77.2 (16)	72.9 (14)	70.2 (8.2)	0.745
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	64.1 (24)	69.5 (19)	74.2 (11)	0.423
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	25.5 (12)	27.5 (7.8)	24.7 (8.8)	0.589
Total protein (g/dL)	8.15 (1.32)	8.73 (0.85)	7.68 (0.71)	0.235
Albumin (g/dL)	3.05 (0.42)	3.01 (0.44)	3.16 (0.47)	0.806
Globulin (g/dL)	5.10 (1.01)	5.72 (0.94)	4.52 (0.73)	0.114
Urea (mg/dL)	47.9 (8.9)	48.5 (14.1)	43.8 (7.6)	0.501

Table 6. STAGE II - Hemogram and serum biochemistry in the sheep of the three experimental groups (intramuscular -IM; intramammary -IMM; control group -CON) on the 9<sup>th</sup> day of the experiment, i.e., 9 days after starting chemotherapy.

\*P <0.05 shows difference between groups, identified by different letters (a, b) on the same line.



Figure 1. STAGE I - Udder conformation classification of Lacaune sheep diagnosed with subclinical mastitis compared with control (California Mastitis Test-negative). Udders with normal morphology (A and B) and abnormal morphology (C and D).

#### 2.2. ARTIGO II

## Use of grape residue flour in lactating dairy sheep in heat stress: effects on health, milk production and milk quality

Davi F. Alba<sup>a</sup>, Gabriela Campigotto<sup>a</sup>, Chrystian J. Cazarotto<sup>a</sup>, Daiane S. dos Santos<sup>b</sup>,

Roger R. Gebert<sup>b</sup>, João H. Reis<sup>b</sup>, Carine F. Souza<sup>c</sup>, Matheus D. Baldissera<sup>c</sup>, Amanda L.

Gindri<sup>d</sup>, Aniela P. Kempka<sup>e</sup>, Elizabeth A. Palmer<sup>f</sup>, Marcelo Vedovatto<sup>f</sup>, Aleksandro S. Da

Silva<sup>a,b,\*</sup>

De acordo com normas para publicação em: Journal of Thermal Biology Volume 82, pg. 197-205, 2019

## Use of grape residue flour in lactating dairy sheep in heat stress: effects on health, milk production and milk quality

Davi F. Alba<sup>a</sup>, Gabriela Campigotto<sup>a</sup>, Chrystian J. Cazarotto<sup>a</sup>, Daiane S. dos Santos<sup>b</sup>,

Roger R. Gebert<sup>b</sup>, João H. Reis<sup>b</sup>, Carine F. Souza<sup>c</sup>, Matheus D. Baldissera<sup>c</sup>, Amanda L.

Gindri<sup>d</sup>, Aniela P. Kempka<sup>e</sup>, Elizabeth A. Palmer<sup>f</sup>, Marcelo Vedovatto<sup>f</sup>, Aleksandro S. Da Silva<sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Graduate Program in Animal Science, Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina (UDESC), Chapecó, Brazil.

<sup>b</sup>Department of Animal Science, UDESC, Chapecó, Brazil.

<sup>c</sup>Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Universidade Federal de Santa Maria (UFSM), Brazil.

<sup>d</sup>PhD by the Graduate Program in Pharmaceutical Sciences, UFSM, Santa Maria, Brazil.

<sup>e</sup>Graduate Program in Food Engineering, UDESC, Pinhalzinho, Brazil.

<sup>f</sup>Range Cattle Research and Education Center, University of Florida, Ona, FL, USA.

Correspondence author: Rua Beloni Trombeta Zanin, 680E, Bairro Santo Antônio,

89.815-630, Chapecó, SC, Brazil. Fone: +55 49 2049 - 9560.

E-mail: <u>aleksandro\_ss@yahoo.com.br</u>

#### Abstract

The objective of this study was to evaluate the effects of grape residue flour (GRF) on antioxidant activities, biochemistry variables, components of the immune system and milk production and quality of Lacaune sheep in heat stress. Twenty-seven multiparous lactating sheep  $[50 \pm 1.8 \text{ days (d) milking}]$  were stratified by initial body weight, age, date of lambing and milk production and assigned randomly to 1 of 3 treatments (9 sheep/treatment): no GRF supplementation (control group) or supplementation at 1 % (10 g/kg GRF) or 2 % (20 g/kg GRF) of GRF (bark and seed) in the concentrate (grains and minerals mixture). Each ewe received 0.8 kg/d of concentrate, 3.6 kg/d of corn silage, and 0.25 kg/d of *Cynodon* spp hay. Milk production along with blood and milk samples were collected on d 1, 10 and 15. The 2% GRF sheep had increased serum concentrations of superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase activity on d 15 compared to control sheep. Over time (d 10 to 15), lipid peroxidation was reduced in 2% GRF sheep. Total serum antioxidant capacity was greater in 2% GRF sheep compared to control sheep on d 10 and 15. Superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase activity in milk samples were greater in 2% GRF sheep compared to control sheep. Supplementation with GRF did not affect milk production but GRF sheep were more efficient compared to control sheep. Protein and lactose concentrations were similar between treatments, but total solids and fat concentrations were greater in 2% GRF sheep compared to control sheep on d 15. Somatic cell count was reduced in GRF sheep compared to control sheep. In summary, supplementation with 2% GRF in dairy sheep in heat stress resulted in antioxidant and anti-inflammatory responses, which improved milk quality and reduced somatic cell count and lipid peroxidation.

Keywords: milk quality, lactation, oxidative stress, supplementation, additives.

#### **1. Introduction**

In dairy sheep, energy requirements increase with gestation, lambing, and lactation, which leads to an increase in cellular respiration and consequently free radical production and oxidative stress (Mutinati et al., 2013). This occurs due to an imbalance between production of free radicals or reactive metabolites (oxidants) and antioxidants. When antioxidants do not rapidly neutralize free radicals, it leads to the accumulation of oxidants in tissue and consequently damages biomolecules and organs (Durackova, 2009). This effect may be greater when the animal is under heat stress. According to the literature, exposure of sheep to elevated ambient temperature negatively affects biological functions which is reflected in the impairment of production and reproductive traits. Elevated ambient temperatures increase the dissipation of excess body heat in order to negate the excessive heat load. Further, heat stress causes a decrease in feed efficiency and utilization, causes a disturbance in water, protein, energy and mineral balances, and affects enzymatic reactions, hormonal secretions and blood metabolites (Marai et al., 2007).

To maintain the equilibrium between production and elimination of free radicals, the organism utilizes 3 methods of protection: 1) enzymes interfere with free radical formation, 2) antioxidants neutralize molecules with oxidizing action, and 3) repairing the system, by recognizing compromised molecules and removing them (Durackova, 1998). Glutathione peroxidase (GPx), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase are enzymes with antioxidant action (Durackova, 2009). Further, exogenous substances such as tocopherol (vitamin E) and flavonoids also exhibit antioxidant potential (Durackova, 2009; Silva, 2010).

Antioxidants compounds are capable of donating electrons and neutralizing free radicals, resulting in the prevention of cellular lesions (Saeidnia and Abdollahi, 2013).

Due to the numerous benefits, the search for natural antioxidants in food products, cosmetics and pharmaceuticals has been a primary objective in the last 20 years (Laguerre et al. 2007). Feeds with nutraceutical properties have been sought after by researchers, as recommended by nutritionists, due to their function in the prevention and treatment of disease (Moraes and Colla, 2006). Historically, antioxidants were added to food to avoid lipid peroxidation and rancidification during processing and storage (Salami et al., 2016). According to Salami et al. (2016), antioxidants present in the diet combat oxidative stress in livestock animals and in doing so improves health, welfare, nutritional and organoleptic quality, as well as shelf life of animal products. Resveratrol is a phenolic compound found in grapes (Abe et al., 2007) which possesses antioxidant, antimicrobial, and anti-inflammatory properties (Karami et al., 2018).

Previous research has shown that resveratrol plays a role in the prevention of apolipoprotein-B peroxidation and is associated with low-density lipoproteins (LDL), which ultimately restores glutathione in plasma and tissue (Sahin et al., 2010). Quercetin is a flavonoid found in grapes in the glycosylated form and exhibits antioxidant properties (Behling et al., 2004). Flavonoids are considered effective antioxidants due to their ability to scavenge free radicals and by chelating metal ions (Kandaswami and Middleton, 1994). Antioxidant properties are directly due to the hydroxyl radical ( $^{\circ}OH$ ) and the superoxide anion (O2<sup>-</sup>), both of which are highly reactive species involved in the initiation of lipid peroxidation (Behling et al., 2004).

The southern region of Brazil is known for its wine production, producing more than 500 tons of grapes in 2016 (IBGE, 2016). Increased wine production (and other grape derivatives) results in a large volume of waste which is currently not being utilized efficiently. Brenes et al. (2008) reported that the inclusion of grape residues in the diet has positive effects on the welfare of broilers and increased the amount of antioxidants present in the muscle. Similarly, Ebrahimzadeh et al. (2018) reported that the inclusion of grape residue in the diet of broiler chickens improved the immunological and antioxidant responses. In another recent study, Hamza and El-Shenawy (2017) supplied oral resveratrol to mice exposed to nicotine and observed reduced lipoperoxidation and increased antioxidant enzymes. In dairy cows, the inclusion of grape silage in the diet had positive effects on milk production due to the increase in antioxidant capacity in the group with the greatest addition of grape residue (Santos et al., 2014). Thus, our hypothesis is that inclusion of grape residue flour (GRF) in the diet, will lessen the negative effects associated with heat stress and ultimately improve the quality of milk and animal health.

The GRF is composed of catequin, epicatechin, quercetin, caempferol, and resveratrol; all of which are substances known to improve the antioxidant system (Abe et al., 2007). However, the biggest challenge with providing grape residue in animal feed is its rapid deterioration in natural form. Therefore, the grape residue will be processed into a flour which will then be added to the feed. Our hypothesis is that supplementation with this residue will minimize oxidative stress. Thus, the objective of this study was to evaluate the effects of grape residue flour on antioxidant activities, biochemistry variables, components of the immune system and milk production and quality of Lacaune sheep under heat stress.

#### 2. Material and Methods

#### 2.1. Grape residue flour (GRF)

The GRF used was purchased from a natural products company (Essencial<sup>®</sup>). Chemical composition was analyzed according to AOAC (2000): dry matter (DM), method 930.15; crude protein (CP), method 976.05; ethereal extract (EE), method 920.39
and ashes, method 942.05. The concentration of neutral detergent fiber (NDFom) and acid (ADFom) was done according to the methodology of Van Soest et al. (1991) without sodium sulfite and amylase.

#### 2.1.1. Resveratrol and quercetin content in GRF

One GRF sample (1 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) was analyzed by high performance liquid chromatography coupled with diode array and mass spectrometry detectors (HPLC-DAD-MS/MS) according to Vieira et al. (2001) with minor modifications. High performance liquid chromatography was determined by Shimadzu Prominence UFLC (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) equipped with an Auto-Sampler (SIL-20AHT), two Shimadzu LC-20ADT reciprocating pumps connected to the degasser DGU20A3R, integrator CBM20A, UV-VIS detector DAD SPD-M20A, and oven CTO-20A. The HPLC system was coupled to the compact quadrupole time-of-flight (Q-TOF) mass analyzer (Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany), which was controlled using Ot of Control Software. The parameters for analysis were set using negative ion modes with spectra acquired over a large range from 50 to 1200 m/z. Optimum values for ESI-MS were: capillary voltage of 4500V, drying gas temperature of 215°C, drying gas flow of 10.0 L/min, nebulising gas pressure of 5.0 Bar, collision RF of 150 Vpp, transfer time of 70 s, and a pre-pulse storage of 5 ls. Automatic MS/MS experiments were performed using nitrogen as collision gas and by adjusting the collision energy values as follows: m/z 100, 20 eV; m/z 500, 30 eV; and m/z 1000, 35 eV. The MS data were analyzed using Data Analysis 4.0 software (Bruker Daltonics, Bremen, Germany). Analyses were carried out within the C-18 column (4.6 mm x 250 mm, Merck, Germany) packed with 5 µm diameter particles and within the C-18 pre-column (RP 18 5µm, Merck, Germany). The first mobile phase (phase A) was two percent acetic acid at a pH of 4.2. The second mobile phase (phase B) used methanol, acetic acid, and distilled water at a ratio of 18:1:1, respectively. The gradient elution was 0 min: 20% of B, 0-25 min: 50% of B, 25 min: 20% of B, 30 min: 20% of B (end of run), at a flow rate of 0.8 ml/min. The peaks were identified by comparing the present results with the retention times and mass spectrums from the software library and external standards. The external standards included resveratrol, quercetin and rutin (all standards by Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) between 1.5 and 24  $\mu$ g/mL. Sample and standards were tested in triplicate and the results are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD).

# **2.1.2.** Determination of total phenolic compounds (TPC) and antioxidant activity by elimination of radicals by DPPH

For extraction, 0.5 g of GRF samples were dissolved in 50 ml of distilled water. The mixture was placed in an ultrasonic bath (70 W) for 3 hours and remained in the dark for 3 more hours. The supernatant was filtered with quantitative filter paper ('Whatman' # 40) and stored in a 100 mL volumetric flask wrapped in aluminum foil. After extraction, extracts were stored in Eppendorf tubes and maintained at – 80 °C until analysis (Larrauri et al., 1997; Bertoletti et al., 2018).

Quantification of TPC was performed by Folin-Ciocalteu colorimetric method modified by Bonoli et al. (2014). An aliquot of each diluted sample was mixed with 0.5 ml of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent and was stirred for 1 minute. Next, 2 ml of sodium carbonate (20 %) was added in the mixture and stirred for 30 s. After 2 h of incubation, the absorbance was read at 750 nm in relation to blank. The standard curve was prepared by solutions of gallic acid in methanol. The concentration of TPC was obtained using an equation derived from the standard curve of gallic acid (expressed in mg of gallic acid equivalent per g of dry sample; mg EGA/g). Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicates.

Evaluation of free radical scavenging activity in the extracts was determined by the antioxidant reduction capacity of DPPH radical according to Brand-Williams et al. (1995). Five dilutions of each extract were prepared in test tubes and 0.3 ml of each diluted extract was added to 2.7 ml of DPPH radical (40  $\mu$ g/ml). After incubation for 1 h in the dark, the absorbance was read at 515 nm relative to the blank prepared. Free radical scavenging activity was reported as the IC 50 ( $\mu$ g/mL), which is defined as the antioxidant concentration required to eliminate 50% of the DPPH present in the test solution. All tests were performed in triplicate and IC 50 values were reported as means ± SD of triplicates.

# 2.2. Animals and experimental design

The experiment was conducted at a commercial dairy sheep farm in Chapecó, Santa Catarina, Brazil. Twenty-seven multiparous lactating sheep  $[50 \pm 1.8 \text{ days} (d)$ milking] of the Lacaune breed, were stratified by body weight (70.6 ± 2.9 kg), age, date of lambing, and milk production and assigned randomly to 1 of 3 treatments (9 sheep/treatment): no GRF supplementation (control group; CON) or supply of 1 % (1% of GRF) or 2 % (2% of GRF) of GRF (bark and seed) in the concentrate (grains and minerals mixture). Each animal received 0.8 kg/d of concentrate, approximately 3.6 kg/d of corn silage and 0.25 kg/d of *Cynodon* spp hay divided into 2 daily feedings (07:00 h and 17:00 h; Table 1). In order to standardize feed intake, all sheep were fed individually, concentrate was offered first and after consumption (approx. 15 min) silage was offered. The sheep were housed in a covered feedlot with wood shavings on the floor and allocated to 3 pens (1 treatment/pen) located side by side. The experiment occurred over a15 day period with the first 10 days set as an adaptation period to the experimental diet, protocol similar to that described by Jaguezeski et al. (2018). Concentrate including GRF had less acceptance than control, but after 3 days of adaptation all sheep were consuming the total amount of concentrate offered.

The experiment was carried out in the south of Brazil, in a shed without air conditioning, with lateral openings. The experiment took place during the summer months and temperature was measured inside the building during the day. The minimum and maximum temperature recorded were 27 °C and 35 °C, respectively. The hottest temperature occurred around 1430 throughout the experimental period. The maximum and minimum temperature of each day during the experimental period are presented in supplementary Figure 1. These animals showed clinical signs of heat stress in the hottest times of the day, characterized by rapid breathing, intense salivation and open mouth, with exposure of the tongue of many animals.

#### 2.3. Feed analysis

#### 2.3.1. Chemical composition of concentrate, silage and hay

Feed samples were dried in a forced ventilation oven at 55 °C for 72 h, ground at 1 mm in a Willey mill, and analyzed for chemical composition: DM, CP, NDF, ADF and analyzed as described for GRF. It is important to note that  $\alpha$ -amylase was used in the analysis of both concentrate and silage diets (Van Soest et al. 1991).

#### 2.3.2. Total phenolic compounds (TPC) and antioxidant activity in the concentrate

The preparation and extraction of concentrate in the diet was the same as that used for GRF (section 2.1.2) and measurement of TFC and antioxidant activity (IC 50) followed the same methodology previously described for GRF analysis (section 2.1.2).

# 2.4. Milk measurement

Individual milk production was evaluated twice a day (0600 and 1700) on d 1, 10 and 15 using a meter (True Test<sup>®</sup>, Aukland, New Zeland) and daily milk production was obtained by determining the sum of both milking events. Productive efficiency (%) was calculated individually based on milk production on days 1, 10 and 15 of the experiment and the increase in milk production from day 1 to 10 and day 1 to 15 for each group. The difference in milk production was assigned a percentage which was then used in the statistical analysis for productive efficiency.

# 2.5. Blood and milk collection

One milk sample (40 mL) per animal was collected using the equipment WB HI/Pullout (Tru-Test<sup>®</sup>; which collects a homogeneous sample from each animal for the entire milking) on d 1, 10 and 15. Two mL of milk sample were transferred to microtubes and stored at -20 °C until further analysis of superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity, glutathione peroxidase (GPx) activity, total antioxidant capacity (ACAP), and lipid peroxidation (LPO) levels.

Blood samples were collected from the jugular vein in blood collection tubes without sodium heparin (for biochemical, oxidant and serum antioxidant analysis) and with EDTA (for haematological analysis) at 0700 before animals were fed. Immediately after collection blood samples were stored on ice. Blood samples without sodium heparin were centrifuged at 5100 g for 10 minutes. Serum was harvested and stored at -20 °C until further analysis. Blood samples containing EDTA were stored at 4°C and hematological analysis was performed within 2 h after collection.

#### 2.6. Milk analysis

### 2.6.1. Chemical composition

Concentration of fat, protein, lactose and total dry extract were determined using an infrared analyzer (LactoStar Funke Gerber<sup>®</sup>) and somatic cell count (SCC) was determined using a digital counter (Ekomilk Scan Somatic Cells Analyzer<sup>®</sup>).

#### 2.6.2 Analysis of oxidants and antioxidants

Glutathione peroxidase activity was determined according to Wendel (1981) and results were expressed as U GPx/mg of protein. Activity of SOD was determined according to Beutler (1984) and results were expressed as U SOD/mg of protein. The LPO concentrations were determined according to Monserrat et al. (2003) and results were presented as µmol CHP/ml of serum or milk. The ACAP concentrations were determined according to Amado et al. (2009) and results were presented as FU/mg of protein. Protein concentrations in serum were determined by the Coomassie blue method according to Read and Northcote (1981), using bovine serum albumin as a standard.

### 2.7. Blood analysis

# 2.7.1. Hematology

Erythrocyte, total leukocyte counts, and hemoglobin (Hb) content were measured using a semi-automated analyzer (Celm® 530). Hematocrit was obtained after capillary centrifugation (11.000 g for 5 min). Leukocyte differential counts were performed in blood smears stained with a commercial dye (Romanowsky method) and viewed with a light microscope at 1000x magnification (Feldman et al., 2000).

# 2.7.2. Serum biochemistry

Total protein (TP), albumin, urea, triglycerides and cholesterol were measured using a semi-automated analyzer (BioPlus 2000<sup>®</sup>) with commercial kits (Analisa<sup>®</sup>, Gold Analisa Diagnóstica, Belo Horizonte, Brazil). Globulin levels were obtained using the following formula: total protein – albumin.

# 2.7.3. Serum oxidant and antioxidant analysis

The methodology for analyses of LPO, ACAP, GPx and SOD were the same as described in milk analysis.

# 2.8. Feed intake

Feed intake was measured by weighing the amount of feed offered and orts on d 11 to 15.

#### 2.9. Statistical analysis

Data were submitted to a Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Majority of the data were not normally distributed and were log transformed. Subsequently, statistical analysis was performed using a bilateral, two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for independent samples followed by Tukey's post hoc analysis. Tukey's post hoc analysis compared treatment groups (T0, T1 and T2) and time (days 0 to 10; days 0 to 10; and days 10 to 15). Values were considered significant at  $P \le 0.05$ .

#### 3. Results

**3.1. Resveratrol, quercetin, total phenolic compounds (TPC) and antioxidant activity in GRF** 

Resveratrol and quercetin concentrations were  $52.8 \pm 9.4$  and  $23.4 \pm 3.64$  mg/g, respectively. The TPC concentrations were  $87.4 \pm 0.27$  mg EAG/g and antioxidant activity against radical DPPH (IC 50) was  $111.6 \pm 3.45 \mu$ g/mL.

#### 3.2. Total phenolic compounds (TPC) and antioxidant activity in diets

The TPC concentration increased with increasing GRF in the diet (Table 2). Similarly, the antioxidant activity (IC50) was greater in the 2% GRF compared to the 1% GRF diet (Table 2).

#### **3.3.** Milk production and composition

Milk production (L/sheep/day) did not differ (P > 0.05) between treatments throughout the study (Table 3). However, sheep in the GRF groups were more efficient (P  $\leq 0.05$ ) compared to sheep in the CON group (d 1 to 10, and d 1 to 15; Table 3). Protein and lactose concentrations were not different (P > 0.05) between groups, but sheep in the 2% GRF group had greater (P  $\leq 0.05$ ; Table 3) lactose concentrations on d 15 compared to d 1. Fat and total solids concentrations were greater (P  $\leq 0.05$ ) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON group on d 15 (Table 3). The SCC was decreased (P  $\leq 0.05$ ) in sheep on the GRF diets compared to the CON on d 15 (Table 3). Over time (d 1 to 15), milk production increased (P  $\leq 0.05$ ) in all treatments as indicated by different letter superscripts between days in Table 3.

#### 3.4. Milk antioxidants and oxidants

Lipid peroxidation concentrations were reduced (P  $\leq$  0.05) in 1% GRF and 2% GRF groups compared to CON on d 10 and 15 (Figure 1A). Over time (d 10 to 15), LPO was reduced (P  $\leq$  0.05) in the 2% GRF group. Total antioxidant capacity was greater (P  $\leq$ 

0.05) in the 1% GRF and 2% GRF groups compared to CON on d 10 and 15 (Figure 1B). Activity of SOD was increased ( $P \le 0.05$ ) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON on d 10 and 15 but there was no difference between the 1% and 2% GRF groups (Figure 1C). Activity of GPx was greater ( $P \le 0.05$ ) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON on d 15 (Figure 1D). Total antioxidant capacity, SOD, and GPx activity increased from d 1 to 15 in the 2% GRF group.

#### 3.5. Hematology

Hemoglobin, hematocrit and erythrocytes did not differ (P  $\leq$  0.05) between treatment or time (Table 4). Total leukocyte concentrations were decreased (P  $\leq$  0.05) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON on d 10 and the 1% GRF and 2% GRF groups were decreased (P  $\leq$  0.05) compared to CON on d 15 (Table 4). Lymphocyte and neutrophil concentrations (P  $\leq$  0.05) were decreased in the 1% GRF and 2% GRF groups compared to CON on d 15 (Table 4). No differences were detected for the main effects of treatment and time (P > 0.05) for monocyte and eosinophil concentrations (Table 4). From d 1 to 15, total leukocyte counts were decreased (P  $\leq$  0.05) in the 2% GRF group. Similarly, lymphocyte counts were also decreased (P  $\leq$  0.05) in both the 1% and 2% GRF groups from d 1 to 15.

#### **3.6. Serum biochemistry**

Glucose concentrations were greater ( $P \le 0.05$ ) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON. Glucose concentrations differed from d 1 to 15 for all groups (Table 5). Cholesterol concentrations did not differ (P > 0.05) between groups or over time (Table 5). Triglycerides concentrations were greater ( $P \le 0.05$ ) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON on d 10 and 15 and concentrations increased over time (d 1 to 15) in 2% GRF group (Table 5). Total protein and globulin concentrations were decreased ( $P \le 0.05$ ) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON on d 15. Total protein and globulin concentrations were reduced ( $P \le 0.05$ ) in the 2% GRF group from d 1 to 15 (Table 5). Albumin concentrations did not differ (P > 0.05) between groups, but oscillated ( $P \le 0.05$ ) in the 1% GRF and the 2% GRF groups (Table 5). Urea concentrations were decreased ( $P \le$ 0.05) in the 2% GRF group compared to 1% GRF and CON on d 15. Over time urea concentrations increased ( $P \le 0.05$ ) in CON and 1% GRF groups (Table 5).

# 3.7. Serum antioxidants and oxidants

Lipid peroxidation was reduced (P  $\leq$  0.05) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON, and from d 10 to 15LPO was reduced (P  $\leq$  0.05) in the 2% GRF group (Figure 2A). Total antioxidant capacity was greater (P  $\leq$  0.05) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON on d 10 and 15, and from d 1 to 15 ACAP increased in the 1% GRF group (Figure 2B). Superoxide dismutase activity was greater (P  $\leq$  0.05) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON on d 15, and increased (P  $\leq$  0.05) from d 1 to 10 and d 1 to 15 in the 1% GRF group (Figure 2C). Activity of GPx was increased (P  $\leq$  0.05) in the 2% GRF group compared to CON on d 10 and 15, and increased (P  $\leq$  0.05) from d 1 to 10 and d 1 to 15 in the 1% GRF group (Figure 2C). Activity of GPx was increased (P  $\leq$  0.05) from d 1 to 10 and d 1 to 15 in the 1% GRF group compared to

#### 3.8 Feed intake

Feed intake was not different ( $P \le 0.05$ ) between treatments. Sheep in all three groups consumed more than 95% of the diet provided daily and all concentrate was consumed.

# 4. Discussion

The increase in TPC and antioxidant activity in the diet with inclusion of GRF explains the elevated antioxidant response in the serum of sheep. Antioxidant activity (IC50) was not detected for the CON diet, suggesting that no chemical reactions were occurring that depend on antioxidants. Increased serum concentrations further support the increase in antioxidant capacity in the milk which has previously been observed in cows supplemented with grape residue silage (Santos et al., 2014). This effect is related to antioxidants, such as quercetin, resveratrol and phenols, that possess strong antioxidant capacity. According to Brower (1998), grape residues have nutraceutical actions when added to the diet because they possess medicinal compounds with beneficial health actions. In this study the inclusion of GRF in the diet minimized the oxidative stress in dairy sheep during heat stress.

Supplementation with GRF did not affect milk production (L), as observed by Santos et al. (2014) who provided grape residue silage for dairy cows. However, this study improved the productive efficiency of the sheep supplemented with GRF. As far as we know, this is the first study to show these effects of grape flour residue on efficiency and milk yield in dairy sheep. In the current study, the increase in productive efficiency with the inclusion of GRF in the diet may be a result of greater control of oxidative stress. Thus, improving the efficiency of nutrient utilization and increasing milk production numerically. Another hypothesis is that the increase in productive efficiency in sheep supplemented with GRF is due to the greater concentration of phenolic compounds and resveratrol which can positively influence immune function (Zunino and Storms, 2009; Cuevas et al., 2013), particularly in sheep with greater genetic potential for milk production. In the current study, inclusion of GRF in diet (2% GRF) increased milk fat content. These findings disagree with previous results observed in dairy cows fed grape residue silage (Santos et al., 2014). This positive effect is believed to be related to an improvement in mammary gland function by reducing oxidative stress and decreasing amounts of free radicals (Celi 2010). Total antioxidant capacity in milk was greater in sheep supplemented with GRF, which has been supported by previous results in dairy cows (Santos et al., 2014). Furthermore, Sanchez-Alonso (2007) reported that grape residues were able to reduce the oxidation of stored fish meat and showed that oxidation was reduced in the first 90 days when compared to the control group. Therefore, improving the antioxidant activity in the milk of dairy sheep could lead to a reduction in lipid peroxidation. This reduction could potentially increase the shelf life of products such as milk, cheese, and yogurt when animals consume grape residues in the diet. However, shelf life was not evaluated in this study but will be an important variable in future studies performed in this laboratory

It is important to point out the reduction on SCC in milk samples from 2% GRF sheep. It is well understood that SCC includes cells of sanguine origin (leukocytes) and desquamation of the secretory glandular epithelium (Jorge et al., 2005) A reduction in SCC is linked to the systemic anti-inflammatory capacity caused by the components present in the GRF. This anti-inflammatory effect was confirmed by a reduction in the number of lymphocyte and globulin concentrations. These results are similar to those reported in dairy sheep fed a diet supplemented with curcumin (Jaguezeski et al., 2018). While there was a reduction in the number of leukocytes, values remained within the normal range for adult sheep throughout the 15-day study. However, it important to emphasize the need for future studies in order to evaluate the long-term impacts on the immune system, especially in animals suffering from heat stress.

Lactation is a critical period in sheep and cows because they suffer from greater oxidative stress. According to Barbosa et al. (2008), some nutrients (vitamins A, B, C, as well as resveratrol, quercetin, etc.) are beneficial to an animal's health by reducing the degree of oxidative stress. In this regard, addition of GRF for lactating sheep resulted in an increase in total antioxidant capacity which is linked to an upregulation in the enzymes involved in the antioxidant system, including, SOD and GPx. Similarly, addition of grape residues in broiler chicken feed increased the antioxidant levels in the muscle at the same proportion as animals supplemented with vitamin E (Brenes et al., 2008). Suggesting that grape residues can be considered a probable substitute for vitamins currently supplied in feed. The decrease in LPO and increase in SOD enzyme activity in sheep receiving 2% GRF are similar to the results found by Megahed et al. (2008), where the application of vitamin E and selenium (substances with antioxidant action) resulted in a decrease in LPO and nitric oxide concentration and an increase in SOD enzyme activity, which resulted in a reduction of oxidative stress in buffaloes under heat stress.

According to Kang et al. (2005), the presence of oxidative stress signals stimulates Nrf-2 activity, which then stimulates the expression of genes that results in the production of antioxidant enzymes, such as GPx. The increase in GPx activity was more pronounced in animals supplemented with 2 % GRF. Similarly, Janiques et al. (2014) observed an increase on GPx activity in humans supplemented with grape residues. These findings could be explained by the presence of polyphenols in grape residues., Polyphenolic compounds stimulate the activity of Nrf-2 and upregulate the expression of antioxidant genes (Guanin et al., 2011). Thus, the increase in SOD and GPx activity can be related to the stimulation on Nrf-2.

Another factor that may influence the imbalance between antioxidants and oxidants is heat. Sheep undergoing heat stress have an increased respiration rate (Filho et

al., 2011), which was also observed in the current study. Increased respiration rates were observed in the afternoon, when sheep also exhibited decreased physical and alimentary activity, which according to McDowell (1989), can impair food intake and the rumination process, reducing performance and animal production. Variation in seasonal temperatures alters the concentrations of hormones and oxidative markers in buffaloes (Megahed et al., 2008). Authors found that the concentration of estradiol and the enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD) was decreased in the summer compared to winter while LPO and nitric oxide (ON) were significantly higher in the summer compared to the winter Filho et al. (2011), observed that Santa Inês lambs were in greater thermal comfort at temperatures between 10°C and 25°C, reinforcing that sheep were under heat stress during the current experiment, where the maximum temperatures recorded were 27°C to 35°C, respectively. Even with the effect of temperature, the 2% GRF group had an increase in total antioxidant capacity in both serum and milk, which is beneficial for the animals.

In this study, serum levels of urea and glucose were reduced while serum triglyceride concentrations were greater in animals supplemented with 2 % GRF. However, when dairy cows were supplemented with grape residue silage, these variables were not altered (Santos et al., 2014). In the current study, digestibility was not evaluated but the study conducted by Santos et al. (2014) revealed that grape residue provided in the diet of dairy cows led to a decrease in the content of nutrients, dry matter, crude protein, ethereal extract and fibers. Similar results were observed in sheep fed a dehydrated wine residue which consisted of different energy sources (Barroso et al., 2006). It is believed that a reduction in digestibility can be related to lower serum levels of glucose and urea and potentially reducing protein and carbohydrate metabolism. The increase in triglycerides could be a consequence of increased amounts of ethereal extract in the 2% GRF diet.

# 5. Conclusion

Addition of grape residue flour in the diet of dairy sheep increased the levels of total phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity in the concentrate. Increased antioxidants in the diet stimulated the antioxidant response in the sheep in heat stress and reduced oxidative stress. Furthermore, there was an increase in antioxidant capacity in milk which was associated with lower lipid peroxidation. Also, supplementation with 2% grape residue flour improved sheep health and productive efficiency. We concluded that grape residue flour supplementation generates an anti-inflammatory response which has a positive effect on milk quality because it reduces somatic cell count in milk samples. Thus, grape residue supplementation improves health, milk performance and milk quality.

# **Ethical note**

The study was approved by the Committee of Ethics in the Use of Animals of the State University of Santa Catarina (CEUA / UDESC) under number 5184250218.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

# Acknowledgements

We thank CAPES, CNPq, UDESC (PROMOP grant) for financial support. We also thank *Cabanha Chapecó* that made the animals available and the facility for this study.

#### REFERENCES

Abe, L., Mota, R.V., Lajolo, F.M., Genovese, M.I., 2007. Phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity of Vitis labrusca and *Vitis vinifera* cultivars. Ciênc. Tecnol. Aliment. 27, 394-400.

Alagawany, M.M., Farag, M.R., Dhama, K.D., Abd El-Hack, M.E., Tiwari, R., Alam, G.M., 2015. Mechanisms and beneficial applications of resveratrol as feed additive in animal and poultry nutrition: a review. Int. J. Pharmacol. 11, 213-221.

Amado, L.L., Garcia, M.L., Ramos, P.B., Freitas, R.F., Zafalon, B., Ferreira, J.L.R., Yunes, J.S., Monserrat, J.M., 2009. A method to measure total antioxidant capacity against peroxyl radicals in aquatic organisms: Application to evaluate microcystins toxicity. Sci. Total Environ. 407, 2115–2123.

AOAC, 2000. Association of Official Analytical Chemistry. Official Methods of Analysis, 17 ed., Virginia, USA.

Bannister, J.V., Calabrese, L., 1987. Methods of Biochemical Analysis. Wiley-Interscience 32, 279.

Barbosa, K.B.F., Bressan, J., Zulet, M.A., Martínez. J.A., 2008. Influence of dietary intake on plasma biomarkers of oxidative stress in humans. An. Sist. Sanit. Navar. 31, 259-280.

Barłowska, J., M. Szwajkowska, M., Litwińczuk, K., J. Królet, J., 2011. Nutritional Value and Technological Suitabilityof Milk from Various Animal Species Used for Dairy Production. Compr. Rev. Food Sci. F. 10, 291-302.

Barroso, D.D., Araújo, G.G.L., Silva, D.S., Medina, F.T., 2006. Resíduo desidratado de vitivinícolas associado a diferentes fontes energéticas na alimentação de ovinos: consumo e digestibilidade aparente. Ciênc. Agrotec. 30, 767-773.

Behling, E.B., Sendão, M.C., Francescato, C.H.D., Antunes, L.M.M., Bianchi, M.L.P.,2004. Flavonóide quercetina: aspectos gerais e ações biológicas. Alim. e Nutr. 15, 285-292.

Bertoletti, L.L., Skoronski, E., Schittler, L., Kempka, A.P., 2018. Extracts of Leaves of Ficus auriculata Lour.: antioxidant, antimicrobial and phytotoxic activity. Agric. Conspec. Sci. 83, 321-328.

Beutler, E., 1984. Superoxide dismutase. In: Beutler E (Editor), Red Cell Metabolism. A Manual of Biochemical Methods. Grune & Stratton, Philadelphia, PA, 83-85.

Bonoli, M., Verardo, V., Marconi, E., Caboni, M.F., 2004. Antioxidant phenols in barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) flour: Comparative spectrophotometric study among extraction methods of free and bound phenolic compounds. J. Agric. Food Chem. 52, 5195–5200.

Brand-williams, W., Cuvelier, M.E., Berset, C., 1995. Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. LWT-Food Sci. Technol. 28, 25–30.

Brenes, A., Viveros, A., Goni, I., Centeno, C., Sáyago-Ayerdy, S. G. Arija., I., Saura-Calixto, F., 2008. Effect of Grape Pomace Concentrate and Vitamin E on Digestibility of Polyphenols and Antioxidant Activity in Chickens. Poult. Sci. 87, 307–316.

Brower, V., 1998. Nutraceuticals: poised for a healthy slice of the healthcare market? Nat. Biotechnol. 16, 728-731.

Celi, P., 2010. The role of oxidative stress in small ruminants' health and production. R. Bras. Zootec. 39, 348-363.

Cuevas, A., Saavedra, N., Salazar, L.A., Abdalla, D.S.P., 2013. Modulation of Immune Function by Polyphenols: Possible Contribution of Epigenetic Factors. Nutrients 5(7), 2314–2332.

Duracková, Z., 1998. Free Radicals and Antioxidants in Medicine (I) (in Slovak). SAP, Bratislava.

Duracková, Z., 2009. Some current insights into oxidative stress. Physiol. Res. 59, 459-69.

Ebrahimzadeh, S.K., Navidshad, B., Farhoomand, P., Mirzaei Aghjehgheshlagh, F. 2018. Effects of grape pomace and vitamin E on performance, antioxidant status, immune response, gut morphology and histopathological responses in broiler chickens. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 48, 324-336.

Erel, O., 2004. A novel automated direct measurement method for total antioxidant capacity using a new generation, more stable ABTS radical cation. Clin. Biochem. 37, 277-285.

Filho, A.E., Teodoro, S.M., Chaves, M.A., Santos, P.E.F., Silva, M.W.R., 3, Murta, R.M., 4, Carvalho, G.G.P., Souza, L.E.B., 2011. Zona de conforto térmico de ovinos da raça Santa Inês com base nas respostas fisiológicas. R. Bras. Zootec. 40, 1807-1814.

Ghanim, H., Sia, C.L., Korzeniewski, K., Lohano, T., Abuaysheh, S., Marumganti, A., Chaudhuri, A., Dandona, P., 2011. A Resveratrol and Polyphenol Preparation Suppresses Oxidative and Inflammatory Stress Response to a High-Fat, High-Carbohydrate Meal. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, 1409–1414.

Hamza, C.R., El-shenawyb, N.S., 2017. Anti-inflammatory and antioxidant role of resveratrol on nicotine-induced lung changes in male rats. Toxicol. Rep. 4, 399–407.

IBGE, 2016. Instituto brasileiro de geografia e estatística: Produção de uva por estado brasileiro.

Jaguezeski, A.M., Gessica, P., Shogor, A.L.B., Da Silva, A.S., 2018. Addition of curcumin to the diet of dairy sheep improves health, performance and milk quality. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 246, 144 – 157.

Janiques, A.G.P.R., Leal, V.O., Pinto, M.B.S., Moreira, N.X., Mafra, D., 2014. Efeitos da suplementação de farinha de uva sobre marcadores inflamatórios e antioxidantes em pacientes em hemodiálise: Estudo duplo-cego randomizado. J. Bras. Nefrol. 36, 496-501. Jorge, A.M., Andrighetto, C., Strazza, M.R.B., Correa, R.C., Kasburgo, D.G., Piccinin, A., Victória, C., Domingues, P.F., 2005. Correlação entre o California Mastitis Test (CMT) e a Contagem de Células Somáticas (CCS) do Leite de Búfalas Murrah. R. Bras. Zootec. 34, 2039-2045.

Junior, I.A.M., Santos, J.S.S., Costa, L.G., Costa, R.G., Ludovico, A., Rego, F.C.A., Santana, E.H.W., 2015. Sheep milk: physical-chemical characteristics and microbiological quality. Arch. Latinoam. Nutr. 65, 193-198.

Kandaswami, C., Middleton, E.J.R., 1994. Free radical scavenging and antioxidant activity of plants flavonoids. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 366, 351-376.

Kang, K.W., Lee, S.J., Kim, S.G., 2005. Molecular Mechanism of Nrf2 Activation by Oxidative Stress. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 7, n. 11 e 12.

Karami, S., Rahimi, M., Babaei, A., 2018. An overview on the antioxidant, antiinflammatory, antimicrobial and anti-cancer activity of grape extract. Biomed. Res. Clin. Pract. 3, 2-4.

Laguerre, M., Lecomte, J., Villeneuve, P., 2007. Evaluation of the ability of antioxidants to counteract lipid oxidation: Existing methods, new trends and challenges. Review. Prog. Lipid. Res. 46, 244-282.

Larrauri, J.A., Rupérez, P., Sauracalixto, F., 1997. Effect of drying temperature on the stabilitity of polyphenols and antioxidant activity of red grape pomace peels. J. Agr. Food Chem. 45, 1390-1393.

Marai, I.F.M., El-Darawany, A.A., Fadiel, A., Abdel-Hafez, M.A.M., 2007. Physiological traits as affected by heat stress in sheep - A review, Small. Rumin. Res. 71, 1-12.

McDowell, R.E., 1989. Bases biológicas de la producción animal en zonas tropicales. São Paulo: Ícone,183p.

Megahed, G.A., Anwar,M.M., Wasfy, S.I. Hammadeh, M.E. 2008. Influence of heat stress on the cortisol and oxidant-antioxidants balance during oestrous phase in buffalocows (Bubalus bubalis): Thermo-protective role of antioxidant treatment. Reprod.

Domest. Anim. 43, 672-677.

Moate, P.J., Williams, S.R.O., Torok, V. A., Hannah, M. C., Ribaux, B. E., Tavendale, M.H., Eckard, R.J., Jacobs, J.L., Auldist, M.J., Wales, W.J., 2014. Grape marc reduces methane emissions when fed to dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 5073-5087.

Monserrat, J.M., Geracitano, L.A., Pinho, G.L.L., Vinagre, T.M., Faleiros, M., Alciati, J.C., Bianchini, A., 2003. Determination of lipid peroxides in invertebrates using the Fe (III) xylenol orange complex formation, Arch. Environ. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 45, 177–183.

Moraes, F. P., Colla, L. M., 2006. Functional foods and nutraceuticals: definition, legislation and health benefits. Ver. Eletr. Farm. 3, 109-122.

Mutinati, M., Piccinno, M., Roncetti, M., Campanile, D., Rizzo, A., Sciorsci, R.L., 2013.

Oxidative Stress During Pregnancy in the Sheep. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 48, 353–357.

Nóbrega, A., 2018. Novo Censo Agropecuário mostra crescimento de efetivo de caprinos e ovinos no Nordeste. Empresa brasileira de pesquisa agropecuária – Embrapa.

Paglia, D.E., Valentine, W.N., 1967. Studies on the quantitative and qualitative characterization of erythrocyte glutathione peroxidase. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 70, 158-169.

Pirmohammadi, R., Golgasemgarebagh, A., Mohsenpur, A.A., 2007. Effects of Ensiling and Drying of White Grape Pomace on Chemical Composition, Degradability and Digestibility for Ruminants. Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances 6, 1079-1082. Read, S.M., Northcote, D.H., 1981. Minimization of variation in the response to different proteins of the Coomassie blue G dye-binding assay for protein. Anal. Biochem. 116, 53-64.

Saeidnia S., Abdollahi, M., 2013. Antioxidants: friends or foe in prevention or treatment of cancer: the debate of the century. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 63, 271,49–63.

Sahin, K., Akdemir, F., Orhan, C., Tuzcu, M., Hayirli, A., Sahin, N., 2010. Effects of dietary resveratrol supplementation on egg production and antioxidant status. Poult. Sci. 89, 1190-1198.

Salami, S.A., Guinguina, A., Agboola, J. O., Omede, A.A., Agbonlahor, E.M., Tayyab, U., 2016. Review: In vivo and postmortem effects of feed antioxidants in livestock: a review of the implications on authorization of antioxidant feed additives. Animal 10, 1375–1390.

Sánchez-alonso, I., Jiménez-Escrig, A., Saura-Calixto, F., Borderías, A.J., 2007. Effect of grape antioxidant dietary fibre on the prevention of lipid oxidation in minced fish: Evaluation by different methodologies. Food Chem. 101, 372–378.

Santos, N.W. Santos, G.T.D., Silva-Kazama, D.C., Grande, P.A., Pintro, P.M.,

Marchi, F.E., Jobim, C.C., Petitd, H.V., 2014. Production, composition and antioxidants in milk of dairy cows fed diets containing soybean oil and grape residue silage. Livest. Sci. 159, 37-45.

Silva, D.J., Queiroz, A.C., 2002. Análises de alimentos: métodos químicos e biológicos.3.ed. Viçosa, 235p.

Silva, M.L.C., Costa, R.S., Santana, A.S., Koblitz, M.G.B., 2010. Phenolic compounds, carotenoids and antioxidant activity in plant products. Semina: Ciênc. Agrár. 31, 669-682.

Van Soest, P.J., Robertson, J.B., Lewis, B.A., 1991. Methods for dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 3583-97.

Wendel, A., 1981. Glutathione peroxidase. Methods Enzymol 77, 325-333.

Zunino S.J., Storms D.H., 2009. Resveratrol alters proliferative responses and apoptosis in human activated b lymphocytes in vitro. J Nutr. 139, 1603–1608.



**Figure 1.** Lipid peroxidation (LPO), total antioxidant capacity (ACAP), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) activities in milk samples of dairy sheep. Treatments: no grape residue flour (GRF) supplementation (control group; CON; T0) or supply of 1 % (1% GRF; T1) or 2 % (2% GRF; T2) of GRF in the concentrate. P-values shows statistical differences between groups (same letters do not differ significantly).



**Figure 2.** Lipid peroxidation (LPO), total antioxidant capacity (ACAP), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) activities in serum samples of dairy sheep. Treatments: no grape residue flour (GRF) supplementation (control group; CON; T0) or supply of 1 % (1% GRF; T1) or 2 % (2% GRF; T2) of GRF in the concentrate. P-values shows statistical differences between groups (same letters do not differ significantly).

Ingredients	As fed (kg/day)			Dry matter (DM; kg/day)		
Corn silage (kg)	3.60			1.17		
Concentrate <sup>1</sup> (kg)	0.80			0.71		
Hay (kg)	0.25			0.23		
Chemical composition <sup>2</sup>	Grape flour	Corn silage	Hay	Concentrate		
				CON	1% GRF	2% GRF
DM, g/kg	934	326	892	889	890	892
Ash, g/kg DM	124	45.0	60.0	87.0	77.0	69.0
CP, g/kg DM	103	72.1	72.0	216	208	205
NDF, g/kg DM	333	401	644	78.0	78.0	85.0
ADF, g/kg DM	217	242	401	28.0	28.0	31.0
EE, g/kg DM	50.2	31.0	16.0	23.0	23.0	26.0

**Table 1.** Ingredients and chemical composition of ingredients and experimental diets.

<sup>1.</sup> Ingredients present in 100 kg of concentrate: ground corn (671 g/kg), soybean meal (277 g/kg), calcitic limestone (10 g/kg), sodium bicarbonate (4 g/kg) and 37 g/kg of premix (calcium mim. 180 max. 220g; phosphorus min. 32g; sodium min. 40g; sulfur min. 20g; magnesium min. 20g; cobalt min. 16mg; iodine min. 17mg; manganese min. 420mg; selenium min. 730mg; zinc min. 730mg; fluorine max. 600mg; niacin min. 500mg; vitamin A min. 95000 UI; vitamin D min. 20000 UI; vitamin E min. 350 UI; monensin sodium 1200 mg; *Sacharomyces cerevisae* 2,1 x 10 UFC).

<sup>2.</sup> Note: DM (Dry matter), Ash (Ashes), CP (Crude protein), NDF (neutral detergent fiber), ADF (acid detergent fiber) and EE (ethereal extract).

Treatment/diets <sup>1</sup>	TPC (mg EAG/100 g of dry mater)	Antioxidant activity – DPPH assay - IC <sub>50</sub> (µg/mL)
CON	$0.04 (0.02)^{c}$	*
1% GRF	$2.87 (0.90)^{b}$	$712(1.02)^{a}$
2% GRF	$9.69 (0.80)^{a}$	$422(1.57)^{b}$

**Table 2.** Mean and standard deviation (...) of total phenolic compounds (TPC) and antioxidant activity (DPPH assay) of experimental diets.

<sup>1</sup>No grape residue flour (GRF) supplementation (control group; CON) or supply of 1 % (1% GRF) or 2 % (2% GRF) of GRF in the concentrate.

\*No antioxidant activity ( $IC_{50}$ ) was detected in the control diet (T0), that is, there was no reaction with DPPH radical, visualized by color change.

Note: When comparing total phenolic compounds (TPC) and IC<sub>50</sub> levels between treatments, we verified a statistical difference between groups, illustrated by different letters in the same column (P<0.05). Analyzes made in triplicate.

1% GRF 2% GRF **P**-values Variable Day CON  $1.42^{B}(0.31)$  $1.39^{B}(0.21)$  $1.37^{B}(0.32)$ Production (L) 0.54 1 1.50<sup>A</sup> (0.34)  $1.62^{A}(0.40)$  $1.63^{A}(0.33)$ 10 0.50 1.64<sup>A</sup> (0.32)  $1.51^{A}(0.36)$  $1.65^{A}(0.29)$ 15 0.39 0.01 < 0.001 < 0.001 p-values 8.54 (4.10)<sup>b</sup> Productive efficiency (%) 1 to 10 19.4 (5.91)<sup>a</sup> 25.7 (6.81)<sup>a</sup> < 0.001 7.86 (4.31)<sup>b</sup> < 0.001 1 to 15 19.4 (5.43)<sup>a</sup> 25.0 (6.54)<sup>a</sup> Chemical composition Protein (g/kg) 1 58.0 (1.10) 0.95 58.0 (1.20) 58.0 (2.00) 0.93 10 57.0 (0.90) 59.0 (1.60) 58.0 (2.20) 15 57.0 (0.80) 57.0 (1.80) 0.96 57.0 (1.50) p-values 0.94 0.80 0.92 Fat (g/kg) 1 64.0 (5.90) 63.1 (4.76) 64.0 (5.41) 0.90 10 63.1 (5.42) 59.6 (5.63) 67.6 (7.93) 0.45 15 62.2 (3.82)<sup>b</sup> 65.4 (4.20)<sup>ab</sup>  $69.8(2.83)^{a}$ 0.03\* 0.89 0.39 0.25 p-values 55.6<sup>B</sup> (2.60) 1 0.93 Lactose (g/kg) 55.0 (2.12) 56.4 (2.51) 56.0<sup>AB</sup> (2.93) 10 57.3 (2.01) 54.6 (3.74) 0.62 59.7<sup>A</sup> (1.73) 15 57.7 (1.98) 58.0 (2.23) 0.22  $0.05^{+}$ p-values 0.96 0.18 Total solids (g/kg) 1 178 (5.41) 177 (5.61) 183 (11.2) 0.90 10 178 (7.23) 172 (5.98) 180 (10.8) 0.88 15 176 (4.31)<sup>b</sup> 179 (6.22)<sup>ab</sup> 185 (5.20)<sup>a</sup> 0.04\* 0.914 p-values 0.920 0.824  $SCC^{1}(x10^{3}/mL)$ 1 1640 (1523) 1977 (1554) 1678 (1534) 0.62 10 2194 (1183) 1475 (1073) 902 (899) 0.07 15 2480 (1420)<sup>a</sup> 1117 (949)<sup>ab</sup> 607 (593)<sup>b</sup> 0.02\* 0.15 p-values 0.42 0.24

**Table 3.** Milk production and milk composition from sheep not supplemented with grape residue flour (GRF; control group; CON) or supplemented with of 1 % (1% GRF) or 2 % (2% GRF) of GRF in the concentrate.

<sup>1</sup>Somatic cell count.

\*  $P \le 0.05$  shows difference between groups (Note: means with the same lowercase letters do not differ);

+  $P \le 0.05$  shows the difference over time in each group (Note: averages with the same uppercase letters do not differ).

Erythrocytes $(x10^6 \ \mu L)$ 15.14 (1.42)5.15 (0.90)5.05 (1.26)0.105.54 (1.64)5.62 (1.41)4.52 (0.65)0.155.80 (1.51)5.26 (1.32)4.61 (0.74)0.n values	84 08 07 72
10 $5.54 (1.64)$ $5.62 (1.41)$ $4.52 (0.65)$ $0.$ $15$ $5.80 (1.51)$ $5.26 (1.32)$ $4.61 (0.74)$ $0.$ $n$ values $0.25$ $0.41$ $0.74$	08 07 72
15 5.80 (1.51) 5.26 (1.32) 4.61 (0.74) <b>0.</b> $p_{10} = p_{10} = p$	07 72
$\mathbf{p}$ volume $0.25$ $0.41$ $0.74$	72
p-values 0.35 0.41 0.74	72
Hematocrit (%) 1 28.0 (6.11) 29.3 (3.60) 30.1 (6.17) <b>0.</b>	
10 $28.0(5.84)$ $26.7(3.41)$ $25.5(5.32)$ <b>0.</b>	60
15 29.1 (5.11) 27.9 (3.12) 29.0 (4.80) <b>0.</b>	74
p-values 0.84 0.78 0.65	
Hemoglobin (mg/dL)         1         8.55 (1.82)         8.54 (1.41)         8.61 (1.60)         0.	90
10 $8.81 (1.91)$ $8.22 (1.01)$ $7.43 (1.07)$ $0.$	12
15 8.74 (1.73) 8.30 (0.96) 8.77 (1.02) <b>0.</b>	41
p-values 0.90 0.88 0.25	
Leukocytes $(x10^3 \mu L)$ 1 6.70 (3.67) 6.61 (1.81) 5.70 <sup>A</sup> (1.51) 0.	79
10 $8.71 (3.94)^{a} 5.02 (1.40)^{ab} 4.42^{AB} (0.76)^{b}$ 0.	02
15 8.61 (1.71) <sup>a</sup> 4.91 (0.84) <sup>b</sup> $3.52^{B} (0.70)^{c}$ <0.	001
p-values 0.40 0.29 0.03 <sup>+</sup>	
Lymphocytes $(x10^3 \mu L)$ 1 2.01 (1.21) 1.71 <sup>A</sup> (0.60) 1.83 <sup>A</sup> (0.74) <b>0.</b>	75
10 $2.42(1.50)$ $0.96^{AB}(0.55)$ $1.04^{AB}(0.45)$ <b>0.</b>	07
15 $2.01 (0.94)^{a}  0.92^{B} (0.17)^{b}  0.70^{B} (0.36)^{b} < 0.$	001
p-values 0.81 <0.001 <0.001	
Neutrophils (x10 <sup>3</sup> $\mu$ L) 1 4.40 (2.33) 4.11 (1.32) 3.62 (0.91) <b>0.</b>	55
10 $5.92 (3.34)$ $3.90 (1.30)$ $3.21 (0.74)$ $0.123 (0.74)$	06
15 $5.97 (1.20)^{a}  3.63 (0.81)^{b}  2.52 (0.61)^{b}  <0.$	001
p-values 0.46 0.35 0.12	
Monocytes $(x10^3 \mu L)$ 1 0.19 (0.20) 0.07 (0.06) 0.09 (0.08) 0.	65
10 $0.24(0.18)$ $0.15(0.19)$ $0.17(0.11)$ <b>0.</b>	70
15 $0.51 (0.29)$ $0.28 (0.12)$ $0.23 (0.11)$ $0.23 (0.11)$	21
p-values 0.56 0.60 0.65	
Eosinophils $(x10^3 \ \mu L)$ 10.07 (0.09)0.12 (0.14)0.09 (0.09)0.12	80
10 0.06 (0.08) 0.04 (0.05) 0.19 (0.36) <b>0.</b>	52
15 0.17 (0.15) 0.03 (0.02) 0.02 (0.05) <b>0.</b>	33
p-values 0.50 0.74 0.40	

Table 4. Hemogram of sheep not supplemented with grape residue flour (GRF), control group (CON) or supplemented with of 1 % (1% GRF) or 2 % (2% GRF) in the concentrate. -

\* P  $\leq$  0.05 shows difference between groups (Note: means with the same lowercase letters do not differ);  $+ P \le 0.05$  shows the difference over time in each group (Note: averages with the same uppercase letters do not differ).

Variable	Day	CON	1% GRF	2% GRF	<b>P-values</b>
Glucose (mg/dL)	1	64.6 <sup>AB</sup> (11.6)	68.9 <sup>AB</sup> (7.50)	64.2 <sup>B</sup> (8.21)	0.58
	10	73.2 <sup>A</sup> (11.5)	80.8 <sup>A</sup> (11.7)	89.3 <sup>A</sup> (17.0)	0.08
	15	54.7 <sup>B</sup> (3.10) <sup>b</sup>	57.0 <sup>B</sup> (7.21) <sup>ab</sup>	$66.6^{B}(7.3)^{a}$	0.03
	p-values	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	1	91.8 (34.0)	95.3 (23.4)	127 (27.9)	0.25
	10	106 (34.1)	92.0 (20.2)	102 (16.1)	0.43
	15	69.9 (14.8)	62.0 (10.0)	78.5 (11.9)	0.11
	p-values	0.20	0.12	0.22	
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	1	23.3 (6.90)	27.1 (19.4)	22.1 <sup>B</sup> (5.60)	0.40
	10	17.2 (5.80) <sup>b</sup>	18.0 (5.01) <sup>b</sup>	$31.2^{AB}$ $(8.61)^{a}$	<0.001
	15	20.1 (3.21) <sup>b</sup>	26.9 (6.61) <sup>ab</sup>	36.9 <sup>A</sup> (8.32) <sup>a</sup>	<0.001
	p-values	0.44	0.24	<0.001	
Total protein (g/dL)	1	6.81 (0.95)	7.61 (1.01)	7.81 <sup>AB</sup> (0.61)	0.15
	10	8.74 (1.52)	8.62 (0.81)	9.30 <sup>A</sup> (0.82)	0.69
	15	7.64 (0.61) <sup>a</sup>	7.32 (0.70) <sup>ab</sup>	$6.62^{B} (0.33)^{b}$	0.04
	p-values	0.26	0.25	<0.001	
Albumin (g/dL)	1	2.50 (0.50)	2.71 <sup>B</sup> (0.32)	2.73 <sup>B</sup> (0.31)	0.89
	10	3.25 (0.42)	$3.46^{A}(0.41)$	$3.62^{A}(0.62)$	0.62
	15	2.91 (0.34)	$2.82^{\text{B}}(0.21)$	3.01 <sup>AB</sup> (0.32)	0.80
	p-values	0.06	0.01	<0.001	
Globulin (g/dL)	1	4.31 (0.41)	4.94 (0.91)	5.10 <sup>A</sup> (0.84)	0.20
	10	5.52 (1.20)	5.26 (0.81)	5.14 <sup>AB</sup> (1.90)	0.76
	15	$4.76(0.52)^{a}$	4.59 (0.80) <sup>ab</sup>	$3.50^{\rm B} (0.51)^{\rm b}$	0.03
	p-values	0.339	0.552	0.010	
Urea (mg/dL)	1	$24.9^{\mathrm{B}}(4.41)$	26.7 <sup>B</sup> (8.11)	30.8 (6.60)	0.18
	10	42.2 <sup>A</sup> (5.60)	39.9 <sup>AB</sup> (12.1)	51.1 (18.3)	0.36
	15	$38.0^{\rm A} (3.91)^{\rm a}$	$37.6^{\text{A}} (4.62)^{\text{a}}$	27.6 (4.50) <sup>b</sup>	<0.001
	p-values	<0.001	<0.001	0.36	

**Table 5.** Serum biochemistry of sheep not supplemented with grape residue flour (GRF; control group; CON) or supplemented with of 1 % (1% GRF) or 2 % (2% GRF) of GRF in the concentrate

\*  $P \le 0.05$  shows difference between groups (Note: means with the same lowercase letters do not differ); +  $P \le 0.05$  shows the difference over time in each group (Note: averages with the same uppercase letters do not differ).

# 2.3. MANUSCRITO I

# Biocholine supplementation in pre- and postpartum Lacaune sheep: effects on animal health, milk production and quality

Davi Fernando Alba<sup>a</sup>, Jorge Augusto Favaretto<sup>b</sup>, Hiam Marcon<sup>b</sup>, Thalia Festa Saldanha<sup>c</sup>, Karoline Wagner Leal<sup>a</sup>, Gabriela Campigoto<sup>a</sup>, Carine F. Souza<sup>d</sup>, Matheus D. Baldissera<sup>d</sup>, Anderson E. Bianchi<sup>d</sup>, Aleksandro Schafer da Silva<sup>a,b</sup>

De acordo com normas para publicação em:

Small Ruminant Research

Submetido

Davi Fernando Alba<sup>a</sup>, Jorge Augusto Favaretto<sup>b</sup>, Hiam Marcon<sup>b</sup>, Thalia Festa Saldanha<sup>c</sup>, Karoline Wagner Leal<sup>a</sup>, Gabriela Campigoto<sup>a</sup>, Carine F. Souza<sup>d</sup>, Matheus D. Baldissera<sup>d</sup>, Anderson E. Bianchi<sup>d</sup>, Aleksandro Schafer da Silva<sup>a,b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Postgraduate Program in Animal Science, State University of Santa Catarina (UDESC), Chapecó, Brazil.

<sup>b</sup> Department of Animal Science, UDESC, Chapecó, Brazil.

<sup>c</sup> Department of Animal Science, Universidade Federal da Fronteira Sul (UFFS), Realeza, Brazil.

<sup>d</sup> Postgraduate Program in Pharmaceutical Sciences, UFSM, Santa Maria, Brazil.

Corresponding author: Rua Beloni Trombeta Zanin, 680E, Bairro Santo Antônio, 89.815-630, Chapecó, SC, Brazil. Tel: +55 49 2049 – 9560. E-mail: <u>aleksandro.silva@udesc.br</u> (A.S. Da Silva).

# Abstract

In the final third of gestation and during early lactation, sheep require a large supply of nutrients to support fetal growth, mammary gland development and milk production. Nevertheless, during this period, the pregnant ewe consumes less food in the context of increased energy expenditure and liver overload. For these reasons, natural produces have been used as supplements to minimize the negative effects of this transition phase. The objective of the present study was to determine whether supplementation with vegetable biocholine (VB) in pregnant and lactating sheep (transition period) would improve productive efficiency, milk quality and overall health. The experiment lasted 65 days, corresponding to the final 20 days of pregnancy and the first 45 days of lactation. A total of 24 Lacaune ewes were separated into two homogeneous groups on day 20 pre-partum: a control group (without supplementation) and a treated group in which the animals received 5 g of VB/animal/day. Blood samples were taken on days 20 and 10 before delivery, the day of delivery and on days 7, 15, 30 and 45 after delivery. Measurements of milk yield, as well as milk collections for composition analysis (fat, protein, lactose and total solids) were performed on the 15<sup>th</sup>, 30<sup>th</sup> and 45<sup>th</sup> postpartum days. The sheep that consumed VB in the diet had higher lactation persistence compared to control (P<0.05), although milk production does not differ between groups (Control = 1.94 L/day; Treated = 2.23 L/day - P=0.10). Milk composition did not differ significantly between the groups at the three time points (P>0.05). We observed greater activity of the enzymes glutathione S-transferase (GST) and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) in milk (P < 0.05); as well as there was a tendency for lower counting of somatic cells in the milk of the sheep in the group treated on day 45 (P=0.07). Higher activity of GPx and GST enzymes also were observed on serum the treated group (P<0.05). At 45 days postpartum, sheep in the treated group and lower liver enzyme activity (aspartate aminotransferase had gamma glutamyltransferase) (P<0.05); and lower albumin levels at days 15 and 30 (P<0.05).

Globulin levels were greater in serum of VB supplemented sheep than in controls (P<0.05). VB intake by sheep reduced serum calcium levels (P<0.05). We conclude that the addition of VB in the diet of sheep had beneficial effects on animal health, especially after the peak of production, where the consumption of VB had hepatoprotective, antioxidant and immunological effects.

**Keywords:** sheep rearing, pregnancy, phosphatidylcholine, liver function, lactation persistence, milk quality.

# **1. Introduction**

Pregnant ewes have high nutritional requirements during final third of gestation and early lactation periods (Soares et al., 2009). During these periods, ruminants manifest characteristics of low caloric intake associated with increased energy demand. The resulting negative energy balance leads to increased fatty acid oxidation and increased concentration of ketone bodies, both of which predispose the animal to two interrelated diseases, pregnancy toxemia and hepatic steatosis (Berchielli et al., 2011). Pregnancy toxemia is a metabolic disorder that frequently affects sheep in the final third of pregnancy. It is directly related to inadequate nutrition and multiple pregnancies attributable to elevated glucose requirements on the part of the mother and fetus (Sobrinho, 2006). Despite the fact that pregnancy and lactation are physiological (i.e., not pathological), they cause metabolic stress and liver overload in pregnant females (Drackley, 1999). The final third of pregnancy is the most critical phase, because it requires even higher demands for glucose for fetal growth (Sobrinho et al., 1996).

Malnutrition in ewes has negative effects on the fetus, including changes in placental size and reduced fetal growth, as well as decreased fat reserves for newborn use. The female can also be affected, especially with reduced udder development that consequently

affects colostrum supply and interferes with future lactation (Mellor, 1983). Because of the economic and zootechnical impacts caused by these metabolic disorders, prevention using supplementation is recommended (Sobrinho et al., 1996).

An additive used in animal feed is choline. Data indicate that choline has a lipotropic effect preventing the deposition of fat in the liver (Best et al., 1936). In addition, it also plays an important role in the formation and preservation of the metabolism of the cellular structure (Berchielli et al., 2011). A study of Lacaune sheep showed that encapsulated choline chloride in pre-partum supplements decreased blood ketone values as well as the incidence of pregnancy toxemia (Michailoff et al., 2017). The primary source of choline in animal diets is synthetic choline chloride (Fernandes Junior et al., 2010; Pompeu et al., 2011; Khosravinia et al. 2015). In recent years, other sources of choline have been tested in animals, including phosphatidylcholine, a choline of vegetable origin (also known as biocholine) that is extracted from plants such as *Azadirachta indica, Citrullus colocynthis, Trachyspermum ammi*, and *Achyranthes a*spera (Camacho et al., 2018). Vegetable choline (VB) contains choline in the form of choline conjugates, especially phosphatidylcholine that provides natural resistance against ruminal degradation (Godínez-Cruz et al., 2015).

A recent study demonstrated the ability of VB to express lipotropic effects through mobilization of non-esterified fatty acids (Rodríguez-Guerrero et al., 2018) that decreases stores of liver fat. A study showed that this biocolina has high bioavailability, where the production was similar in the animals that received VB and in those that received encapsulated choline chloride (Crosby et al., 2017).

Given the properties of VB, we believe that if it used as a transition period supplement, it can minimize negative effects associated with this phase in sheep already mentioned in this section. Our hypothesis is that VB, a new source of choline, which has low ruminal degradation (Godínez-Cruz et al., 2015) will modulate hepatic lipid metabolism (Best et al., 1936; Rodríguez-Guerrero et al., 2018) and antioxidant activity (Baldissera et al. 2019) that will mainly protect the liver, reducing liver overload and production of ketonic bodies in ewes with twin pregnancies avoiding pregnancy toxemia, as well as over time maintaining the persistence of lactation.

Therefore, the objective of the present study was to determine whether VB supplementation in pregnant and later lactating sheep (the transition period) would improve productive efficiency, milk quality and overall animal health.

#### 2. Materials and methods

# 2.1. Biocholine (phosphatidylcholine)

Biocholine (Biocholine Powder®) was purchased from Nutriquest Technofeed, produced from *Azadirachta indica, Citrullus colocynthis, Trachyspermum ammi,* and *Achyranthes aspera* as described in the commercial product data sheet. The chemical composition of this product was measured prior to the experiment, being detected at the following concentrations: 967 g/kg of dry matter; 853 g/kg of organic material; 47 g/kg protein; 443 g/kg NDF; 380 g/kg FDA; 57.1 g/kg ether extract; 15g/kg calcium; and 3 g/kg phosphorus.

The commercial product (VB) contains guaranteed levels of total phosphatidylcholine (natural choline conjugates) of 16 g/kg VB. A sample of this additive was sent to a specialized laboratory for actual quantification of phosphatidylcholine in VB using high-performance thin-layer chromatography (Kupke and Zeugner 1978); we found that the levels of total phosphatidylcholine were 16.8 g/kg.

# 2.2. Animals and experimental design

The experiment was carried out at a Lacaune dairy farm located in Lajeado Grande, SC, after approval by the Animal Experimentation Ethics Committee. (CEUA/UDESC) protocol number 2481011018.

We used 24 multiparous ewes ( $73.4 \pm 6.3$  kg by body weight) in the final stages of gestation. According to a farmer, the reproductive management used was natural breeding (coitus), with estrus synchronization previously. Data from an ultrasound performed at 60 days of gestation was used to select only animals with twin births for this study. The animals were divided into two groups with 12 animals each, a control group (without VB) and a treated group that received daily supplements of 5 g VB/animal, offered in the morning with the concentrate. The formation of the groups took into account the ewe's age, number of births and milk production at the peak of the previous lactation.

The experiment lasted 65 days, i.e., 20 days before delivery and 45 days after delivery. The animals were fed concentrate (65% wet grain, 30% soybean meal and 5% kernel for lactating sheep), corn silage and free hay twice a day (0700h and 1700h) (Table 1). The ewes were housed in a confined covered shed, separated by group into two 15-m<sup>2</sup> side-by-side collective stalls and pre-calving beds. After delivery, the sheep were housed in another covered shed, with collective stalls and a slatted floor. The lambs remained with their mothers at some times of the day to nurse throughout the experiment.

#### 2.3. Chemical food analysis

Chemical analysis of the diets for silage and concentrate (pre- and post-partum) are displayed in Table 1. The analyses of samples were pre-dried for 72 h at 55°C, milled (Willey mill, 1mm) and subjected to analysis for determination of dry matter content (DM, 930.15; AOAC, 1990), crude protein (CP, 984.13; AOAC, 1990) was obtained by multiplying the result by 6.25 and the result was expressed in g/kg DM, ash (MM,
942.05; AOAC, 1990) g/kg DM, and ethereal extract (EE) g/kg DM, according to Silva and Queiroz (2002). The NDF (NDFom, method number 2002.04) and ADF (ADFom, method number 973.18) contents were analyzed according to Van Soest (1994) expressed exclusive of residual ash and without amylase.

# 2.4. Quantitation of milk

The milking was mechanized (Ordemilk, Treze Tílias, Santa Catarina, Brazil), performed twice a day (0600h and 1700h). Individual volumetric verification of milk was performed on the 15<sup>th</sup>, 30<sup>th</sup> and 45<sup>th</sup> postpartum days. The volumes produced in the morning and afternoon milking were measured using a digital scale (RKMIX, Assis, São Paulo, Brazil), and the daily value was the sum total of the two milking.

Then, lactation persistence (LP) was calculated using the formula: LP = [1- ((PMP - LMP) x (30 / IDMM) / PMP)] x 100; [where: PMP = previous milk production; LMP = later milk production; IDMM = Interval in days between milk measurement].

#### 2.5. Collection of blood and milk samples

Milk samples (40 mL) from the complete milking of the animal were collected for composition and quality analysis on days 15, 30 and 45 of the experiment. Two milliliters of milk from each sample were transferred to microtubes for evaluation of oxidant and antioxidant status biomarkers.

The animals were manually restrained for blood collection. Blood samples were collected by jugular vein puncture into vacuum tubes on day 20 and 10 before delivery, and on days 7, 15, 30 and 45 postpartum. A total of 4 mL were stored in tubes containing EDTA (ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid) for complete blood counts, and another 4 mL

were placed in tubes without anticoagulant centrifuged at 5100 g for 10 min to obtain serum for biochemical analysis and levels of oxidants and antioxidants.

#### 2.6. Milk analysis

#### 2.6.1. Chemical composition

Milk composition (fat, protein, lactose and total dry extract) was determined using an infrared analyzer (LactoStar Funke Gerber®) and somatic cell count (SCC) was performed using a digital counter (Ekomilk Scan Somatic Cells Analyzer®).

#### 2.6.2 Analysis of oxidant/antioxidant status in serum and milk

We measured in the activity of the enzyme glutathione peroxidase (GPx) serum and milk, using tert-butyl hydroperoxide as substrate (Wendel, 1981). Enzyme activity was determined by monitoring the disappearance of NADPH at 340 nm in a medium containing potassium phosphate buffer (100 mM) + ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (1 mM), pH 7.7. Results were expressed as U mg protein<sup>-1</sup>. Lipid peroxidation in the homogenates was obtained using the technique described by Buege and Aust (1978) by measuring thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS).

#### 2.7. Blood analyses

#### 2.7.1. Hemogram

Total erythrocyte and leukocyte counts as well as hemoglobin concentration were measured using a semi-automatic cell counter (CELM model CC530). Hematocrit was obtained using microhematocrit capillary tubes by centrifuging for 5 min at 5100 g.

# 2.7.2. Serum biochemistry

Tubes containing blood were kept refrigerated in a thermal box until arrival at the laboratory (10 °C), then centrifuged (5100 g for 10 minutes) for serum separation. Supernatants were transferred to Eppendorf tubes, identified and stored at -20 °C until the time of analysis of: aspartate aminotransferase (AST), gamma glutamyltransferase (GGT), calcium, glucose, total protein (TP), albumin, triglycerides, cholesterol and urea using a semi-automatic analyzer (Bio-2000 BioPlus®) and specific commercial kits (Analisa®). Globulin values were calculated as the difference between total protein and albumin levels.

# 2.7.3. Serum oxidant and antioxidant status

The methodology for evaluating TBARS, GPx and SOD were the same as for milk described in section 2.6.2. GPx activity were measured according to the methodology described by Wendel (1981) and Beutler (1984), respectively. TBARS levels were measured using the methodology described by Buege and Aust (1978)

# 2.7.4. Measurement of serum ketone bodies

Blood collected with anticoagulant was used for this analysis. For the determination of ketone bodies in the blood, the commercial Ketovet® equipment was used, with readings up to 1 min after blood collection.

#### 2.8. Statistical analysis

Animal was considered the experimental unit for all analyses. All dependent variables were tested for normality using Univariate procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC, USA; version 9.4) and log transformed when needed. Then, all data were analyzed using MIXED procedure of SAS, with Satterthwaite approximation to determine the denominator degrees of freedom for the test of fixed effects. Persistence of lactation

was tested for fixed effect of treatment using animal(treatment) as random effects. All others variables of the study were analyzed as repeated measures and tested for fixed effects of treatment, day, and treatment × day, using animal(treatment) as random variables and animal(treatment) as subject. All results obtained on d 20 prepartum for each variable were included as covariates in each respective analysis, but were removed from the model when P > 0.10. The first order autoregressive covariance structure was selected for milk production and compound symmetric covariance structure was selected for all others variables. The covariance structures were selected according to the lowest Akaike information criterion. Means were separated using PDIFF and all results were reported as LSMEANS followed by SEM. Significance was defined when  $P \le 0.05$ , and tendency when P > 0.05 and  $\le 0.10$ .

# 3. Results

During the experimental period, two pathological disorders were observed in two sheep in the control group. 1) one sheep was diagnosed with toxemia on the day of farrowing, animals that had elevated ketone bodies (3.13 mmol/L), as well as farrowing had to be assisted and the two lambs were born dead; 2) another sheep had a clinical mastitis at 38 days of lactation, which stopped milk production (data and samples of this sheep were not collected at 45 days).

#### **3.1. Production, composition and quality of milk**

Effects of treatment, but not treatment × day (P = 0.36) tended to be detected (P = 0.10) for milk production, and treated sheep tended to have greater production, compared to control sheep (Table 2). Effects of treatment were detected for persistence of lactation ( $P \le 0.04$ ), and treated sheep had grater values, compared to control sheep (Table 2).

Effects of treatment × day and treatment were not detected ( $P \ge 0.25$ ) for milk concentration of protein, fat, lactose, total dry extract and TBARS (Table 2). Effects of treatment × day, but not treatment (P = 0.17) tended to be detected (P = 0.09) for milk SCC, and treated sheep had lower count on d 45 postpartum, compared to control sheep (Table 2). Effects of treatment were detected (P = 0.05), and effects of treatment × day tended to be detected (P = 0.09) for milk concentration of GPx, and treated sheep had greater values on d 30 postpartum, compared to control sheep (Table 2). Effects of treatment were detected (P = 0.02), and effects of treatment × day tended to be detected (P = 0.09) for milk concentration of GST, and treated sheep had greater values on d 30 and 45 postpartum, compared to control sheep (Table 2).

# 3.2. Hemogram and clinical biochemistry

Effects of treatment × day and treatment were not detected ( $P \ge 0.18$ ) for blood concentration of erythrocytes, hematocrit, hemoglobin, leukocytes and ketone bodies (Table 3). Effects of treatment × day was detected (P = 0.04) and treatment tended to be detected (P = 0.07) for AST, and treated sheep had greater concentration on d 45 postpartum, compared to control sheep (Table 3). Effects of treatment × day, but not treatment (P = 40), were detected (P = 0.05) for GGT, and treated sheep had greater concentration on 45 postpartum, compared to control sheep (Table 3).

Effects of treatment × day and treatment were not detected ( $P \ge 0.17$ ) for serum concentration of total protein, cholesterol, triglycerides and urea (Table 4). Effects of treatment × day were detected (P = 0.03) and treatment tended to be detected (P = 0.08) for serum concentration of albumin, and treated sheep had greater value on d 30 and 45 postpartum, compared to control animals (Table 4). Effects of treatment × day, but not treatment (P = 0.32) tended to be detected (P = 0.08) for serum concentration of globulin, and treated sheep had greater value on d 15 and 45 postpartum, compared to control sheep (Table 4). Effects of treatment  $\times$  day, but not treatment (P = 0.64) tended to be detected (P = 0.09) for serum concentration of glucose, and treated sheep had greater concentration in the day of delivery, compared to control sheep (Table 4).

Effects of treatment × day and treatment were detected ( $P \le 0.05$ ) for serum concentration of total calcium, and treated sheep, had lower values from d 10 prepartum until d 30 postpartum, compared to control sheep (Figure 1).

# 3.3. Serum oxidant and antioxidant status

Effects of treatment, but not treatment × day (P = 0.55), tended to be detected (P = 0.10) for serum concentration of TBARS, and treated sheep had lower value, compared to control sheep (Table 5). Effects of treatment × day, but not treatment (P = 0.88) tended to be detected (P = 0.07) for serum concentration of GPx, and treated sheep had greater concentration on d 45 postpartum, compared to control sheep (Table 5). Effects of treatment (P = 0.34) were detected (P = 0.03) for serum concentration of GST, and treated sheep had greater concentration of d 45 postpartum, compared to control of d 45 postpartum, compared to concentration of d 45 postpartum, compared to control sheep (Table 5).

#### 4. Discussion

The data suggest that our main hypothesis was accepted, as we found that supplemented sheep diets with VB to improve liver function and consequent milk production. We found no difference in hepatic enzyme levels (AST and GGT) during the transition period. During this period, especially after delivery, there is a large mobilization of body fat for milk production generating negative energy balance (Bell, 1995; Raoof et al., 2013); nevertheless, VB supplementation had no effect on enzymes used as markers of liver function up to day 30 postpartum. However, on day 45 postpartum, the group receiving VB supplementation had significantly lower serum AST and GGT levels. This finding justifies future studies, because it is important to determine whether there was a change in the amount of liver fat stored, because the literature suggests that choline has lipotropic action (Best and Huntsman, 1935; Blanch, 2016).

We did not observe any difference in levels, cholesterol and triglycerides in our study; this was different from results reported Rodríguez-Guerrero et al. (2018), who observed increased glucose, cholesterol and non-esterified fatty acid levels in the serum of lambs supplemented with VB. The authors suggested that the product stimulates lipid mobilization. Michailoff *et al.* (2017) observed decreased ketone body levels in sheep supplemented with encapsulated choline in the pre-partum period, in animals supplemented with 25 grams of choline/animal/day. In our study, the dose of VB did not differ blood ketones between groups during of all experiment. Therefore, our hypotheses that VB would have an effect (reduce) on serum ketones bodies cannot be evaluated, as there was no significant increase in serum levels of ketones bodies during the pre-calving period in most sheep (despite twin gestation), as we only verified body levels ketonic > 1 mmol/L on the day of partum in three sheep (2 controls; 1 treated).

The demand for choline during pregnancy is higher because of fetal development, the fetus uses choline and derivatives for cell formation and nervous system development. In humans, daily intake of choline for pregnant women of approximately 450 mg is recommended, and even higher for breastfeeding women (550 mg) (Zeisel and Costa, 2009). Zeisel *et al.* (1980) found that newborn humans and rats have higher serum choline concentrations than do adult individuals. This further reinforces the idea that pregnant women should consume choline-containing foods during pregnancy and lactation. Studies have found that rats' milk is choline-rich, and rat pups that did not receive milk had

significantly lower serum choline concentrations than did breastfed pups (Zeisel and Wurtman, 1981). In the present study, we did not evaluate levels of choline and derivatives in newborn lambs, only factors related to sheep (mother); nevertheless, we did not find differences between groups in terms of liver function and antioxidant levels during the transition period. Zeisel (2013) stresses that pregnant women and lactating women should ingest choline, because the fetus requires choline and lactation depletes maternal choline reserves; it is essential for the birth of healthy children and the mother's liver health. Guedes *et al.* (2015) pointed out that maternal nutrition during pregnancy affects both fetal development, health and performance of lambs after birth. This experiment took place lasted less than 3 months; however, the farmer continued to use 5 g of VB in the pre-birth diet of the animals, which, according to the producer, reduced considerably ( $\pm$  80%) of the problems related to toxemia of pregnancy and in babies born dead or week, a common occurrence on the farm before the use of biocolina (personal communication).

The addition of 4 grams of choline chloride to cow diets resulted in increased daily milk production by 3.7 liters (Erdman *et al.*, 1984). The addition of vegetable choline (5 grams) in sheep diets here had no significant effect on milk production; however, the production remained constant longer in the group that received dietary VB. This may be related to the liver's better efficiency in metabolizing fatty acids (De Veth et al, 2016). Yao and Vance (1988) explain that the release of very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) by the liver is closely related to the availability of choline and phosphatidylcholine. Liver-produced VLDLs are rich in triglycerides that are hydrolyzed in the bloodstream, releasing fatty acids (Xavier et al., 2013). This suggests that phosphatidylcholine supplementation may have favored hepatic VLDL production,

117

increasing the availability of serum triglycerides, and enabling the maintenance of milk production by the mammary gland.

The way mammals obtain choline is related to food, as well as the hepatic pathway, where phosphatidylethanolamine methylation by the enzyme Noccurs, generating phosphatidylcholine that corresponds methyltransferase to approximately 95% of choline-containing compounds in the liver (Li et al., 2005). In ruminants, choline chloride is not absorbed well in the intestine, and most choline is degraded in the rumen (Sharma e Erdman, 1989). This can be overcome by encapsulating the choline, increasing its availability for intestinal absorption (Baldi and Pinotti, 2006). Crosby et al. (2017) observed that the addition of VB and encapsulated choline chloride in sheep diets one month before calving improved the weight of the mothers on the day of delivery and 30 days postpartum, as well as increasing the weight of lambs at birth, promoting higher milk production and improving the weight gain of lambs during the first 30 days of life. Phosphatidylcholine supplementation in beef cattle concentrate also increased daily weight gain by 18% compared to the control group (Fernandes et al., 2008). Martínez-Aispuro et al. (2019) also found improvements in the weight gain of lambs that received increasing doses of VB in the diet; the data from our study reinforce the idea that VB is resistant to ruminal degradation, allowing its addition to ruminant diets in its natural form.

Studies of VB in ruminant diets are relatively recent; published data focused mainly on the productive effects of birds as described below for contextual purposes. Calderano *et al.* (2015) used various concentrations of vegetable choline in broiler diets and observed that the animals performed similarly to those receiving synthetic choline chloride. Blanch (2016) also conducted a study with synthetic and natural choline sources in broiler chickens and observed similar weight gain in poultry as well as lower weight of

animal livers because it contains less fat than the synthetic choline group. Bustamante (2018) added phosphatidylcholine at various doses to laying hen diets (doses between 160 and 320 g per ton) and found that this additive altered egg yield and production but did not affect egg quality at the intermediate dose. Gangane *et al.* (2010) used choline in the diet of broilers and found that it decreased levels of triglycerides and serum cholesterol in birds.

Importantly, the adequate formulation of the diet provided to the animals in this study (corn silage, concentrate and mineral mixture for lactating sheep) may reduce the chances of pregnant ewes presenting health problems such as pregnancy toxemia and liver steatosis. This is because 30% of the concentrate provided to the sheep was soybean meal, also a natural choline source (McDowell 2000). Soybean meal contains 2.916 ppm choline in dry matter. Another researcher observed that corn and soybean meal have 1,000 and 2,700 mg/kg choline, respectively (Bertechini 2006), with bioavailability ranging from 60% to 75%. Choline levels were not measured in the diet provided; nevertheless, we believe that the dietary levels of both groups were sufficient to meet the needs of the sheep during the transition period.

The addition of vegetal choline did not alter blood count, clinical biochemistry or liver markers in a way that would suggest toxicity. Nevertheless, we found antioxidant activity, with GPx and GST activities increased in milk. GPx activity was also greater in serum and TBARS levels were lower in serum of sheep supplemented with VB on day 45 postpartum; both of these are positive results in terms of health of the sheep. In tilapia, Baldissera *et al.* (2019) also found similar results. The authors observed greater total antioxidant capacity and lower lipid peroxidation in the livers of fish supplemented with VB. This suggests an antioxidant effect of plant choline. Koujalagi et al. (2018), in a study on supplementation of cows in the pre- and postpartum transition period with plant choline (20 grams per 100 kg body weight) and another herbal product with liver function (Livoliv®), found that supplementation minimized the effects of negative energy balance and metabolic disturbances during the transition period.

There was a reduction in the levels of calcium during the study for the animals that received the biocolina, since it surprised us, because we expected that the product helps in the balance of this mineral during the transition period. We believe that the data differed little between groups because the dose of choline contained in the biocolina is low, and of the 5 g of biocolina supplied, it generated little amount of choline available to the sheep's organism.

There are still no concrete data indicating whether there is a difference between the bioavailability of VB and choline chloride. Assessing the doses of choline used in other studies, we believe that the dose of VB needed to improve the health and performance of sheep in transition is higher than used. Furthermore, this study had some limitations, because there were ewes of different ages in both groups (second to the sixth calving); lactating lambs may affect the behavior of ewes during milking (not all milk produced was milked, because females stocked milk to feed lamb after milking). This could explain the lower milk production in the period (30 to 45 days postpartum) that is considered the time of peak production for sheep. Due to these limitations, a future study focusing on productive efficiency will be carried out, using a standardized group of sheep at the beginning of lactation with higher doses of VB.

# **5.** Conclusion

We found that, over time, VB supplementation maintained lactation persistence in the treated group. VB supplementation had no effect on milk composition and quality, except for higher activity of glutathione enzymes (GPx and GST) in milk at the end of the experiment. During the transition period, hematological and biochemical variables were not influenced by VB supplementation. Nevertheless, after the transition period, as well as at the peak of production, consumption of VB generated hepatoprotective, antioxidant and immunological effects, all of which are desirable for animal health.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

# Acknowledgements

We thank FAPESC, CAPES, CNPq, UDESC (PROMOP grant) for financial support. We also thank *Cabanha Chapecó* for making the animals and the facility available for this study.

# References

AOAC International, 1990. Association of Official Analytical Chemistry. Official methods of analysis. 287 15.ed. Virginia: Association of Analytical Chemist.

Baldi A, Pinotti L. 2006. Choline metabolism in high-producing dairy cows: Metabolic and nutritional basis. Canadian Journal of Animal Science 86 (2): 207-212.

Baldissera MD, Souza CF, Baldisserotto B, Zimmer F, Paiano D, Petrolli TG, Da Silva AS. 2019. Vegetable choline improves growth performance, energetic metabolism, and antioxidant capacity of fingerling Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). Aquaculture 501: 224–229.

Bell AW. 1995. Regulation of organic nutrient metabolism during transition from late pregnancy to early lactation. Journal of Animal Science, 73 (9), 2804-2809.

Best CH, Huntsman ME. 1935. The effect of choline on the liver fat of rats in various states of nutrition. Journal of Physiology 83 (3): 255-274.

Best CH, Mawson, MEH, McHenry EW, Ridout JH. 1936. The effect of diets low in choline. The Journal of Physiology, 86 (3): 315–322.

Berchielli TT, Pires AV, Oliveira SG. 2011. Nutrição de ruminantes. 2. ed. Jaboticabal, SP: FUNEP, p. 616.

Bertechini AG. 2006. Nutrição de monogástricos. Lavras: Ed. UFLA, p. 107.

Beutler E. 1984. Superoxide dismutase. Red Cell Metabolism. A Manual of Biochemical Methods. Grune & Stratton, Philadelphia p. 83-85.

Blanch A. 2016. Uso de colina natural em alimentación de aves. Nutrinews, Setembro. p. 113-119.

Buege JA, Aust SD. 1978. Microssomal lipid peroxidation, Methods Enzymol. 52: 302-309.

Calderano AA, Nunes RV, Rodrigueiro RJB, César RA. 2015. Replacement of choline chloride by a vegetal source of choline in diets for broilers. Brazilian Animal Science 16 (1): 37-44.

Camacho JH, Canul AJC, Lugo FC, Vázquez AP, Benavides LM, Ferreyra ES, Menocal JA. 2018. Avances de la Investigación Sobre Producción Animal y Seguridad Alimentaria em México. Primera edición. – Morelia, Michoacán, México.

Crosby M, Mendoza-Martinez GD, Relling A, Vazquez VA, Lee-Rangel HA, Martinez J A, Oviedo M. 2017. Influence of supplemental choline on milk yield, fatty acid profile, and postpartum weight changes in suckling ewes. Journal of Dairy Science 100 (2): 125.

Drackley JK. 1999. Biology of dairy cows during the transition period: The final frontier? Journal of dairy science 82: 2259-2273.

De Veth MJ, Artegoitia VM, Campagna SR, Lapierre H, Harte F, Girard CL. 2016. Choline absorption and evaluation of bioavailability markers when supplementing choline to lactating dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 99 (12), 9732–9744.

Erdman RA, Shaver rd, Vandersall JH. 1984. Dietary Choline for the Lactating Cow: Possible Effects on Milk Fat Synthesis. Journal of Dairy Science 67: 410-415.

Fernandes Junior AC, Barros MM, Pezzato LE, Guimarães IG, Santos VG, Padovani CR. 2010. Productive performance of Nile tilapia fed with dietary choline levels. Acta Scientiarum Animal Sciences 32 (2): 163-167.

Fernandes LB, Franzolin R, Franco AVM, Carvalho G. 2008. Organic additives in concentrate supplement of grazing beef cattle. Brazilian Journal Health Animal Production 9 (2): 231-238.

Gangane GR, Gaikwad NZ, Ravikanth K, Maini S. 2010. The Comparative effects of synthetic choline and herbal choline on hepatic lipid metabolism in broilers. Veterinary World 3 (7): 318-320.

Godínez-Cruz J, Cifuentes-López O, Cayetano J, Lee-Rangel H, Mendoza G, Vázquez A, Roque A. 2015. Effect of choline inclusion on lamb performance and meat characteristics. Journal Animal Science 93 (Suppl. 3): 766.

Guedes LF, Santos D, Alves LRN, Andrade PAD, Borges I. 2015. Influence of maternal nutrition on lamb performance. Revista Eletrônica Nutritime, 12 (4): 4115 – 4121.

Khosravinia H, Chethen OS, Umakantha B, Nourmohammadi R. 2015. Effects of Lipotropic Products on Productive Performance, Liver Lipid and Enzymes Activity in Broiler Chickens. Poultry Science Journal 3 (2): 113-120.

Koujalagi S, Chhabra S, Randhawa SNS, Singh R, Randhawa CS, Kashyap N. 2018. Effect of herbal bio choline supplementation on oxidative stress and biochemical parameters in transition dairy cows. The Pharma Innovation Journal 7 (4): 842-847.

Kupke, I.R., Zeugner, S., 1978. Quantitative high-performance thin-layer chromatography of lipids in plasma and liver homogenates after direct application of 0.5-microliter samples to the silica-gel layer. Journal of Chromatography. 146(2):261-71.

Li Z, Agellon LB, Vance DE. 2005. Phosphatidylcholine homeostasis and liver failure. THE Journal Of Biological Chemistry 280 (45): 37798–37802.

Martínez-Aispuro JA, Mendoza GD, Cordero-Mora JL, Ayala-Monter MA, Sánchez-Torres MT, Figueroa-Velasco JL, Vázquez-Silva G, Gloria-Trujillo A. 2019. Evaluation of an herbal choline feed plant additive in lamb feedlot rations. Brazilian Journal of Animal Science 48: 1-7.

McDowell LR. 2000. Vitamins in animal and human nutrition. 2. ed. Iowa State University Press, Ames, IA, United States of America.

Mellor DJ. 1983. Nutritional and placental determinants of foetal growth rate in sheep and consequences for the newborn lamb. British Veterinary Journal 139: 307-324.

Mena Bustamante CE. 2018. Adicion de cuatro niveles de fosfatidilcolina (biocholine) em la dieta de gallinas Lohmann Brown Classic em terceira fase de produccion. Trabajo de titulación, prévio a la obtención del título de ingeiero agropecuário. Universidad de las fuerzas armadas, Sangolquí, Equador.

Michailoff AA, Dall Agnol DD, Bianchi AE, Balistieri FS, Fiorentin EL, Rocha RX, Bragança JF. M. 2017. Hill protected from ruminal degradation and its effect on the prevention of pregnancy toxemia in dairy ewes. Veterinary and Animal Science 24: 144-150.

Pompeu MA, Lara LJC, Baião NC, Ecco R, Cançado SV, Rocha JSR, Machado ALC, Vasconcelos RJC. 2011. Choline supplementation in diets for male broilers in the early

rearing phase. Brazilian Archive of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science 63 (6): 1446-1452.

Raoofi, A., Jafarian, M., Safi, S., & Vatankhah, M. (2013). Fluctuations in energy-related metabolites during the peri-parturition period in Lori-Bakhtiari ewes. Small Ruminant Research, 109 (1), 64–68.

Rodríguez-Guerrero V, Lizarazo AC, Ferraro S, Suárez N, Miranda LA, Mendoza GD. 2018. Effect of herbal cholineand rumen-protected methionine on lamb performance and blood metabolites. South African Journal of Animal Science 48: 427-434.

Sharma BK, Erdman RA. 1989. In Vitro Degradation of Choline from Selected Foodstuffs and Choline Supplements. Journal of Dairy Science, 72(10), 2772–2776.

Silva DJ, Queiroz AC. 2002. Food Analysis: Chemical and Biological Methods. 3. ed. Viçosa, MG: UFV.

Soares FAP, Neto ÁVB, Guimarães JA, Dantas AC, Carvalho CCD, dos Santos Marques AV, Soares PC. 2009. Metabolism of predictive indicators of pregnancy toxemia in Dorper sheep in the final third of pregnancy, parturition and postpartum. Brazilian Animal Science 197-203.

Sobrinho AGS, Batista AMV, Siqueira ER, Ortolani EL, Susin I, Silva JFC, Teixeira JC, Borba M. F. S. 1996. Sheep Nutrition. 1. ed. Jaboticabal, SP: FUNEP, p. 256-257.

Sobrinho AGS. 2006. Sheep Rearing. 3. ed. Jaboticabal, SP: FUNEP, p. 237-238.

Van Soest, P.J., 1994. Nutritional Ecology of the Ruminant. 2ed, Cornell University Press. Ithaca, 476p.

Wendel A. 1981. Glutathione peroxidase. Methods in Enzymology 77: 325-333.

Xavier HT, Izar MC, Faria Neto JR, Assad MH, Rocha VZ, Sposito AC, Fonseca FA, dos Santos JE, Santos RD, Bertolami MC, Faludi AA, Martinez TLR, Diament J, Guimarães A, Forti NA, Moriguchi E, Chagas ACP, Coelho OR, Ramires JAF. 2013. V Brazilian Directive on Dyslipidemia and Prevention of Atherosclerosis. Brazilian Archive of Cardiology 101 (4): 25 -36.

Yao ZM, Vance DE. 1988. The active synthesis of phosphatidylcholine is required for very low density lipoprotein secretion from rat hepatocytes. Journal of Biological Chemistry 263 (6): 2998-3004.

Zeisel S H. Epstein MF, Wurtman RJ. 1980. Elevated choline concentration in neonatal plasma. Life Sciences 26 (21): 1827–1831.

Zeisel SH, Wurtman RJ. 1981. Developmental changes in rat blood choline concentration. Biochemical Journal 198: 565-570.

Zeisel SH, Costa KA. 2009. Choline: an essential nutrient for public health. Nutrition Reviews 67 (11): 615–623.

Zeisel SH. 2013. Nutrition in pregnancy: the argument for including a source of choline. International Journal of Women's Health 5: 193-199.

Ingredients prepartum	As fed (kg/dav)	Dry matter (kg/day)			
Corn silage (kg)	2.50		0.98		
Concentrate $(kg)$	0.80		0.50		
Tifton hav $(kg)$	0.30	0.04			
Ingredients postpartum	0.50		0.25		
Corn silage (kg)	3.50		1.37		
Concentrate (kg)	1.50		1.19		
Tifton hay (kg)	0.50		0.42		
			Concentrate		
Chemical composition	Corn silage	Hay	Prepartum	Postpartum	
DM (g/kg)	392	844	806	796	
Ash (g/kg DM)	47.0	72.0	61.7	43.6	
CP (g/kg DM)	71.9	118	149	204	
NDF (g/kg DM)	256	583	83.0	181	
ADF (g/kg DM)	135	331	41.8	47.5	
EE (g/kg DM)	40.8	37.5	12.5	12.3	

Table 1. Ingredients and chemical composition of ingredients and experimental diets.

Ingredients present in 100 kg of concentrate<sup>1</sup>: wet grain corn (65%), soy meal (30%) and buffering lactation nucleus (5%). Buffer core composition: Calcium (min. 170 g and max 190 g); Phosphorus (min) 30 g; Sulfur (min) 10 g; Magnesium (min) 30 g; Sodium (min) 60 g; Potassium (min) 14 g; Cobalt (min) 25 mg; Chromium (min) 5 mg; Iron (min) 590 mg; Iodine (min) 25 mg; Manganese (min) 600 mg; Selenium (min) 9 mg; Zinc (min) 1,150 mg; Fluoride (max) 700 mg; Vitamin A (min) 110,000 IU; Vitamin D3 (min) 24,000 IU; Vitamin E (min) 300 IU; Sodium monensin (min) 500 mg; Saccharomyces cerevisiae 2.5 x 10<sup>10</sup> CFU.

<sup>2.</sup> Note: DM (Dry matter), Ash, CP (Crude protein), NDF (neutral detergent fiber), ADF (acid detergent fiber) and EE (ethereal extract).

Variables <sup>1</sup>	Treatments <sup>2</sup>		SEM	P-values	
variables -	Control	Treated	SEIVI	Treatment	Treatment × day
Daily milk production (L)	1.94	2.23	0.11	0.10	0.36
Persistence of lactation					
(%)					
15 to 30 d postpartum	88.6	96.4	3.6	0.04	-
15 to 45 d postpartum	62.0	80.3	8.7	0.01	-
Milk analyses					
Protein (%)	3.93	3.84	0.19	0.74	0.25
Fat (%)	5.70	5.47	0.24	0.47	0.83
Lactose (%)	5.35	5.26	0.22	0.76	0.73
Total dry extract (%)	14.7	14.3	0.40	0.50	0.73
SCC $(x10^{6} / mL)$				0.17	0.07
d 15 postpartum	2.49	1.37	0.40		
d 30 postpartum	1.02	1.09	0.40		
d 45 postpartum	$1.43^{a}$	$0.64^{b}$	0.42		
TBARS(nmol	7.94	8.47	0.80	0.61	0.34
MDA/mL)					
GPx (U/mg protein)				0.05	0.09
d 15 postpartum	3.76	3.72	0.93		
d 30 postpartum	$2.96^{b}$	$7.42^{a}$	0.97		
d 45 postpartum	3.47	5.15	0.98		
GST (U/mg protein)				0.02	0.04
d 15 postpartum	5.59	6.55	1.07		
d 30 postpartum	5.89 <sup>b</sup>	9.49 <sup>a</sup>	1.06		
d 45 postpartum	3.66 <sup>b</sup>	7.89 <sup>a</sup>	1.14		

**Table 2.** Production, composition and milk quality of sheep supplemented with vegetable choline during the transition period (20 days before delivery to 45 days of lactation).

<sup>1</sup>SCC, somatic cell count, GPx, glutathione peroxidase, GST, glutathione S-transferase.

<sup>2</sup>Treatments: control, without supplementation, treated, 5 g of vegetable choline/animal/day.

Variables <sup>1</sup>	Treatments <sup>2</sup>		SEM	P-values		
variables	Control	Treated	- SEM	Treatment	Treatment × day	
Erythrocytes ( $x10^{6}\mu$ L)	9.26	10.5	0.73	0.23	0.18	
Hematocrit (%)	32.3	29.6	1.60	0.25	0.62	
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	10.1	11.5	0.86	0.35	0.45	
Leukocytes (x $10^3 \mu$ L)	18.2	23.0	2.53	0.18	0.84	
Ketone bodies (mmol/L)	0.59	0.67	0.15	0.24	0.59	
AST (U/L)				0.05	0.04	
d 20 prepartum	62.0	58.0	9.4			
d 10 prepartum	64.9	67.8	10.7			
d of delivery	72.3	70.3	11.8			
d 17 postpartum	125	115	10.3			
d 15 postpartum	123	117	10.2			
d 30 postpartum	143	104	10.2			
d 45 postpartum	129 <sup>a</sup>	83.6 <sup>b</sup>	10.7			
GGT (U/L)				0.04	0.05	
d 20 prepartum	65.9	54.2	10.5			
d 10 prepartum	76.8	71.3	11.5			
d of delivery	75.0	73.1	12.0			
d 17 postpartum	109	99.1	10.9			
d 15 postpartum	134	157	10.95			
d 30 postpartum	150	124	10.95			
d 45 postpartum	171 <sup>a</sup>	128 <sup>b</sup>	11.22			

**Table 3.** Blood count, ketone bodies and liver enzymes of sheep supplemented with vegetable choline during the transition period (20 days before delivery to 45 days of lactation).

<sup>1</sup>AST, aspartate aminotransferase, GGT, gamma glutamyltransferase.

<sup>2</sup>Treatments: control, without supplementation, treated, 5 g of vegetable choline/animal/day.

	Treat	ments <sup>1</sup>		P-values	
Variables	Control	Trantad	SEM	Treatment	Treatment
	Control	Treateu			$\times$ day
Total protein (g/dL)	7.53	7.60	0.13	0.76	0.80
Albumin (g/dL)				0.08	0.03
d 20 prepartum	3.31	3.26	0.10		
d 10 prepartum	2.73	2.88	0.11		
d of delivery	2.83	2.73	0.13		
d 7 postpartum	2.83	2.85	0.11		
d 15 postpartum	4.03 <sup>a</sup>	3.41 <sup>b</sup>	0.11		
d 30 postpartum	3.85 <sup>a</sup>	3.40 <sup>b</sup>	0.11		
d 45 postpartum	3.54	3.56	0.13		
Globulin (g/dL)				0.32	0.04
d 20 prepartum	5.13	4.91	0.16		
d 10 prepartum	4.97	5.12	0.19		
d of delivery	4.84	4.74	0.17		
d 7 postpartum	5.09	5.15	0.17		
d 15 postpartum	3.09 <sup>b</sup>	3.85 <sup>a</sup>	0.17		
d 30 postpartum	3.01	3.33	0.17		
d 45 postpartum	$3.50^{b}$	4.32 <sup>a</sup>	0.17		
Glucose (mg/dL)				0.64	0.09
d 20 prepartum	75.3	81.1	6.05		
d 10 prepartum	55.7	55.9	6.89		
d of delivery	75.4 <sup>b</sup>	$105^{a}$	7.25		
d 7 postpartum	69.4	53.7	6.30		
d 15 postpartum	80.5	77.4	6.30		
d 30 postpartum	72.5	71.6	6.30		
d 45 postpartum	70.0	67.9	7.26		
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	74.6	72.5	3.61	0.67	0.87
Triglycerides	33.0	31.5	1.53	0.47	0.17
(mg/dL)					
Urea (mg/dL)	26.9	27.3	1.36	0.84	0.84

**Table 4.** Serum biochemistry of sheep supplemented with plant choline during the transition period (20 days before delivery to 45 days of lactation).

<sup>1</sup>Treatments: control, without supplementation, treated, 5 g of vegetable choline/animal/day.

gradatione of t	(	<u>Treatn</u>	nents <sup>1</sup>	P-value		
Variables	-	Control	Treated	SFM	Treatment Treatment	
v al lables		Control	ITtateu	SENI	1 i catiliciit	
						day
TBARS	(nmol	4.80	4.50	0.11	0.10	0.55
MDA/mL)						
GPx (U/mg pro	otein)				0.88	0.05
d 20 prepar	tum	0.65	0.56	0.08		
d 10 prepar	tum	0.30	0.31	0.08		
d of deliver	сy	0.39	0.29	0.09		
d 7 postpar	tum	0.39	0.26	0.08		
d 15 postpa	irtum	0.46	0.46	0.09		
d 30 postpa	irtum	0.32	0.46	0.08		
d 45 postpa	irtum	$0.19^{b}$	$0.42^{a}$	0.08		
GST (U/mg pro	otein)				0.34	0.03
d 20 prepar	tum	12.2	11.5	0.70		
d 10 prepar	tum	6.96	7.21	0.70		
d of deliver	сy	3.91	4.77	0.85		
d 7 postpar	tum	3.76	5.01	0.73		
d 15 postpa	irtum	7.29	6.81	0.73		
d 30 postpa	irtum	5.99	6.20	0.76		
d 45 postpa	irtum	4.16 <sup>b</sup>	$7.78^{a}$	0.80		

**Table 5.** Lipid peroxidation (TBARS) and activity of glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and glutathione S-transferase (GST) enzymes in serum.

<sup>1</sup>Treatments: control, without supplementation, treated, 5 g of vegetable choline/animal/day.



Figure 1: Serum calcium levels in sheep supplemented with vegetable biocholine (VB) during the transition period (20 days before delivery to 45 days of lactation). Treatments: control, without supplementation, treated, 5 g of VB/animal/day. \* Represent significate differences between treatments each day (P < 0.05).

# 2.4. MANUSCRITO II

# Vegetable biocholine supplementation for lactating ewes under heat stress improves milk quality, productive efficiency and stimulates the antioxidant system

Davi F. Alba<sup>a</sup>, Karoline Leal<sup>a</sup>, Marily H. Cunha<sup>a</sup>, Gilneia da Rosa<sup>a</sup>, Hiam Marcon<sup>b</sup>, Thalia F. Saldanha<sup>c</sup>, Carine F. Souza<sup>d</sup>, Matheus D. Baldissera<sup>e</sup>, Claiton A. Zotti<sup>f</sup>, Renata L. Kavalek<sup>g</sup>, Aniela P. Kempka<sup>g</sup>, Aleksandro S. Da Silva<sup>a,h,\*</sup>

> De acordo com normas para publicação em: Animal Feed Science and Technology Submetido

# Vegetable biocholine supplementation for lactating ewes under heat stress improves milk quality, productive efficiency and stimulates the antioxidant system

Davi F. Alba<sup>a</sup>, Karoline Leal<sup>a</sup>, Marily H. Cunha<sup>a</sup>, Gilneia da Rosa<sup>a</sup>, Hiam Marcon<sup>b</sup>, Thalia

F. Saldanha<sup>c</sup>, Carine F. Souza<sup>d</sup>, Matheus D. Baldissera<sup>e</sup>, Claiton A. Zotti<sup>f</sup>, Renata L. Kavalek<sup>g</sup>, Aniela P. Kempka<sup>g</sup>, Aleksandro S. Da Silva<sup>a,h,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Graduate Program in Animal Science, Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina (UDESC), Chapecó, Brazil.

<sup>b</sup> Graduate in Animal Science, UDESC, Chapecó, Brazil

<sup>c</sup> Graduate in Veterinary Medicine, Universidade da Fronteira Sul, Realeza, Brazil

<sup>d</sup> Graduate Program in Toxicological Biochemistry, Universidade Federal de Santa Maria

(UFSM), Santa Maria, Brazil.

<sup>e</sup> Graduate Program in Pharmacology, UFSM, Santa Maria, Brazil.

<sup>f</sup> Department of Animal Science, UNOESC, Xanxerê, Brazil.

<sup>g</sup> Department of Food Engineering, UDESC, Pinhalzinho, Brazil.

<sup>h</sup> Department of Animal Science, UDESC, Chapecó, Brazil.

Corresponding author: Rua Beloni Trombeta Zanin, 680E, Bairro Santo Antônio, 89.815-630, Chapecó, SC, Brazil. Tel: +55 49 2049 – 9560.

E-mail: aleksandro\_ss@yahoo.com.br

#### Abstract

Choline supplements in animal diets are usually provided as choline chloride, a synthetic form; nevertheless, recent studies have illustrated the benefits of a natural substitute based on plant extracts, i.e., vegetable biocholine (VB). In the present study, we determined whether VB supplements in the diets of Lacaune ewes at peak lactation during summer would minimize the negative effects of heat on health, production and milk quality. We also aimed to determine the characteristic effects of VB as a food additive. We used Lacaune ewes at 30 days of lactation, divided into three groups: T0 (control, without VB), T5 (5 g of VB/animal/day) and T10 (10 g of VB/animal/day). The experimental period lasted 20 days. Blood and milk samples were collected at various time points. Groups T5 and T10 had significant higher production and better productive efficiency on day 20 than did group T0. Group T5 consumed more food, and consequently had higher feed efficiency. Milk composition (fat, protein, lactose) did not significantly differ between treatments; however, somatic cell count (SCC) in milk was significantly lower in ewes that consumed VB. Supplementation significantly reduced lipoperoxidation (LPO) and levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in sheep's milk, associated with increased levels of non-enzymatic antioxidants (non-protein thiols). In the serum of sheep that consumed VB (T10) we found significantly higher levels of globulins than in T0. Furthermore, in serum, we found that animals in T5 and T10 had significantly greater total antioxidant capacity levels associated with reduced LPO and ROS. These data suggest that VB supplementation in sheep diets stimulates antioxidant responses and increases the concentration of globulins in a manner beneficial to sheep health, as well as generating improvements in the productive efficiency and quality of milk.

Keywords: Supplements, Biocholine, Production, Lactation, Health animal.

### **1. Introduction**

In 2017, the size of the Brazilian sheep herd was estimated at over 17 million animals, making it the fourth largest in Brazil (IBGE, 2018), a country with vast territorial area and substantial climate variability throughout the year. Dairy sheep activity is increasing in the market because of its nutritional superiority to cow's milk (i.e., higher total solids content) (Pavic et al., 2002), despite being produced in smaller amounts. Currently, several industries are seeking to increase production and improve the quality of animal products, as well as to achieve sustainability and maximize animal welfare in order to meet an increasingly demanding consumer market. Maintaining sheep in thermal comfort during the summer is a substantial challenge for several reasons, not least because of the fact that the length or coloring of wool or fur affects thermoregulation (McManus et al., 2009; Leitão et al., 2013), even in animals that are shorn during the summer.

Sheep milk can be produced in high yields even for small and medium producers (EPAGRI, 2019) because of its high protein and fat content, both of which are desirable in dairy products such as cheese and yogurt (FAO, 2013). Sheep health influences milk composition and quality (Alba et al., 2019b); therefore, we seek improvements in production and nutrition systems, with emphasis on investments in the selection of appropriate breeds. Such dairy sheep breeds as East Friesian and Lacaune are most common in Brazil (Ticiani et al., 2013). Milk nutritional requirements increase substantially from late gestation to peak production, and especially during the peripartum period there are lower levels of endogenous antioxidants (Bernabucci et al., 2005); this condition often stresses the capacity of the liver, an organ responsible for functions such as detoxification (Adler, 1970; Baird, 1977; Rukkwamsuk et al. 1999, Kokkonen et al., 2005). Feed additives with functional properties and antioxidant capacities such as grape

flour and acai oil have shown high antioxidant capacities in dairy sheep diets (Alba et al., 2019a; Santos et al., 2019). We believe that hepatoprotective feed additives may be beneficial to animal health and may improve production. Among the supplements often used as food supplements in farm animals is choline, a nutrient that is part of animal and plant cells (Vieira et al., 2001). Choline is an essential nutrient for animals because it has lipotropic effects and participates in processes fundamental to metabolism, including the construction and maintenance of cell structure and formation of acetylcholine (Berchielli et al., 2011). The primary form of choline on the market is synthetic choline chloride; however, a new formulation, known as vegetable biocholine (VB), is being marketed in the form of phosphatidylcholine (Souza et al., 2020). Supplementation with VB has shown potential to improve livestock production: 25% increase in weight gain in Nile tilapia (Baldissera et al., 2019); up to 18% increase in average daily weight gain in beef cattle (Fernandes et al. 2008); increased colostrum production in pre- and postpartum dairy cows (Valencia Narváez 2019); and improvement in hepatic metabolism in sheep and rams, reflected in greater serum levels of non-esterified fatty acids, glucose and cholesterol available to meet animal demands (Rodriguez-Guerrero et al. 2018).

We hypothesized that VB supplementation would modulate liver metabolism, as well as stimulate antioxidant responses and consequently improve the health of ewes exposed to intense summer heat. The aim of this study was to determine whether VB supplementation for Lacaune ewes at peak lactation during the summer would have positive effects on animal health, milk production and quality.

#### 2. Material and Methods

#### 2.1. Choline

Biocholine (Biocholine Powder<sup>®</sup>) was purchased from Nutriquest Technofeed Company, produced from *Azadirachta indica*, *Citrullus colocynthis*, *Trachyspermum ammi*, *Achyranthes aspera* plants as described in the commercial product feed tag. The chemical composition of the product is displayed in Table 1.

The commercial product is known as Biocholine Powder® contains guaranteed levels of total phosphatidylcholine (natural choline conjugates) of 16 g/kg VB. A sample of this additive was sent to a specialized laboratory for actual quantification of phosphatidylcholine in VB using high-performance thin-layer chromatography (Kupke and Zeugner 1978); we found that the levels of total phosphatidylcholine were 16.8 g/kg.

# 2.2. Animals and experimental design

The experiment was conducted at a commercial dairy sheep farm in Chapecó, Santa Catarina, Brazil. Thirty multiparous lactating sheep  $[30 \pm 3 \text{ days} (d) \text{ milking}]$  of the Lacaune breed were stratified by body weight (65.6 ± 3.5 kg), age, date of lambing, and milk production and were assigned randomly to 1 of 3 treatments (10 sheep/treatment): no choline supplementation (control group; T0); 5 g VB/animal/day (T5) or 10 g VB/animal/day (T10) added in the concentrate (grain and mineral mixture). We used the feed available on the farm in proportions determined by the owners; we only added the biocholine to the concentrate. Each animal received 1.2 kg/d of concentrate, approximately 4.0 kg/d of corn silage (green matter) divided into 2 daily feedings (0700h and 1700h; Table 1). To standardize feed intake, all sheep were fed individually. Concentrate was offered first and subsequently (approximately 15 min. later), silage was offered. The sheep were housed in a covered feedlot with wood shavings on the floor and

were allocated to 3 pens (1 treatment/pen) located side-by-side. The trial occurred over 20 days with first 14 days set as the adaptation period to the experimental diet.

The experiment was carried out in the south of Brazil, in a shed without air conditioning, with lateral openings. The experiment took place during the summer months and the temperature was measured inside the building during the day. The minimum and maximum temperatures recorded were 14.4 °C and 38.2 °C, respectively. The maximum and minimum temperatures, as well as the temperature-humidity index (THI; Mader et al., 2006) during the experimental period are presented in Figure 1.

#### 2.3. Feed Analysis

# 2.3.1. Chemical composition of concentrate, and silage

Feed samples were dried in a forced ventilation oven at 55 °C for 72 h, ground to 1-mm size in a Wiley mill, and analyzed for chemical composition: dry matter (DM), crude protein (CP), neutral detergent fiber (NDF), and acid detergent fiber (ADF). It is important to note that  $\alpha$ -amylase was used in the analysis of both concentrate and silage diets (Van Soest et al. 1991).

# 2.3.2. Determination of total phenolic content (TPC) and determination of antioxidant activity by elimination of radicals by DPPH in vegetable choline and diets

For extraction, we used 0.5 grams of samples, and added 50 mL of distilled water. The mixture was placed in an ultrasonic bath (70 W) for 3 hours and was set in the dark for an additional three hours. The supernatants were filtered using quantitative filter paper (Whatman No. 40) and stored in 100-ml volumetric flasks wrapped in aluminum foil. Immediately after extraction, the extracts were stored in Eppendorf tubes and kept frozen at -80 °C, if necessary and for no longer than 24 hours, until use (Dacoreggio et al., 2019).

The TPC quantification was performed using the Folin-Ciocalteau colorimetric method. An aliquot of each diluted sample was mixed with 0.5 mL Folin-Ciocalteau reagent, and stirred for 1 minute. We then added 2 mL of sodium carbonate (20%) and stirred for 30 s. After incubation for 2 h in the dark, the absorbance at 750 nm was read against the prepared blank. The standard curve was prepared using solutions of gallic acid in methanol. The concentration of total phenolic compounds in the extracts in gallic acid equivalents was calculated using an equation obtained from the standard gallic acid graph and was expressed as mg of gallic acid equivalent per 100 g of dry sample (mg EGA/g). Data were expressed as the mean analysis  $\pm$  SD of triplicates (Bonoli et al., 2004; Shi et al. 2011).

The evaluation of free radical scavenging activity of the extracts was based on the measurement of antioxidant reduction capacity by the DPPH radical. Five dilutions of each extract were prepared in test tubes. Reaction mixtures were prepared from diluted extracts. In a dark environment, 0.3 mL of each extract was diluted in 2.7 mL of DPPH radical (40  $\mu$ g/mL). After incubation for 1 h in the dark, the absorbance at 515 nm was read against the prepared blank. Activity was expressed as the IC<sub>50</sub> value ( $\mu$ g/mL), defined as the concentration of antioxidant required to eliminate 50% of the DPPH present in the test solution. All tests were performed in triplicate and IC<sub>50</sub> values were reported as means ± SD of triplicates (Brand-Williams et al., 1995, Shi et al. 2011).

The TPC and  $IC_{50}$  of BV and concentrates are displayed in Table 1. We found that the concentrations of TPC were low in VB, and not-different of concentrate (T0, T5 and T10), suggesting that VB supplementation did not change TPC levels. Although  $IC_{50}$  activity was high in VB, it was not sufficient to increase the  $IC_{50}$  in the concentrate (T0, T5 and T10).

# 2.4. Milk measurement

Individual milk production was evaluated twice a day (0600h and 1700h) on days 1, 7, 14, 17 and 20 using a meter (True Test<sup>®</sup>, Auckland, New Zealand). Milk production was measured by determining the sum of both milking events. Productive efficiency (%) was calculated individually based on milk production on days 1, 14 and 20 of the experiment and the increase in milk production from days 1 to 14 and from days 1 to 20 in each group. The difference in milk production was assigned a percentage that was then used in the statistical analysis of productive efficiency. The ratio between liters of milk produced per kg of concentrate consumed (green matter) was also calculated, as was the relationship between the quantity of food consumed (green matter) and the volume of milk produced.

# 2.5. Blood and milk collection

One milk sample (40 mL) per animal was collected using WB HI/Pullout equipment (Tru-Test<sup>®</sup>) that collects a homogeneous sample from each animal for the entire milking) on days 1, 14 and 20. Two milliliters of milk sample were transferred to microtubes and stored at -20 °C until further analysis.

Blood samples were collected from the jugular vein in blood collection tubes without anticoagulant (for biochemical, oxidant and serum antioxidant analysis) at 0700h before animals were fed. Immediately after collection, blood samples were stored on ice. Blood samples without heparin were centrifuged at 5100 g for 10 minutes. Serum was harvested and stored at -20 °C until further analysis.

# 2.6. Milk analysis

#### 2.6.1. Chemical composition

Concentrations of fat, protein, lactose and total dry extract were determined using an infrared analyzer (LactoStar Funke Gerber<sup>®</sup>). Somatic cell count (SCC) was determined using a digital counter (Ekomilk Scan Somatic Cells Analyzer<sup>®</sup>).

# 2.6.2 Analysis of oxidants and antioxidants

The activity of the superoxide dismutase (SOD) was determined according to the pyrogallol self-oxidation principle (inhibition in the presence of SOD). The variation in optical density was determined kinetically for two minutes at 420 nm at ten second intervals according to the methodology described by Beutler (1984). Activity was expressed as U mg/protein. Antioxidant capacity against peroxyl radicals (ACAP) concentrations were determined according to Amado et al. (2009) and results were presented as FU/mg of protein.

Levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in milk were analyzed using the method described by Ali et al. (1992). Aliquots of 10  $\mu$ L of serum were incubated with 12  $\mu$ L of dichlorofluorescein per 1 mm at 37 °C for 1 h in the dark. Fluorescence was determined using 488 nm for excitation and 520 nm for emission and the results were expressed as U DCF/mL. Levels of lipid peroxidation (LPO) were measured using the methodology proposed by Monserrat et al. (2003). Results were expressed nmol CHP/mL.

#### 2.7. Serum analysis

#### 2.7.1. Biochemistry

Aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), gamma glutamyltransferase (GGT), total protein (TP), albumin, urea, triglycerides and cholesterol were measured using a semi-automated analyzer (BioPlus 2000<sup>®</sup>) with commercial kits (Analisa<sup>®</sup>, Gold Analisa Diagnóstica, Belo Horizonte, Brazil). Globulin levels were calculated using the following formula: total protein level – albumin level.

#### 2.7.2. Serum oxidant and antioxidant analysis

Determination of superoxide dismutase (SOD) enzyme levels were performed according to Beutler's (1984) methodology. Non-protein thiols (NPSH) were measured following the methodology of Sedlak and Lindsay (1968). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) were quantified according to Ali et al. (1992). Lipid peroxidation (LPO) was obtained following the method of Monserrat et al. (2003).

# 2.7.3. Enzymes of energetic metabolism

Serum creatine kinase (CK) activity was assayed based on the colorimetric method established by Hughes (1962), estimating creatine levels at a wavelength of 540 nm, and the results were expressed as nmol creatine formed/min/mg of protein. Pyruvate kinase (PK) activity was assayed according to protocol established by Leong et al. (1981) and activity was expressed as nmol pyruvate formed/min/mg of protein.

On days 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19, feed intake was measured by subtracted orts weight from the amount of feed offered daily.

#### **2.9. Statistical analysis**

An individual ewe was considered the experimental unit for all analyses. All dependent variables were tested for normality using univariate procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC, USA; version 9.4) and were log transformed when needed. Then, all data were analyzed using the MIXED procedure of SAS, with Satterthwaite approximation to determine the denominator degrees of freedom for the test of fixed effects. Persistence of lactation, feed intake and feed conversion were tested for fixed effect of treatment using animal (treatment) as random effects. All others variables of the study were analyzed as repeated measures and tested for fixed effects of treatment, day, and treatment  $\times$  day, using animal (treatment) as random variables and animal (treatment) as subjects. All results obtained on d 0 for each variable were included as covariates in each respective analysis, but were removed from the model when P > 0.10. The firstorder autoregressive covariance structure was selected for serum concentration of ROS and SOD and milk concentration of ROS, and compound symmetric covariance structure was selected for all others variables. The covariance structures were selected according to the lowest Akaike information criterion. Means were separated using PDIFF and all results were reported as LSMEANS followed by SEM. Significance was defined when P  $\leq 0.05$ , and tendency when P > 0.05 and  $\leq 0.10$ .

# 3. Results

#### 3.1. Milk production, composition and quality

Effects of treatment × day, but not treatment (P = 0.27) were detected (P = 0.01) for milk production, and T10 ewes had grater production on day 20, compared to T0 and T5 ewes (Table 2). The T5 ewes had greater (P = 0.01) productive efficiency from day 0 to 15 and T5 and T10 ewes had greater (P = 0.01) productive efficiency from day 0 to d 20, compared to T0 ewes, respectively (Table 2). The T5 ewes had greater (P = 0.01) feed intake, compared to T0 and T10 ewes (Table 2). The T5 ewes had higher that the T0, and T10 the lower feed intake compared to T0 (P = 0.01; Table 2). Effects of treatment × day and treatment were not detected ( $P \ge 0.14$ ) for milk concentration of protein, fat and lactose (Table 2). Effects of treatment × day, but not treatment (P = 0.45) were detected (P = 0.05) for total solids, and T10 ewes had greater concentration on day 20, compared to T0 and T5 ewes (Table 2). Effects of treatment × day and treatment (P < 0.0001) for SCC, and T5 and T10 had lower concentration on day 15 and 20, compared to T0 ewes (Table 2).

#### **3.2. Serum biochemistries**

Effects of treatment × day and treatment were not detected ( $P \ge 0.11$ ) for serum concentration of glucose, total protein, albumin, cholesterol, triglycerides, urea, AST, ALT, GGT, CK and PK (Table 3). Effects of treatment × day tended to be detected (P = 0.09) and treatment were detected for serum concentration of globulin and T5 and T10 ewes had greater concentration on day 15, and T10 had greater concentration on day 20, compared to T0 ewes (Table 3).

Effects of treatment × day and treatment were detected (P < 0.01) for serum levels of LPO and ROS, and T5 and T10 ewes, had lower concentration on day 15 and 20, compared to T0 ewes (Figure 2). Effects of treatment × day, but not treatment (P = 0.29) were detected (P < 0.01) for serum concentration of NPSH, and T5 and T10 ewes, had greater concentration on day 20, compared to T0 ewes (Figure 2). Effects of treatment × day and treatment were not detected ( $P \ge 0.38$ ) for serum concentration of SOD (Figure 2).

# 3.4. Oxidants and antioxidants in sheep's milk

Effects of treatment × day, but not treatment (P = 0.59) were detected (P = 0.05) for milk levels of LPO, and T5 and T10 ewes, had lower levels on day 20, compared to T0 ewes (Figure 3). Effects of treatment × day and treatment were detected ( $P \le 0.03$ ) for milk concentration of ROS, and T5 and T10 ewes had lower concentration on day 20, compared to T0 ewes (Figure 3). Effects of treatment × day and treatment were detected (P < 0.01) for milk ACAP, and T5 and T10 ewes, had greater values on day 20, compared to T0 ewes (Figure 3). Effects treatment × day but not treatment (P = 0.96) were detected (P < 0.01) for milk concentration of SOD, and T10 ewes had greater concentration on day 20, compared to T0 and T5 ewes (Figure 3).

# 4. Discussion

Milk production is directly associated with the amount of feed available to sheep, as well as to the quality and availability of nutrients in the diet. In a study encapsulated choline chloride added to cow feed, there was an increase in milk production in supplemented animals, without changing milk fat and protein levels, as well as plasma glucose and cholesterol levels (Pinotti et al., 2003); these findings were similar to those observed in the present study. In our study, we found higher levels of total solids in the milk of sheep that ingested the highest dose of VB, a positive effect mainly because milk is mainly intended for the production of processed foods; nevertheless, the reasons that led to increased total solids need to be investigated.

Various concentrations of encapsulated choline supplements in multiparous cows promoted increased milk production in animals receiving 30 g per day, also without changing the milk composition (Xu et al., 2005), as was the case in our study. According to the authors, choline supplementation in the diets of high-yield dairy cows is essential to maintain milk yield and quality, because choline deficiency may be a limiting factor in production (Pinotti et al., 2002; Baldi and Pinotti, 2006). In our study, sheep at peak production in winter increased production when supplemented with VB.

In the present study, serum hepatic biochemical variables did not respond to supplementation, as previously described in another study (Michailoff et al., 2013). In one study, the addition of encapsulated choline in Holstein cow feed decreased blood ketone concentrations (Michailoff et al., 2013). Supplementation of protected choline to pregnant sheep reduced serum ketone levels, in addition to decreasing clinical and subclinical cases of ketosis (Michailoff et al., 2017). The lower susceptibility to ketosis in early lactating dairy cows supplemented with encapsulated choline may occur because of improvements in hepatic fat export (Zom et al., 2011). Although not reported in ruminants, hepatoprotective effects were observed by directly analyzing the livers of tilapia supplemented with VB (Baldissera et al. 2019); therefore, we cannot rule out liver protection provided by VB, because we used only indirect variables (i.e., liver enzyme levels).
According to the literature, choline chloride is the preferred source of choline used in animal diets; however, this molecule is hygroscopic, and is also considered a stressor for other nutrients (vitamins and minerals) present in the composition of concentrates (Baker, 1995) that might limit its use in animal diets. The VB used in our study includes choline conjugates, mainly in the form of phosphatidylcholine that displays natural resistance to ruminal degradation (Godínez-Cruz et al., 2015). A study in sheep showed that this biocholine has high bioavailability, as the productive results of animals supplemented with VB were similar to those receiving encapsulated choline chloride (Crosby et al., 2017). In our study, ewes receiving VB showed greater milk production, possibly related to greater passage of phosphatidylcholine through the rumen and its absorption in the intestine. Deuchler et al. (1998) found that the concentration of choline in milk was related to the amount of choline supplied in the diet, and that the quantification of choline or milk derivatives is a method that can be used to verify whether nutrient absorption has occurred. In our study, we did not evaluate choline or phosphatidylcholine levels in blood and milk; however, knowing the antioxidant activity of VB (Baldissera et al., 2019), we believe that VB was absorbed because there was a reduction in lipid peroxidation and free radicals in this milk. Pinotti et al. (2003) reported that supplementation with 20 g/animal/day of choline in cow diets increased the concentration of choline secreted in milk, i.e., 6% of the intake of choline was found in milk. In future studies, it would be interesting to measure the amount of biocholine present in sheep serum and milk.

Another interesting finding from our study was the decrease in SCC in animals supplemented with the highest dose of VB. Low SCC values mean better mammary gland health that is directly related to better quality milk produced. Animals with mastitis produce lower volumes of milk with higher cellularity as well as higher levels of oxidants (Alba et al., 2019b), factors that may affect the productive chain (microbiological quality and shelf life of milk product) (Coelho et al., 2014). Because choline participates in cell formation, cell signaling and tissue integrity (Zeisel and Blusztajn, 1994; Zeisel, 1998; Pompeu et al., 2011), we believe that animals receiving VB may have stronger cell structures, with consequent reduction in desquamation of the udder secretory epithelium, thereby reducing SCCs. Studies suggest that lack of choline stimulates apoptosis in nerve cells (Holmes-McNary et al., 1997; Yen et al., 2001) and hepatocytes (Albright et al., 1996) and causes DNA damage and lymphocyte apoptosis (Costa et al., 2006). Because of this, we believe that supplementation increased the availability of choline, reducing apoptosis of mammary gland cells, thereby reducing SCC in milk. Importantly, in dairy cows, lower SCC is an indication of milk quality, allowing higher producer compensation when SCC is low (Bozo et al., 2013), as well as penalizing producers when SCC values exceed limits delineated in regulations. This encourages the search for preventive measures for producers to control SCC, which also improves the quality of milk and dairy products. Even though dairy farming has been rarely explored in Brazil, products and managements that decrease SCC are important for the productive system and for food quality.

In mammals, the main fate of choline is conversion to phosphatidylcholine, a major cell membrane compound and a precursor of signaling molecules. In the liver, it participates in the secretion of bile and very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) (Li and Vance, 2008). In ruminants, the addition of choline chloride has low intestinal absorption, as most choline is degraded in the rumen; this can be prevented by encapsulating choline, increasing its availability for intestinal absorption (Baldi and Pinotti, 2006). Supplementation with choline (biocholine) sources that show resistance to ruminal degradation may improve health and, consequently, production, because the increased

availability of choline or phosphatidylcholine improves cell function and antioxidant status. Pinotti et al. (2002) suggested that choline may be a production constraint in highproduction animals, if not supplied in sufficient quantity to meet the animal's requirements. Mohsen et al. (2011) added encapsulated choline to the feed of lactating cows and observed greater nutrient digestibility that increased yield and feed conversion in an economically efficient manner.

The bioavailability of choline and derivatives is important for maintaining cellular integrity, because, according to the literature, choline deficiency increases levels of reactive oxygen species and lipid peroxidation that in turn causes necrosis of the convoluted renal tubules (Ossani et al., 2007). Repetto et al. (2010) also found increased lipid peroxidation and reduced antioxidant levels in the serum of choline-deficient rats, while in the brain, lipid peroxidation levels increased by more than 300%, and therefore the animals developed hepatic steatosis, tubular and glomerular necrosis in addition to inflammation and necrosis in the heart after 7 days of deficiency. In our study, supplementation with VB promoted increases in NPSH and ACAP levels, as well as reduced ROS and LPO levels. Supplementation of Nile tilapia (800 and 1200 mg/kg diet) showed that the product has antioxidant potential mediated by decreases in hepatic LPO and increased ACAP levels, as well as stimulating hepatic energy metabolism, improving the zootechnical performance of the fish (Baldissera et al., 2019); we did not observe this in our study at the serum; the CK and PK activities did not change. Another study showed that aflatoxin-challenged and VB-supplemented Nile tilapia showed liver protection, i.e., minimization of negative effects caused by the mycotoxin (Souza et al., 2020). Overall, we believe that VB supplementation in sheep feed improved health, helping to prepare the animals for the natural challenge of heat stress.

Heat stress occurs when any combination of environmental conditions causes the effective ambient temperature to be higher than the thermoneutral zone. According to the literature, this leads to reduce milk production, as reported in cows (Armstrong, 1994). Cows exposed to heat stress in summer had higher activity of the enzymes superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase, as well as higher levels of lipid peroxidation markers (TBARS) compared to cows in periods where the ambient temperature was lower, suggesting that heat causes oxidative stress (Bernabucci et al., 2002). In our study, VB balanced the antioxidant status of animals, reflected in higher milk yield. The same occurred in heat-stressed sheep supplemented with grape residues (Alba et al., 2019a) and açai (*Euterpe oleracea*) oil (Santos et al., 2019), where the animals also displayed antioxidant status balance, as well as increased milk yields. Chauhan et al. (2014) observed that heat stress negatively affected the oxidative state of sheep; this damage was reduced by supplementing higher amounts of antioxidants in the diet. Taken together, the data suggest that dietary additives/supplements such as biocholine reduces the damage caused during periods of heat stress, maintaining the health and performance of animals.

#### **5.** Conclusion

Vegetable biocholine supplementation in the diets of sheep at peak lactation increased antioxidant levels in serum as well as in in milk, reducing oxidant levels and lipid peroxidation. The addition of 10 g of VB to feed improved animal production and feed efficiency, and decreased somatic cell counts in milk. We conclude that VB supplementation in the diets of heat-stressed sheep improves animal health, milk production and quality.

#### **Ethics approval**

The study was approved by the Committee of Ethics in the Use of Animals of the State University of Santa Catarina (CEUA / UDESC) under number 6601130319.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank CAPES, CNPq, UDESC (PROMOP grant) for their financial support. We also thank *Cabanha Chapecó* for making the animals and the facility available for this study.

#### REFERENCES

Alba, D.F., Campigotto, G., Cazarotto, C.J., Santos, D.S., Gebert, R.R., Reis, J.H., Souza, C.F., Baldissera, M.D., Gindri, A.L., Kempka, A.P., Palmer, E.A., Vedovatto, M. Da Silva, A.S. 2019a. Use of grape residue flour in lactating dairy sheep in heat stress: Effects on health, milk production and quality. Journal of Thermal Biology, 82, 197-205. Alba, D.F., Rosa, G., Hanauer, D., Saldanha, T.F., Souza, C.F., Baldissera, M.D., Santos, D.S., Piovezan, A.P., Girardini, L.K., Da Silva, A.S. 2019b. Subclinical mastitis in Lacaune sheep: Causative agents, impacts on milk production, milk quality, oxidative profiles and treatment efficacy of ceftiofur. Microbial Pathogenesis, 137, 103732.

Ali, S.F., Lebel, C.P., Bondy, S.C. 1992. Formação de espécies reativas de oxigênio como biomarcador da neurotoxicidade do metilmercúrio trimetilestanho. Neurotoxicologia, 13, 637-648.

Albright, C.D., Liii, R., Bethea, T.C., da Costa, K.A., Salganik, R.I., Zeisel, SH. 1996. Choline deficiency induces apoptosis in SV4O-immortalized CWSV-1 rat hepatocytes in culture. The FASEB Journal, 10, 510-516. Adler, J. H. 1970. Theoretical quantitative approach to the mechanism of hypoglycemic ketosis in ruminants. Journal of Theoretical Biology, 28 (1), 101–109.

Amado, L.L., Garcia, M.L., Ramos, P.B., Freitas, R.F., Zafalon, B., Ferreira, J.L.R., Yunes, J.S., Monserrat, J.M., 2009. A method to measure total antioxidant capacity against peroxyl radicals in aquatic organisms: Application to evaluate microcystins toxicity. Sci. Total Environ. 407, 2115–2123.

Armstrong, D. V. 1994. Heat Stress Interaction with Shade and Cooling. Journal of Dairy Science, 77, 2044-2050.

Baird, G. D. 1977. Aspects of Ruminant Intermediary Metabolism in Relation to Ketosis. Biochemical Society Transactions, 5 (3), 819–827.

Baldi, A. Pinotti L. 2006. Choline metabolism in high-producing dairy cows: Metabolic and nutritional basis. Canadian Journal of Animal Science, 86 (2), 207-212.

Baldissera, M.D., Souza, C.F., Baldisserotto, B, Zimmerc, F., Paiano, D., Petrolli, T. G., Da Silva, A. S. 2019. Vegetable choline improves growth performance, energetic metabolism, and antioxidant capacity of fingerling Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquaculture, 501, 224-229.

Baker, D.H. 1995. Vitamin Bioavailability. In Bioavailability of Nutrients for Animals: Amino acids, Minerals, and Vitamins. Ed. Ammerman, London, UK: Academic Press, 399–431.

Bernabucci, U., Ronchi, B., Lacetera, N., Nardone, A., 2002. Markers of Oxidative Status in Plasma and Erythrocytes of Transition Dairy Cows During Hot Season. Journal of Dairy Science, 85 (2), 2173–2179.

Bernabucci, U., Ronchi, B., Lacetera, N., Nardone, A., 2005. Influence of body condition score on relationships between metabolic status and oxidative stress in periparturient dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 88 (6), 2017-2026.

Beutler, E. 1984. Superoxide dismutase. Red Cell Metabolism. A Manual of Biochemical Methods. Grune & Stratton, Philadelphia, 83-85.

Berchielli, T.T., Pires, A.V., Oliveira, S.G. 2011. Nutrição de ruminantes. 2. ed. Jaboticabal, SP: FUNEP, 616.

Bozo, G.A., Alegro, L.C.A., Silva, L.C., Santana1, E.H.W., Okano, W., Silva, L.C.C. 2013. Adequação da contagem de células somáticas e da contagem bacteriana total em leite cru refrigerado aos parâmetros da legislação. Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia, 65 (2), 589-594.

Bonoli, M., Verardo, V., Marconi, E., Caboni, M. F. 2004. Antioxidant phenols in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) flour: Comparative spectrophotometric study among extraction methods of free and bound phenolic compounds. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 52(16): 5195–5200.

Brand-Williams, W., Cuvelier, M. E.; Berset, C. 1995. Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. LWT - Food Science and Technology 28 (1): 25–30.

Kupke, I.R., Zeugner, S., 1978. Quantitative high-performance thin-layer chromatography of lipids in plasma and liver homogenates after direct application of 0.5-microliter samples to the silica-gel layer. J Chromatogr. 146(2):261-71.

Chauhan, S.S., Celi, P., Leury, B.J., Clarke, I.J., Dunshea, F.R. 2014. Dietary antioxidants at supranutritional doses improve oxidative status and reduce the negative effects of heat stress in sheep. Journal of Animal Science, 92 (8), 3364–3374.

Coelho, K.O., Mesquita, A.J., Machado, P.F., Lage, M.E., Meyer, P.M., Reis, A.P. 2014. Efeito da contagem de células somáticas sobre o rendimento e a composição físicoquímica do queijo muçarela. Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia, 66 (4), 1260–1268.

Costa, K., Niculescu, M.D., Corneliu, C.N., Fischer, LM., Zeisel, E.H. 2006. Choline deficiency increases lymphocyte apoptosis and DNA damage in humans. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 84, 88–94.

Crosby, M., Mendoza-Martinez, G.D., Relling, A., Vazquez, V.A., Lee-Rangel, H.A., Martinez, J.A., Oviedo, M. 2017. Influence of supplemental choline on milk yield, fatty acid profile, and postpartum weight changes in suckling ewes. Journal of Dairy Science, 100 (2), 125.

Dacoreggio, M.V., Moroni, L. S., Kempka, A.P. 2019. Antioxidant, antimicrobial and allelopathic activities and surface disinfection of the extract of *Psidium cattleianum* sabine leaves. Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology 21:101295.

Fernandes, L.B. Franzolin, R., Franco, A. V. M., Carvalho, G. 2008. Aditivos orgânicos no suplemento concentrado de bovinos de corte mantidos em pastagem. Revista Brasileira de Saúde e Produção Animal, 9 (2), 231-238.

FAO. 2013. Milk and dairy productn in human nutrition. Food and agriculture organization of the united nations. Disponível em: <a href="http://www.fao.org/3/i3396e/i3396e.pdf">http://www.fao.org/3/i3396e/i3396e.pdf</a>>. Acesso em 14 set. 2019.

Godínez-Cruz, J., Cifuentes-López, O., Cayetano, J., Lee-Rangel, H., Mendoza, G., Vázquez, A., Roque, A. 2015. Effect of choline inclusion on lamb performance and meat characteristics. Journal Animal Science, 93 (3), 766.

Holmes-McNary, M.Q., Loy, R., Mar, M.H., Albright, C.D. 1997. Zeisel, S.H. Apoptosis is induced by choline deficiency in fetal brain and in PC12 cells. Developmental Brain Research, 101, 9–16.

Hughes, B.P. 1962. A method for estimation of serum creatine kinase and its use in comparing creatine kinase and aldolase activity in normal and pathological sera. Clinica Chimica Acta,7, 597-603.

IBGE. 2018. Efetivo dos rebanhos. Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística Disponível em: <a href="https://sidra.ibge.gov.br/tabela/3939#resultado">https://sidra.ibge.gov.br/tabela/3939#resultado</a>>. Acesso em 14 set. 2019.

Kokkonen, T., Taponen, J., Anttila, T., Syrjälä-Qvist, L., Delavaud, C., Chilliard, Y., Tesfa, A.T. 2005. Effect of Body Fatness and Glucogenic Supplement on Lipid and Protein Mobilization and Plasma Leptin in Dairy Cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 88(3), 1127–1141.

Leong, S.F., Lai, J.C., Lim, L., Clark, J.B., 1981. Energy-metabolizing enzymes in brain regions of adult and aging rats. Journal Neurochemistry, 37, 1548–1556

Leitão, M.M.V.B.R., Oliveira, G., M. Almeida, A., C. Sousa, P.H.F. 2013. Conforto e estresse térmico em ovinos no Norte da Bahia. Revista Brasileira de Engenharia Agrícola e Ambiental, 17 (12), 1355–1360.

Li, Z., Vance, D.E. 2008. Phosphatidylcholine and choline homeostasis. Journal of Lipid Research, 49, 1187-1194.

Mader, T.L., Davis, M.S., Brown-Brandl, T., 2006. Environmental factors influencing heat stress in feedlot cattle. J Anim Sci 84, 712–719.

McManus, C., Paludo, G. R., Louvandini, H., Gugel, R., Sasaki, L. C. B., Paiva, S.R. 2008. Heat tolerance in Brazilian sheep: Physiological and blood parameters. Tropical Animal Health and Production, 41(1), 95–101.

Michailoff, A., Dall Agnol, D.D., Balistieri, F.S., Mores, F., Ferreira, R., Bragança, J.F., Rocha, J.F.X., Rocha, R.X. 2013. Desempenho produtivo e status energético em vacas leiteiras suplementadas com colina protegida. Revista Acadêmica De Ciências Agrárias e Ambientais, 11 (4), 367-372.

Michailoff, A.A.M., Agnol, D.D.D., Bianchi, A. E., Balistieri, F.S., Fiorentin, E.L., Rocha, R.X., Bragança, J F.M. 2017. Colina protegida da degradação ruminal e seu

efeito na prevenção da toxemia da gestação em ovelhas leiteiras. Veterinária e Zootecnia, 24 (1), 144-150.

Mohsen, M.K., Gaafar, H.M.A., Khalafalla, M.M., Shitta, A.A., Yousif, A.M. 2011. Effect of rumen protected choline supplementation on digestibility, rumen activity and milk yield in lactating friesian cows. Slovak Journal of Animal Science, 44 (1), 13-20.

Monserrat, J.M., Geracitano, L.A., Pinho, G.L.L., Vinagre, T., Faleiros, M., Alciati, J. C., Bianchini, A. 2003. Determination of Lipid Peroxides in Invertebrates Tissues Using the Fe (III) Xylenol Orange Complex Formation. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 45, 177–183.

EPAGRI. 2019. Queijo de leite de ovelha: opção de renda para a pequena propriedade rural. Empresa de Pesquisa Agropecuária e Extensão Rural de Santa Catarina. < https://www.epagri.sc.gov.br/index.php/2019/08/20/queijo-de-leite-de-ovelha-uma-

opcao-de-renda-para-a-pequena-propriedade-rural/> Acesso 20 de out. 2019.

Ossani, G., Dalghi, M., Repetto, M. 2007. Oxidative damage lipid peroxidation in the kidney of choline-deficient rats. Frontiers in Bioscience A: Journal & Virtual Library, 12, 1174-1183.

Pavic, C. Antunac, N. Mioč, B. Ivanković, A. Havranek, J. L. 2002. Influence of stage of lactation on the chemical composition and physical properties of sheep milk. Czech Journal of Animal Science, 47 (2), 80–84.

Pinotti, L., Baldi, A., Dell'Orto, V. 2002. Comparative mammalian choline metabolism with emphasis on the high-yielding dairy cow. Nutrition Research Reviews, 15, 315–331.

Pinotti, L., Baldi, A., Politis, I., Rebucci, R., Sangalli, L., Dell'Orto, V. 2003. Rumen-Protected Choline Administration to Transition Cows: Effects on Milk Production and Vitamin E Status. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A, 50, 18–21

Repetto, M.G., Ossani, G., Monserrat, A.J., Boveris, A. 2010. Oxidative damage: The biochemical mechanism of cellular injury and necrosis in choline deficiency. Experimental and Molecular Pathology, 88, 143–149.

Rodriguez-Guerrero, V., Lizarazo, A.C., Ferraro, Suárez, S.N., Miranda, L.A., Mendoza, G.D. 2018. Effect of herbal choline and rumen-protected methionine on lamb performance and blood metabolites. South African Journal of Animal Science, 48 (3), 427-434.

Rukkwamsuk, T., Kruip, T.A.M., Wensing, T. 1999. Relationship between overfeeding and overconditioning in the dry period and the problems of high producing dairy cows during the postparturient period. Veterinary Quarterly, 21 (3), 71–77.

Santos, D.S., Klauck, V., Campigotto, G., Alba, D.F., Reis, J.H., Gebert, R.R., Souza, C.F., Baldissera, M.D., Schogor, A.L.B., Santos, I.D., Wagner, R., Vedovatto, M., Da Silva, A.S. 2019. Benefits of the inclusion of açai oil in the diet of dairy sheep in heat stress on health and milk production and quality. Journal of Thermal Biology, 84, 250-258.

Sedlak, J., Lindsay, R.H. 1968. Estimation of Total Protein-Bound, and Nonprotein Sulfhydryl Groups in Tissue with Ellman's Reagent. Analytical Biochemistry, 25, 1192-1205.

Shi Y., Xu Y., Hu H., Na Z., Wang W. 2011. Preliminary assessment of antioxidant activity of young edible leaves of seven *Ficus* species in the ethnic diet in Xishuangbanna, Southwest China. Food Chemistry, 128:889-894.

Souza, C.F., Baldissera, M.D., Baldisserotto, B., Petrolli, T.G., Micottida, E., Zanette, G.R.A., Da Silva, A.S. 2020. Dietary vegetable choline improves hepatic health of Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) fed aflatoxin-contaminated diet. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology, 227.

Ticiani, E., Sandri, E.C., Souza, J., Batiste, F., Oliveira, D.E. 2013. Persistência da lactação e composição do leite em ovelhas leiteiras das raças Lacaune e East Friesian. Ciência Rural, 43 (9), 1650-1653.

Valencia Narváez, M.Á. 2019. Efecto de la biocolina sobre calidad de leche y comportamiento productivo pre y postparto en vacas lecheras. Tesis para optar el título de Ingeniero Zootecnista, Universidad Nacional de Trujillo, Peru. Disponível em: <a href="http://www.dspace.unitru.edu.pe/handle/UNITRU/13313">http://www.dspace.unitru.edu.pe/handle/UNITRU/13313</a>>. Acesso em 16 set. 2019.

Vieira, I., Cyrino, J.E.P., Pezzato, L.E. 2001. Colina e betaína em rações purificadas na nutrição da tilápia do Nilo (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Scientia Agricola, 58 (4), 675-680.

Xu, G., Ye, J.A., Liu, J., Yu1, Y. 2006. Effect of Rumen-protected Choline Addition on Milk Performance and Blood Metabolic Parameters in Transition Dairy Cows. Asian-Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences, 19 (3), 390-395.

Yen, C.L.E., Mar, M.H., Meeker, R.B., Fernandes, A., Zeisel, S.H. 2001. Choline deficiency induces apoptosis in primary cultures of fetal neurons. The FASEB Journal, 15, 1704–1710.

Zeisel S.H., Blusztajn, J.K. 1994. Choline and human nutrition. Annual Review of Nutrition, 14, 269–296.

Zeisel, S. H. 1988. "Vitamin-like Molecules: Choline." In Shils M, Young V (eds): "Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease." Philadelphia: Lea & Febiger, 440-452. Zom, R.L.G., Van Baal, J., Goselink, R.M.A., Bakker, J.A., Veth, M.J., Vuuren, A.M. 2011. Effect of rumen-protected choline on performance, blood metabolites, and hepatic triacylglycerols of periparturient dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science, 94 (8), 4016-4027.

Ingredients	As fed	(kg/day)	Dry matter (kg/day)						
Corn silage (kg)	2	4.00		1.31					
Concentrate (kg)	1	1.20		0.96					
Chemical	Corn		Concentrate	Concentrate	Concentrate				
composition	silage	Diochonne	( <b>T0</b> )	(T5)	( <b>T10</b> )				
DM, g/kg	329	964	879	883	885				
Ash, g/kg DM	42.1	18.0	65.2	69.3	67.7				
CP, g/kg DM	80.1	47.0	156	148	152				
NDF, g/kg DM	331	445	106	119	100				
ADF, g/kg DM	179	384.0	45.0	51.0	46.0				
EE, g/kg DM	43.9	57.0	34.3	36.7	34.7				
TPC (mg	-	28.2	9.74	9.85	9.89				
EGA/100 g DM)									
IC <sub>50</sub> (µg/mL)	-	0.30	5.52	5.37	5.11				

Table 1. Ingredients and chemical composition of ingredients and experimental diets.

Ingredients present in 100 kg of concentrate: corn (70%), soybean meal (25%) and buffering lactation nucleus (5%), i.e., ground corn (671 g/kg), soybean meal (277 g/kg), calcitic limestone (10 g/kg), sodium bicarbonate (4 g/kg) and 37 g/kg of premix (calcium min. 180 max. 220 g; phosphorus min. 32 g; sodium min. 40 g; sulfur min. 20 g; magnesium min. 20 g; cobalt min. 16 mg; iodine min. 17 mg; manganese min. 420 mg; selenium min. 730 mg; zinc min. 730 mg; fluorine max. 600 mg; niacin min. 500 mg; vitamin A min. 95000 IU; vitamin D min. 20000 IU; vitamin E min. 350 IU; monensin sodium 1200 mg; *Saccharomyces cerevisae* 2.1 x  $10^{10}$  UFC).

<sup>2.</sup> Note: DM (Dry matter), Ash (Ashes), CP (Crude protein), NDF (neutral detergent fiber), ADF (acid detergent fiber), EE (ethereal extract), TPC (total phenolic content) and  $IC_{50}$  (determination of antioxidant activity by elimination of radicals by DPPH).

Variables <sup>1</sup>	Tı	reatment	ts <sup>2</sup>	SEM	P-value		
Vallabies	Т0	T5	T10	JEIVI	Treatment	Treatment × day	
Production (L)					0.27	0.01	
day 0	1.96	1.79	2.01	0.10			
day 7	1.98	1.87	2.13	0.09			
day 15	2.17	2.05	2.31	0.11			
day 20	2.11 <sup>b</sup>	2.06 <sup>b</sup>	2.44 <sup>a</sup>	0.09			
Productive efficiency (%)							
day 0 to 15	8.67 <sup>b</sup>	14.5 <sup>a</sup>	12.9 <sup>ab</sup>	1.81	0.01		
day 0 to 20	7.60 <sup>b</sup>	15.0 <sup>a</sup>	19.4 <sup>a</sup>	2.11	0.01		
Feed intake							
day 15 to 20	87.2 <sup>b</sup>	93.3 <sup>a</sup>	84.2 <sup>b</sup>	13.3	0.01		
Feed conversion							
day 15 to 20	2.14 <sup>b</sup>	2.37 <sup>a</sup>	1.91 <sup>c</sup>	0.10	0.01		
Milk composition							
Protein (g/kg)	3.72	3.52	3.67	0.09	0.85	0.44	
Fat (g/kg)	4.45	4.33	4.35	0.15	0.85	0.42	
Lactose (g/kg)	5.32	5.21	5.43	0.14	0.59	0.14	
Total solids (g/kg)					0.45	0.05	
day 0	13.2	13.2	12.8				
day 15	14.0	12.6	12.7				
day 20	13.1 <sup>b</sup>	13.1 <sup>b</sup>	15.6 <sup>a</sup>				
$SCC^{1}(x10^{3}/mL)$					< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
day 0	364	368	564	16.9			
day 15	398 <sup>a</sup>	281 <sup>b</sup>	98.0 <sup>b</sup>	17.0			
day 20	436 <sup>a</sup>	219.9 <sup>b</sup>	79.1 <sup>b</sup>	17.1			

**Table 2.** Milk production and composition of Lacaune ewes at peak lactation
 supplemented with dietary vegetal biocholine (VB)

<sup>1</sup>Somatic cell count. <sup>2</sup>T0, T5 and T10 represents 0, 5 and 10 g of biocholine/animal/day. <sup>a-c</sup>Differs ( $P \le 0.05$ ) or tends to differ ( $P \le 0.10$ ) between treatments each respective day.

	Т	'reatments	$s^2$		P-value		
Variables <sup>1</sup>	T0	T5	<b>T10</b>	SEM	Treatment	Treatment	
						× day	
Glucose (mg/dL)	44.3	42.3	42.5	1.01	0.31	0.95	
Total Protein (g/dL)	6.62	6.65	6.59	0.13	0.95	0.97	
Albumin (g/dL)	2.81	2.93	2.86	0.05	0.33	0.84	
Globulin (g/dL)					0.02	0.09	
day 0	3.79	3.77	3.79	0.06			
day 15	3.76 <sup>b</sup>	$4.14^{a}$	$4.22^{a}$	0.06			
day 20	3.37 <sup>b</sup>	3.37 <sup>b</sup>	3.71 <sup>a</sup>	0.06			
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	56.3	61.2	58.2	2.27	0.29	0.35	
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	16.5	16.5	16.3	1.51	0.98	0.11	
Urea (mg/dL)	34.5	36.1	32.6	1.85	0.40	0.17	
AST (U/L)	108	109	102	4.37	0.45	0.61	
ALT (U/L)	15.0	15.5	16.0	0.39	0.18	0.35	
GGT (U/L)	104	103	97.7	3.19	0.31	0.77	
CK (pmol creatine	1.67	1.60	1.72	0.05	0.26	0.48	
formed/min/mg of							
protein)							
PK (pmol pyruvate	8.71	7.96	7.96	0.36	0.26	0.13	
formed/min/mg protein							

**Table 3.** Serum biochemistry of peak lactation sheep Lacaune supplemented with dietary vegetal biocholine (VB): T0 (0 g/day), T5 (5 g/day) and T10 (10 g/day).

<sup>1</sup>Aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), gamma glutamyltransferase (GGT),

creatine kinase (CK), and pyruvate kinase (PK)

<sup>2</sup>T0, T5 and T10 represents 0, 5 and 10 g of biocholine/animal/day.

<sup>a-b</sup>Differs ( $P \le 0.05$ ) or tends to differ ( $P \le 0.10$ ) between treatments each respective day.



**Figure 1:** Temperature (°C), relative humidity (%) and temperature-humidity index (THI =  $0.8 \times \text{ambient temperature} + [(\% \text{ relative humidity} \div 100) \times (\text{ambient temperature} - 14.4)] + 46.4$ ; Mader et al., 2006) collected during the study.



**Figure 2.** Serum levels of oxidants (lipid peroxidation [LPO] and reactive oxygen species [ROS]) and antioxidants (non-protein thiols [NPSH] and superoxide enzyme dismutase [SOD]) in lactating peak lactose supplemented with dietary biocholine. T0, T5 and T10 represents 0, 5 and 10 g of biocholine/animal/day. <sup>a-b</sup>Differs ( $P \le 0.05$ ) or tends to differ ( $P \le 0.10$ ) between treatments each respective day.



**Figure 3.** Milk levels of oxidants (lipid peroxidation [LPO] and reactive oxygen species [ROS]) and antioxidants (non-protein thiols [NPSH] and superoxide enzyme dismutase [SOD]) in lactating peak lactose supplemented with dietary biocholine. T0, T5 and T10 represents 0, 5 and 10 g of biocholine/animal/day. <sup>a-b</sup>Differs ( $P \le 0.05$ ) or tends to differ ( $P \le 0.10$ ) between treatments each respective day.

#### **3. CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS**

Com a realização desses estudos é possível concluir que a mastite é uma patologia importante em ovinos leiteiros, pois afeta significativamente a produção, qualidade do leite e a saúde animal, visto que o processo inflamatório afetou em um todo as ovelhas, devido ao aumento da peroxidação lipídica no soro e no leite. Mesmo que os agentes isolados tiverem baixos níveis de resistência, os tratamentos não tiveram uma eficácia clínica relevante, isso dificulta o tratamento e controle da mastite no rebanho, o que pode resultar em descarte de número significativo de matrizes. Além disso, ressalta-se a necessidade de produção de medicamentos para o tratamento de mestites destinados a ovinos para obter melhor eficácia, bem como um período de retenção no leite conhecido, para permitir o uso pelos produtores com segurança.

A utilização da FRU na alimentação das ovelhas mostrou que a capacidade antioxidante presente na uva foi absorvida pelos animais, melhorando a saúde, produção e qualidade do leite. O fato de o resíduo estar na forma de farinha pode ter colaborado para uma melhor absorção das substâncias bioativas devido a maior área de contato com o epitélio intestinal, evidenciando que esse resíduo pode ser utilizado na alimentação animal não apenas como um alimento, mas sim como uma fonte de antioxidantes.

A adição de colina vegetal (5 g animal/dia) durante o período de transição não foi eficaz na melhora da função hepática e perfil oxidativo, no entanto, passado esse período melhorou o sistema antioxidante dos animais e manteve a produção de leite. Já no pico de produção a colina vegetal (10 g animal/dia) melhorou a produção de leite e estatus antioxidante no soro e no leite, o que é muito importante para as ovelhas, que nesse momento possuem um metabolismo energético elevado devido a significativa produção de leite, melhorando o funcionamento do organismo.

## REFERÊNCIAS

ABE, L. T. DA MOTA, R. V. LAJOLO, F. M. GENOVESE, M. I. Phenolic compounds and antioxidant capacity of *Vitis labrusca L*. and *Vitis vinifera L*. grape cultivars. Food Science and Technology, 27 (2), 394-400, 2007.

ACHARYA, R.M. GUPTA, U.D. SEHGAL, J.P. SINGH, M. Coat characteristics of goats in relation to heat tolerance in the hot tropics. Small Ruminant Research, v. 18 (3), 245-248, 1995.

AMES, D. Thermal Environment Affects Production Efficiency of Livestock. BioScience, 30 (7) 457-460, 1980.

BALDISSERA, M. D. GONÇALVES, R. A. SAGRILLO, M. R. RITTER, C. S. GROTTO, F. S. BRUM, G. F. LUZ, S. C. A. OLIVEIRA, S. O. FAUSTO, V. P. BOLIGON, A. A. VAUCHER, R. A. STEFANI, L. M. SILVA, A. S. Effects of treatment with the anti-parasitic drug diminazene aceturate on antioxidant enzymes in rat liver and kidney. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol, 389 (4), 429–438, 2016.

BARBOSA, K. B. F. COSTA, N. M. B. ALFENAS, R. DE C. G. DE PAULA, S. O. MINIM, V. P. R. BRESSAN, J. Oxidative stress: concept, implications and modulatory factors. Nutrition Magazine, 23 (4), 629–643, 2010.

BERES, C. COSTA, G. N. S. CABEZUDO, I. DA SILVA-JAMES, N. K. TELES, A. S. C. CRUZ, A. P. G. MELLINGER-SILVA, C. TONON, R. V. CABRAL, L. M. C. FREITAS, S. P. Towards integral utilization of grape pomace from winemaking process: A review. Waste Management, v. 68, 581–594, 2017.

BERES, C. FREITAS, S. P. GODOY, R. L. O. OLIVEIRA, D. C. R. DELIZA, R. LACOMINID, A. MELLINGER-SILVAC, C. CABRAL, L. M. C. Antioxidant dietary fibre from grape pomace flour or extract: Does it make any difference on the nutritional and functional value? Journal of Functional Foods, v. 56, 276–285, 2019.

BERGONIER, D. BERTHELOT, X. New advances in epizootiology and control of ewe mastitis. Livestock Production Science, 79 (1), 1–16, 2003.

BIANCHI, A. E. Panorama da Ovinocultura de Leite no Brasil. Ministério da Agricultura, Pecuária e Abastecimento. 2017. Disponível em: <<u>http://www.agricultura.gov.br/assuntos/camaras-setoriais-</u> tematicas/documentos/camaras-setoriais/caprinos-e-ovinos/anos-anteriores/panorama-daovinocultura-de-leite-no-brasil.pdf/view>. Acesso em: 30 de out. 2019

BIANCHI, A. E Avaliação de sistemas produtivos de ovinos leiteiros em diferentes regiões do brasil. Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia, área de concentração Zootecnia – Nutrição e Produção de Herbívoros e Forragicultura,
Departamento de Zootecnia, Setor de Ciências Agrárias, Universidade Federal do Paraná, como parte das exigências para a obtenção do título de Doutor em Zootecnia. 2018.
Disponível em: < <u>https://acervodigital.ufpr.br/bitstream/handle/1884/59961/R%20-%20T%20-%20ANDERSON%20ELIAS%20BIANCHI.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y></u>
Acesso em: 22 de out. 2019

BIANCHI, A. E. MACEDO, V. P. DA SILVA, A. S. SILVEIRA, A. L. F. HILL, J. A. G. ZORTÉA, T. ROSSI, R. M. BATISTA, R. Effect of the addition of protected fat from palm oil to the diet of dairy sheep. Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia, 47, 1-8, 2018.

BIAZUS, A. H. CAZAROTTO, C. J. MACHADO, G. BOTTARI, N. B. ALVES, M. S. MORSCH, V. M. SCHETINGER, M. R. C. LEAL, M. L. R. FERNANDES, N. F. MORESCO, R. N. BALDISSERA, M.D. DA SILVA, A. S. Diphenyl diselenide subcutaneous supplementation of dairy sheep: effects on oxidant and antioxidant status, inflammatory response and milk composition. Animal Production Science, A-J, 2018.

BINDEL, D. J. DROUILLARD, J. S. TITGEMEYER, E. C. WESSELS, R. H. LÖEST,C. A. Effects of ruminally protected choline and dietary fat on performance and bloodmetabolites of finishing heifers. Journal of Animal Science, 78 (10), 2497–2503, 2000.

BÔAS, A. S. V. ARRIGONI, M. B. SILVEIRA, A. C. COSTA, C. CHARDULO, L. A.L. Idade à Desmama e Manejo Alimentar na Produção de Cordeiros Superprecoces.Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia, 32 (6), 1969-1980, 2003.

BOTTARI, N. B. SCHETINGER, M. R. C. PILLAT, M. M. PALMA, T. V. ULRICH, H. ALVES, M. S. MORSCH, V. M. MELAZZO, C. BARROS, L. D. GARCIA, J. L. DA SILVA, A. S. Resveratrol as a Therapy to Restore Neurogliogenesis of Neural Progenitor Cells Infected by Toxoplasma gondii. Molecular Neurobiology, 56 (18), 1-11, 2018.

BRENES, A. VIVEROS, A. CHAMORRO, S. ARIJA, I. Use of polyphenol-rich grape by-products in monogastric nutrition. A review. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 211, 1–17, 2016.

BRITO, M. GONZÁLEZ, F. D. RIBEIRO, L. A. CAMPOS, R. LACERDA, L. BARBOSA, P. R. BERGMANN, G. Composição do sangue e do leite em ovinos leiteiros do sul do Brasil: variações na gestação e na lactação. Ciência Rural, 36 (3), 2006.

BROZOS, C. MAVROGIANNI, V. S. FTHENAKIS, G. C. Treatment and Control of
Peri-Parturient Metabolic Diseases: Pregnancy Toxemia, Hypocalcemia,
Hypomagnesemia. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice, 27 (1),
105–113, 2011.

BOYD, J. W. The Interpretation of Serum Biochemistry Test Results in Domestic Animals. Veterinary Clinical Pathology, 13 (2), 7–14, 1984.

BRYANT, T. C. RIVERA, J. D. GALYEAN, M. L. DUFF, G. C. HALLFORD, D. M. MONTGOMERY, T. H. Effects of Dietary Level of Ruminally Protected Choline on Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Finishing Beef Steers and on Growth and Serum Metabolites in Lambs. Journal of Animal Science, 77, 2893–2903, 1999.

CALDERANO, A. A. NUNES, R. V. RODRIGUEIRO, R. J. R. CÉSAR, R. A. Replacement of choline chloride by a vegetal source of choline in diets for broilers. Ciência Animal Brasileira, 16 (1), 37-44, 2015.

CAMPIGOTTO, G. GEBERT, R. R. SANTOS, D. S. DOS REIS, J. H. ALBA, D. F. CAZAROTTO, C. J. LEAL, M. L. R. BALDISSERA, M. D. LOPES, T. F. DRUZIAN, L. T. MORSCH, V. M. VEDOVATTO, M.DA SILVA, A. S. Effects of oral administration of copper capsules on helminth control in lactating dairy sheep: An effective alternative to replace conventional antiparasitics during lactation. Experimental Parasitology, 205, 1-6, 2019.

CARVALHO, N. Ambience in dairy herds: How to manage heat stress. Whole milk magazine. 2012. Disponível em: < <a href="http://www.revistaleiteintegral.com.br/noticia/ambiencia-em-rebanhos-leiteiros-como-manejar-o-estresse-calorico">http://www.revistaleiteintegral.com.br/noticia/ambiencia-em-rebanhos-leiteiros-como-manejar-o-estresse-calorico</a> Acesso em 26 de out. 2019.

CATALUÑA, E. V. Grapes and wines. 3.ed. São Paulo: Globo, 1991.

CAZAROTTO, C. J. BOITO, J. P. GLOMBOWSKY, P. BAGGIO, R. A. GALLI, G. M. Machado, G. BOTTARI, N. B. LEAL, M. L. R. KESSLER, J. D. BALDISSERA, M. D. DA SILVA, A. S. Nutraceutical Effect of Trace Elements as Additional Injectable Doses to Modulate Oxidant and Antioxidant Status, and Improves the Quality of Lamb Meat. Biological trace element research, 191, 115-125, 2019.

CHAUHAN, S. S. CELI, P. LEURY, B. J. CLARKE, I. J. Dunshea, F. R. Dietary antioxidants at supranutritional doses improve oxidative status and reduce the negative effects of heat stress in sheep. Journal of Animal Science, 92 (8), 3364–3374, 2014.

COOKE, R. F. CARAVIELLO, D. Z. BERTICS, S. J. RAMOS, M. H. GRUMME, R. R. Supplemental Choline for Prevention and Alleviation of Fatty Liver in Dairy Cattle. Journal of Dairy Science, 90, 2413–2418, 2007.

COSTA, M. J. R. P. SILVA, R. G. SOUZA, R. C. Effect of air temperature and humidity on ingestive behaviour of sheep. International Journal of Biometeorology, 36, 218-222, 1992.

COSTA, G. N. S. TONON, R. V. MELLINGER-SILVA, C. GALDEANO, M. C. LACOMINI, M. SANTIAGO, M. C. P. A. ALMEIDA, E. L. FREITAS, S. P. Grape

seed pomace as a valuable source of antioxidant fibers. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 99, 4593–4601, 2019.

COUTINHO, D. A. COSTA, J. N. RIBEIRO, M. G. TORRES, J. A. In vitro etiology and antimicrobial sensitivity of bacteria isolated from Santa Inês sheep with subclinical mastitis. Brazilian Journal of Health and Animal Production, 7 (2), 139-151, 2006.

CROSBY, M. MENDOZA-MARTINEZ, G. D. RELLING, A. VAZQUEZ, V. A. LEE-RANGEL, H. A. MARTINEZ, J. A. OVIEDO, M. Influence of supplemental choline on milk yield, fatty acid profile, and postpartum weight changes in suckling ewes. Journal of Dairy Science 100 (2): 125, 2017.

CUSTÓDIO, E. BALDISSERA, M. D. MACHADO, G. CAZAROTTO, C. J. BOITO, J. P. BIAZUS, A. H. GALLI, G. M. REIS, J. H. GEBERT, R. R. FERREIRA, E. B. DA SILVA, A. S. Use of homeopathic product to prevent ketosis in the dairy sheep during the transition period. Comparative Clinical Pathology, 26 (3), 535–541, 2017.

DA ROSA, G. ALBA, D. F. SILVA, A. D. MIRON, V. V. MORSCH, V. M. BOIAGO, M. STEFANI, L. M. BALDISSERA, M. M. LOPES, M.T. MENDES, R. E. SILVA, A. S. Impacts of Escherichia coli infection in young breeder chicks on the behavior and cerebral activity of purinergic and cholinergic enzymes involved in the regulation of molecules with neurotransmitter and neuromodulator function. Microbial Pathogenesis, 138, 1-6, 2019.

DELMAS, D. JANNIN, B. LATRUFFE, N. Resveratrol: preventing properties against vascular alterations and ageing. Molecular Nutrition and Food Research, Wiley-VCH Verlag, 49 (5), 377-95, 2005.

ELEONORA, N. DOBREI, A. ALINA, D. BAMPIDIS V. VALERIA, C. Grape pomace in sheep and dairy cows feeding. Journal of Horticulture, Forestry and Biotechnology, 18 (2), 146- 150, 2014.

EMBRAPA. New Agricultural Census shows growth in the number of goats and sheep in the Northeast. 2018a. Disponível em: <u>https://www.embrapa.br/busca-de-noticias/-</u>

/noticia/36365362/novo-censo-agropecuario-mostra-crescimento-de-efetivo-de-caprinose-ovinos-no-nordeste > Acesso em 15 de out. 2019.

EMBRAPA. Analysis of the production chain of goats and sheep in the light of recent data from IBGE. 2018b. Disponível em: <u>http://www.agricultura.gov.br/assuntos/camaras-setoriais-tematicas/documentos/camaras-setoriais/caprinos-e-ovinos/2018/copy\_of\_54aro/analise-da-cadeia-produtiva-de-caprinos-e-ovinos.pdf</u> Acesso em 18 de out. 2019.

EMBRAPA. Scientists develop products with wastes from the wine industry. 2018c. Disponível em <<u>https://www.embrapa.br/busca-de-noticias/-/noticia/34950363/cientistas-</u> <u>desenvolvem-produtos-com-residuos-da-industria-vinicola</u>>. Acesso em 27 de out. 2019.

EPAGRI. Sheep milk cheese: income option for small rural properties. Santa Catarina Agricultural Research and Rural Extension Company. 2019. Disponível em: <<u>https://www.epagri.sc.gov.br/index.php/2019/08/20/queijo-de-leite-de-ovelha-uma-opcao-de-renda-para-a-pequena-propriedade-rural/</u>> Acesso em 21 de out. 2019.

ERDMANB, R.A. SHARMA, K. Effect of Dietary Rumen-Protected Choline in Lactating Dairy Cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 74, 1641-1647, 1991.

FALACE, R. FERNANDES, F. Blood count: interpretation manual. Artmed, Porto Alegre, 6 edição. 2015.

FAO. World sheep flock. 2017. Disponível em: <<u>http://www.fao.org/faostat/es/#home</u>> Acesso em 18 de out. 2019.

FARINA, G. Performance of broilers supplemented with different sources and levels of choline in the diet. Dissertation presented as requirements for obtaining a master's degree in Zootechnics. Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, 2014. Disponível em: < <a href="https://www.lume.ufrgs.br/bitstream/handle/10183/104086/000938021.pdf?sequence=1">https://www.lume.ufrgs.br/bitstream/handle/10183/104086/000938021.pdf?sequence=1</a>> Acesso em 23 de out. 2019.

167

FILHO, A. E. TEODORO, S. M. CHAVES, M. A. SANTOS, P. E. F. SILVA, M. R. MURTA, R. M. CARVALHO, G. G. P. SOUZA, L. E. B. Thermal comfort zone of Santa Inês sheep based on physiological responses. Brazilian magazine of zootechnics, 40 (8), 1807-1814, 2011.

FLOREANI, M. NAPOLI, E. QUINTIERI, L. PALATINI, P. Oral administration of trans-resveratrol to guinea pigs increases cardiac DT-diaphorase and catalase activities, and protects isolated atria from menadione toxicity. Life Sciences, 72 (24), 2741–2750, 2003.

FISHER, A. D. STEWART, M. DUGANZICH, D. M. TACON, J. MATTHEWS, L. R. The effects of stationary periods and external temperature and humidity on thermal stress conditions within sheep transport vehicles. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 53 (1), 6-9, 2005.

FORTUOSO, B. F. GEBERT, R. R. OLIVEIRA, R. C. BOIAGO, M. SOUZA, C. F. BALDISSERA, M. D. VENDRUSCOLO, R. G. KEMPKA, A. P. PAIANO, D. WAGNER, R. SILVA, A. S. Impacts of the supplementation of açai lump flour in the diet of laying hens on productive performance, and fatty acid profiles and antioxidant capacity in the fresh and stocked eggs. Food Biochemistry, 1-11, 2019.

FRACASSO, M. BOTTARI, N. B. SILVA, A. D. GRANDO, T. H. PILLAT, M. M., ULRICH, H. VIDAL, T. ANDRADE, C. M. MONTEIRO, S. G. NASCIMENTO, L. F. MILETTI, L. C. SILVA, A. S. Effects of resveratrol on the differentiation fate of neural progenitor cells of mouse embryos infected with Trypanosoma cruzi. Microbial Pathogenesis, 132, 156-161, 2019.

FUKAO, H. IJIRI, Y. MIURA, M. HASHIMOTO, M. YAMASHITA, T. FUKUNAGA, C. OIWAD, K. KAWAIE, Y. SUWA, M. YAMAMOTO, J. Effect of trans-resveratrol on the thrombogenicity and atherogenicity in apolipoprotein E-deficient and low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. Blood Coagulation e Fibrinolysis, 15 (6), 441–446, 2004.

GALLI, G. M. SILVA, A. S. BIAZUS, A. REIS, J. H. MARCEL, M. B. TOPAZIO, J. P. MIGLIORINI, M. J. GUARDA, N. MORESCO, R. N. OURIQUE, A. F. SANTOS, C. G. LOPES, L. S. BALDISSERA, M. D. STEFANI, L. M. Feed addition of curcumin to laying hens showed anticoccidial effect, and improved egg quality and animal health. Research in Veterinary Science, 118, 101-106, 2018.

GAVA, A.A. ZANONI, J.N. Cellular aging. Health Sciences Archives Unipar, 9 (1), 41-46, 2005.

GERACI, J. I. GARCIARENA, A. D. GAGLIOSTRO, G. A. BEAUCHEMIN, K. A. COLOMBATTO, D. Plant extracts containing cinnamaldehyde, eugenol and capsicum oleoresin added to feedlot cattle diets: Ruminal environment, short term intake pattern and animal performance. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 176 (1-4), 123–130, 2012.

GODÍNEZ-CRUZ, J. CIFUENTES-LÓPEZ, O. CAYETANO, J. LEE-RANGEL, H. MENDOZA, G. VÁZQUEZ, A. ROQUE, A. Effect of choline inclusion on lamb performance and meat characteristics. Journal Animal Science, 93 (Suppl. 3), 766, 2015.

GUIMARÃES V. P., SOUZA J.D. F. General Aspects of Ovinoculture in Brazil in: Selaive-Villarroel, A.B.; Osório J. C. S. Sheep production in Brazil. Cap. 1. 1° Ed. São Paulo: Roca, 2014.

GURETZKY, N.A. J. CARLSON, D.B. GARRETT, J.E. DRACKLEY, J.K. Lipid Metabolite Profiles and Milk Production for Holstein and Jersey Cows Fed Rumen-Protected Choline During the Periparturient Period. Journal of Dairy Science, 89 (1), 188-200, 2006.

HALLIWELL, B. How to Characterize a Biological Antioxidant. Free Radical Research Communications, 9 (1), 1–32, 1990.

HASSAN, E.H. ABDEL-RAHEEM, S. M. Response of Growing Buffalo Calves to Dietary Supplementation of Caraway and Garlic as Natural Additives. World Applied Sciences Journal, 22 (3), 408-414, 2013. HEFNAWY, A. YOUSSEF, S. SHOUSHA, S. Some Immunohormonal Changes in Experimentally Pregnant Toxemic Goats. Veterinary Medicine International, 1-5, 2010.

HIRATA, L. L. SATO, M. E. O. SANTOS, C. A. M. Radicais Livres e o Envelhecimento Cutâneo. Acta Farm. Bonaerense, 23 (3), 418-24, 2004.

JAGUEZESKI, A. M., PERIN, G., BOTTARI, N. B., WAGNER, R., FAGUNDES, M.
B., SCHETINGER, M. R. C. MORSCH, V. M. STEIN, C. S. MORESCO, R. N.
BARRETA, D. A. DANIELI, B. DEFILTRO, R. C. SCHOGOR, A. L. SILVA, A.S.
Addition of curcumin to the diet of dairy sheep improves health, performance and milk
quality. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 246, 144-157, 2018.

JAGUEZESKI, A. M. GÜNDEL, S. S. FAVARIN, F. R. GÜNDEL, A. SOUZA, C. F. BALDISSERA, M. D. CAZAROTTO, C. C. VOLPATO, A. FORTUOSO, B. F. OURIQUE, A. F. DA SILVA, A. S. Low-dose curcumin-loaded Eudragit L-100-nanocapsules in the diet of dairy sheep increases antioxidant levels and reduces lipid peroxidation in milk. Journal of Food Biochemistry, 43, 1-14, 2019.

JUNIOR, IVANDRE ANTONIO MERLIN, COSTA, R. G. COSTA, L. G. LUDOVICO, A. REGO, F. C. A. ALEGRO, L. C. A. SANTANA, E. H. W. Dairy farming in Brazil: aspects and factors related to composition, consumption and legislation. Colloquium Agrariae, 11 (2), 38-53, 2015.

KAHN, L.P. KNOX, M. R. GRAY, G.D. Enhancing immunity to nematode parasites in pregnant and lactating sheep through nutrition and genetic selection. Recent Advances in Animal Nutrition in Australia, 12, 15-22, 1999.

KATSIARI, M. C. VOUTSINAS, L. P. KONDYLI, E. Manufacture of yoghurt from stored frozen sheep's milk. Food Chemistry, 77, 413–420, 2002.

LACETERA, D. V. M. N. BERNABUCCI, B. S. U. RONCHI, D. V. M. B. NARDONE,B. S. A. Effects of subclinical pregnancy toxemia on immune responses in sheep.American Journal of Veterinary Research, 62 (7), 1020-1024, 2001.

LANGCAKE, P. PRYCE, R. J. The production of resveratrol by Vitis vinifera and other members of the Vitaceae as a response to infection or injury. Physiological Plant Pathology, 9 (1), 77–86, 1976.

LEIRO, J. ÁLVAREZ, E. ARRANZ, J. A. LAGUNA, R. URIARTE, E. ORALLO, F. Effects ofcis-resveratrol on inflammatory murinemacrophages: antioxidant activity and down-regulation inflammatory genes. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 75, 1156-1165, 2004.

LEITÃO, M. V. B. R. OLIVEIRA, G. M. ALMEIDA, A. C. SOUSA, P. H. F. Comfort and heat stress in sheep in Northern Bahia. Revista Brasileira de Engenharia Agrícola e Ambiental, 17 (12), 1355-1360, 2013.

MANSO, T. MANTECÓN, A. R. GIRALDEZ, F. J. LAVÍN, P. CASTRO, T. Animal performance and chemical body composition of lambs fed diets with different protein supplements. Small Ruminant Research, 29 (2), 185–191, 1998.

MATTOS, G. N. TONON, R. V. FURTADO, A. A. CABRAL, L. M. Grape by-product extracts against microbial proliferation and lipid oxidation: a review. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 97 (4), 1055–1064, 2016.

MARAI, I. F. M. EL-DARAWANY, A. A. FADIEL, A. ABDEL-HAFEZ, M. A. M. Physiological traits as affected by heat stress in sheep—A review. Small Ruminant Research, 71, 1–12, 2007.

MARTENIUK, J. V. HERDT, T. H. Pregnancy Toxemia and Ketosis of Ewes and Does. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice, 4 (2), 307–315, 1988.

MELCHERT, A. NOGUEIRA, R.M.B. LAPOSY, C.B. BARRACAR, K.C. FERREIRA, F.L. Clinic, electrocardiography and laboratorial analysis of cats treated with levamisol. Archives of Veterinary Science, 14 (3), 128-133, 2009. MENA BUSTAMANTE, C. E. Adicion de cuatro niveles de fosfatidilcolina (biocholine) em la dieta de gallinas Lohmann Brown Classic em terceira fase de produccion. Trabajo de titulación, prévio a la obtención del título de ingeiero agropecuário. Universidad de las fuerzas armadas, Sangolquí, Equador, 2018. Disponível em < <u>http://repositorio.espe.edu.ec/bitstream/21000/14250/1/T-IASA%20I-005435.pdf</u>>.

Acesso em 15 de out. 2019.

Mello, M. R. Article: Performance of Brazilian vitiviniculture in 2015.Embrapa, 2016. Disponível em: <<u>https://www.embrapa.br/busca-de-noticias/-/noticia/9952204/artigo-</u> <u>desempenho-da-vitivinicultura-brasileira-em-2015</u>>. Acesso em 10 out. 2019.

MICHAILOFF, A. A. M. AGNOL, D. D. D. BIANCHI, A. E. BALISTIERI, F. S. FIORENTIN, E. L. ROCHA, R. X. BRAGANÇA, J. F. M. Choline protected from ruminal degradation and its effect in preventing pregnancy toxemia in dairy sheep. Veterinary and Animal Science, 24 (1), 144-150, 2017.

MIGLIORINI, M. J. BOIAGO, M. M. STEFANI, L. M. ZAMPAR, A. ROZA, L. F. BARRETA, M. ARNO, A. ROBAZZA, W. S. GIURIATTI, J. GALVAO, A. C. BOSCATTO, C. PAIANO, D. SILVA, A. S. TAVERNARI, F. C. Oregano essential oil in the diet of laying hens in winter reduces lipid peroxidation in yolks and increases shelf life in eggs. Journal of Thermal Biology, 85, 1-7, 2019.

MIURA, D. MIURA, Y. YAGASAKI, K. Hypolipidemic action of dietary resveratrol, a phytoalexin in grapes and red wine, in hepatoma-bearing rats. Life Sciences, 73 (11), 1393–1400, 2003.

MOLOSSE, V. SOUZA, C. F. BALDISSERA, M. D. GLOMBOWSKY, P. CAMPIGOTTO, G. CAZARATTO, C. J. STEFANI, L. M. DA SILVA, A. S. Diet supplemented with curcumin for nursing lambs improves animal growth, energetic metabolism, and performance of the antioxidant and immune systems. Small Ruminant Research, 170, 74-81, 2019. MOUNT, L. E. Concepts of thermal neutrality from heat loss from animals and man. Pages 425-439 in J. L. Monteith and L. E. Mount, eds. Heat Loss from Animals and Man. Butterworths, London, 1974.

MONTEIRO, A. L. G. SILVA, C. J. A. PRADO, O. R. Weaning In: SELAIVE-VILLARROEL, A. B.; OSÓRIO J. C. S. Sheep Production in Brazil. Cap. 20. 1. Ed. São Paulo: Roca, 2014.

MORRISON, S. R. Ruminant heat stress: effect on production and means of alleviation. Journal of animal science, 57 (6), 1594-1600, 1983.

MORRIS, S. T. KENYON, P. R. Intensive sheep and beef production from pasture — A New Zealand perspective of concerns, opportunities and challenges. Meat Science, 98 (3), 330–335, 2014.

MUTINATI, M. PICCINNO, M. RONCETTI, M. CAMPANILE, D. RIZZO, A. SCIORSCI, R.L. Oxidative Stress During Pregnancy in the Sheep. Reproduction in Domestic Animmals, 48, 353–357, 2013.

NEILL, A. R. GRIME, D. W. DAWSON, R. M. Conversion of choline methyl groups through trimethylamine into methane in the rumen. Biochemical Journal, 170 (3), 529-535, 1978.

NEILL, A. R. GRIME, D. W. SNOSWELL, A. M. NORTHROP, A. J. LINDSAY, D.B. DAWSON, R. M. C. The Low Availability of Dietary Choline for the Nutrition of the Sheep. Biochemical Journal, 180, 559-565, 1979.

NESPOLO, C. R. BIANCHI, A. E. QUEIRÓS, A. A. FATINATTI, L. H. E. The production of sheep milk and its derivatives in western Santa Catarina: an alternative for the producer and the consumer. In: Food security symposium, 4, 2012. FAURGS, 2012.

NOGUEIRA, F. R. B. SOUZA, B. B. CARVALHO, M. G. X. C. JUNIOR, F. G. MELLO S. MARQUES, A. V.M. S. LEITE, R. F. Infrared thermography: a tool to assist in the

diagnosis and prognosis of mastitis in sheep. Brazilian Journal of Veterinary Medicine, 35 (3), 289-297, 2013.

PAVIC, C. ANTUNAC, N. MIOČ, B. IVANKOVIĆ, A. HAVRANEK, J. L. Influence of stage of lactation on the chemical composition and physical properties of sheep milk. Czech Journal of Animal Science, 47 (2): 80–84, 2002.

PEIXOTO, R. M. MOTA, R. A. COSTA, M. M. Mastitis in small ruminants in Brazil. Brazilian Veterinary Research, 30 (9), 754-762, 2010.

PENGOV, A. KIRBIS, A. Risks of antibiotic residues in milk following intramammary and intramuscular treatments in dairy sheep. Analytica Chimica Acta, 637 (1-2), 13–17, 2009.

PIEPENBRINK, M.S. OVERTON, T.R. Liver Metabolism and Production of Cows Fed Increasing Amountsof Rumen-Protected Choline During the Periparturient Period. Journal of Animal Science, 86, 1722–1733, 2003.

PINOTTI, L. BALDI, A. POLITIS, I. REBUCCI, R. SANGALLI, L. DELL'ORTO, V. Rumen-Protected Choline Administration to Transition Cows: Effects on Milk Production and Vitamin E Status. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A, 50, 18–21, 2003.

PINOTTI, L. PALTANIN, C. CAMPAGNOLI, A. CAVASSINI, P. DELL'ORTO, V. Rumen protected choline supplementation in beef cattle: effect on growth performance. Italian Journal of Animal Science, 8 (Suppl. 2), 322-324, 2009.

POMPEU, M.A. LARA, L.J.C. BAIÃO, N.C. ECCO, R. CANÇADO, S.V. ROCHA1, J.S.R. MACHADO, A.L.C. VASCONCELOS, R.J.C. Choline supplementation in diets for male broilers in the initial phase of rearing. Brazilian Archive of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science, 63 (6), 1446-1452, 2011.

RAHAL, A. KUMAR, A. SINGH, V. YADAV, B. TIWARI, R., CHAKRABORTY, S. DHAMA, K. Oxidative Stress, Prooxidants, and Antioxidants: The Interplay. BioMed Research International, 1–19, 2014.

REIS, J. H., GEBERT, R. R., BARRETA, M., BOIAGO, M. M., SOUZA, C. F., BALDISSERA, M. D. SANTOS, I. D. WAGNER, R. LAPORTA, L. V. M. STEFANI, L. M. DA SILVA, A. S. Addition of grape pomace flour in the diet on laying hens in heat stress: Impacts on health and performance as well as the fatty acid profile and total antioxidant capacity in the egg. Journal of Thermal Biology, 80, 141–149, 2019.

ROBLES-HUAYNATE, R. A. THOMAZ, M. C. SANTANA, A. E. MASSON, G. C. I. H. AMORIM, A. B. SILVA, S. Z. RUIZ, U. S. WATANABE, P. H. BUDIÑO, F. E. L. Probiotic in swine diets on the blood parameters and rations digestibility. Semina: Ciências Agrárias, 35 (3), 1627-1636, 2014.

ROCHFORT, S. PARKER, A, J. DUNSHEA, F. R. Plant bioactives for ruminant health and productivity. Phytochemistry, 69, 299–322, 2008.

ROHENKOHL, J. E. CORRÊA, G. F. AZAMBUJA, D. F. FERREIRA, F. R. O agronegócio de leite de ovinos e caprinos. Revista Indicadores Econômicos, 39 (2), 97-114, 2011.

ROHR, M. Performance and quality of commercial laying eggs fed with different hill sources. 2018. Disponível em: <https://www.lume.ufrgs.br/bitstream/handle/10183/181106/001073063.pdf?sequence=1 &is Allowed=y>. Acesso em 20 set. 2019.

ROSTAGNO, H.S. ALBINO, L.F.T. DONZELE, J.L. GOMES, P. C. OLIVEIRA, R. F. LOPES, D.C. FERREIRA, A. S. BARRETO, S. L. T. Brazilian poultry and swine tables - food composition and nutritional requirements. 2.ed. Viçosa, MG: Universidade Federal de Viçosa, 2005. Pag 63 e 65.

ROVAI, M. CAJA, G. QUEVEDO, J. M. MANUELIAN. C. L. SALDO, J. SALAMA, A. A. K. TORRE, P. ARANA, I. SUCH, X. LEITNER, G. Effect of subclinical intramammary infection on milk qualityin dairy sheep: II. Matured-pressed cheese (Manchego) produced from milk of uninfected and infected glands and from their blends. Small Ruminant Research, 126, 59–67, 2015.

SAEED, M. ALAGAWANY, M. ARAIN, M. A. EL-HACK, M. E. A. DHAMA, K. Beneficial impacts of choline in animal and human with special reference to its role against fatty liver syndrome. Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences, 5, 589-598, 2017.

SAKUL, H. BOYLAN, V. Evaluation of U.S. sheep breeds for milk production and milk composition. SmallRuminant Research, 7, 195-201, 1992.

SANTOS, D.S. KLAUCK, V. CAMPIGOTTO, G. ALBA, D.F. REIS, J.H. GEBERT, R.R. SOUZA, C.F. BALDISSERA, M.D. SCHOGOR, A.L.B. SANTOS, I.D. WAGNER, R. VEDOVATTO, M. DA SILVA, A.S. Benefits of the inclusion of açai oil in the diet of dairy sheep in heat stress on health and milk production and quality. Journal Of Thermal Biology, 84, 250-258, 2019.

SANTOS, R. A. MENDONCA, C. L. AFONSO, J. A. B. SIMAO, L. C. V. Clinical aspects and characteristics of milk in sheep with experimentally induced mastitis with Staphylococcus aureus. Brazilian Veterinary Research, 27 (1), 6-12, 2007.

SANTOS, F. C. O. MENDONÇA, C. L. FILHO, A. P. S. CARVALHO, C. C. D. SOARES, P. C. AFONSO, J. A. B. Biochemical and hormonal indicators of natural cases of pregnancy toxemia in sheep. Brazilian Veterinary Research, 31(11), 974-980, 2011.

SANTOS, N. W. SANTOS, G. T. SILVA-KAZAMA, D. C. GRANDE, P. A. PINTRO, P. M. JOBIM, C.C. DE MARCHI, F. E. PETIT, H. V. Production, composition and antioxidants in milk of dairy cows fed diets containing soybean oil and grape residue silage. Livestock Science, 159, 37–45, 2014.

SAUTTER, C. K. DENARDIN, S. AUDREI ALVES, A. O. MALLMANN, C. A. PENNA, N. G. HECKTHEUER, L. H. Determination of resveratrol in grape juices in Brazil. Food Science and Technology, 25 (3), 437-442, 2005.

SCHLUMBOHM, C. HARMEYER, J. Twin-pregnancy increases susceptibility of ewes to hypoglycaemic stress and pregnancy toxaemia. Research in Veterinary Science, 84 (2), 286-99, 2008.

SILVA E SILVA, N. SILVEIRA, J. A. S. PINHEIRO, C. P. SOUSA, M. G. S. OLIVEIRA, C. M. C. MENDONÇA, C. L. DUARTE, M. D. JOSÉ DIOMEDES BARBOSA, J. D. Etiology and sensitivity profile of bacteria isolated from sheep with mastitis in the northeastern region of the state of Pará. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira, 30 (12), 1043-1048, 2010.

SIMPLÍCIO A. A., MAIA M. S. Puberty in Sheep In: SELAIVE-VILLARROEL, A. B.; OSÓRIO J. C. S. Sheep Production in Brazil. Cap. 21. 1. Ed. São Paulo : Roca, 2014.

SIOCHETTA, T. M. Antioxidantes da uva e do vinho e seus benefícios para a saúde. Revista saúde integrada, 11 (22), 38-46, 2018.

SOUZA, B. B. BATISTA, N. The effects of heat stress on animal physiology. Scientific agriculture in the semiarid region, 8 (3), 06-10, 2012.

SIES, H. Strategies of antioxidant defense. European Journal of Biochemistry, 215 (2), 213–219, 1993.

SIES, H. Oxidative stress: oxidants and antioxidants. Experimental Physiology, 82 (2), 291-295, 1997.

TRINDADE NETO, M.A. BERTO, D. A. ALBUQUERQUE, R. SCHAMMASS, E. A. MIGUEL, W. C. Protein levels in diets of growing and finishing pigs. Brazilian Journal of Veterinary Research and Animal Science, 46 (6), 474-483, 2009.

# TSIPLAKOU, E. MAVROMMATIS, A. KALOGEROPOULOS, T. CHATZIKONSTANTINOU, M. KOUTSOULI, P. SOTIRAKOGLOU, K. LABROU, N ZERVAS, G. The effect of dietary supplementation with rumen-protected methionine alone or in combination with rumen-protected choline and betaine on sheep milk and

antioxidant capacity. Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition, 101 (5), 1004–1013, 2016.

VALERO, M. V. PRADO, R. M. ZAWADZKI, F. EIRAS, C. E. MADRONA, G. S. PRADO, I. N. Propolis and essential oils additives in the diets improved animal performance and feed efficiency of bulls finished in feedlot. Acta Scientiarum. Animal Sciences, 36 (4), 419-426, 2014.

VANNUCCHI, H. MOREIRA, E. A. M. CUNHA, D. F. JUNQUEI-RAFRANCO, M. V. M. BERNARDES, M. M. JORDAO-JUNIOR, A. A. Role of nutrients in lipid peroxidation and in the antioxidant defense system. Medicine, 31, 31-44, 1998.

VAN SAUN, R. J. Pregnancy toxemia in a flock of sheep. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 217 (10), 1536–1539, 2000.

VASTA, V. LUCIANO, G. The effects of dietary consumption of plants secondary compounds on small ruminants' products quality. Small Ruminant Research, 101 (1-3), 150–159, 2011.

VIGNOLA, G. LAMBERTINI, L. MAZZONE, G. GIAMMARCO, M. TASSINARI, M. MARTELLI, G. BERTIN, G. Effects of selenium source and level of supplementation on the performance and meat quality of lambs. Meat Science, 81 (4), 678–685, 2009.

WOJTAS, K. CWYNAR, P. KOŁACZ, R. Effect of thermal stress on physiological and blood parameters in merino sheep. Bull Vet Inst Pulaw, 58, 283-288, 2014.

ZEISEL, S. H. BLUSZTAJN, J. K. Choline and human nutrition. Annual Review of Nutrition, 14 (1), 269-296, 1994.



#### LAGES CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS AGROVETERINÁRIAS

# Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais

#### CERTIFICADO

Certificamos que a proposta intitulada "Avaliação da qualidade do leite, isolamento e perfil de sensibilidade a antimicrobianos de bactérias causadoras de mastite em ovelhas mantidas em sistema confinado não submetidas à antibioticoterapia", protocolada sob o CEUA nº 8278020918 (III) companya en esponsabilidade de **Aleksandro Schafer da Silva** - que envolve a produção, manutenção e/ou utilização de animais pertencentes ao filo Chordata, subfilo Vertebrata (exceto o homem), para fins de pesquisa científica ou ensino - está de acordo com os preceitos da Lei 11.794 de 8 de outubro de 2008, com o Decreto 6.899 de 15 de julho de 2009, bem como com as normas editadas pelo Conselho Nacional de Controle da Experimentação Animal (CONCEA), e foi **aprova da** pela Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais da Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina (CEUA/UDESC) na reunião de 19/09/2018.

We certify that the proposal "Evaluation of milk quality, isolation and antimicrobial susceptibility profile of bacteria causing mastitis in ewes kept in a confined system not submitted to antibiotic therapy", utilizing 30 Ovines (30 females), protocol number CEUA 8278020918 (00 000715), under the responsibility of **Aleksandro Schafer da Silva** - which involves the production, maintenance and/or use of animals belonging to the phylum Chordata, subphylum Vertebrata (except human beings), for scientific research purposes or teaching - is in accordance with Law 11.794 of October 8, 2008, Decree 6899 of July 15, 2009, as well as with the rules issued by the National Council for Control of Animal Experimentation (CONCEA), and was **approved** by the Ethic Committee on Animal Use of the University of Santa Catarina State (CEUA/UDESC) in the meeting of 09/19/2018.

#### Finalidade da Proposta: Pesquisa (Acadêmica)

Vigência da Proposta: de 09/2018 a 07/2019		Área: Zootecnia								
Origem:	Animais de proprietários									
Espécie:	Ovinos	sexo: Fêmeas	idade:	2 a 4 anos	N:	30				
Linhagem:	Lacaune		Peso:	50 a 70 kg						

Local do experimento: O experimento será realizado em uma cabanha localizada no município de Chapecó-SC.

Lages, 23 de outubro de 2019

Judzem

Ubirajara Maciel da Costa Coordenador da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina

em aberto Vice-Coordenador da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina

Av. Luis de Camões, 2090 - Centro Agroveterinário - Bairro Conta Dirheiro Lages/SC CEP: 88520-000 - tel: 55(49) 32899129 Horário de atendimento: 2º a 6º das 8h às 13h : e-mail: ceteadjc:av.udesc.br CELN 8278020918

LAGES **CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS** AGROVETERINÁRIAS

Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais

#### CERTIFICADO

Certificamos que a proposta intitulada "Suplementação de ovelhas leiteiras com farinha de casca e semente de uva: investigação dos benefícios sobre produção e qualidade do leite, parâmetros bioquímicos e hematológicos, resposta imune e perfil oxidativo\*, protocolada sob o CEUA nº 5184250218 ND 0005333, sob a responsabilidade de Aleksandro Schafer da Silva - que envolve a produção, manutenção e/ou utilização de animais pertencentes ao filo Chordata, subfilo Vertebrata (exceto o homem), para fins de pesquisa científica ou ensino - está de acordo com os preceitos da Lei 11.794 de 8 de outubro de 2008, com o Decreto 6.899 de 15 de julho de 2009, bem como com as normas editadas pelo Conselho Nacional de Controle da Experimentação Animal (CONCEA), e foi aprovada pela Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais da Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina (CEUA/UDESC) na reunião de 07/03/2018.

We certify that the proposal \*Supplementation of dairy sheep with bark meal and grape seed: investigation of the benefits on milk production and quality, biochemical and hematological parameters, immune response and oxidative profile.", utilizing 27 Ovines (27 females), protocol number CEUA 5184250218 (D 000533), under the responsibility of Aleksandro Schafer da Silva - which involves the production, maintenance and/or use of animals belonging to the phylum Chordata, subphylum Vertebrata (except human beings), for scientific research purposes or teaching - is in accordance with Law 11.794 of October 8, 2008, Decree 6899 of July 15, 2009, as well as with the rules issued by the National Council for Control of Animal Experimentation (CONCEA), and was approved by the Ethic Committee on Animal Use of the University of Santa Catarina State (CEUA/UDESC) in the meeting of 03/07/2018.

Finalidade da Proposta: Pesquisa (Comercial)

Vigência da Proposta: de 04/2018 a 12/2018		Área: Zootecr	nia				
Origem:	Animais de proprietários						
Espécie:	Ovinos	sexo:	Fêmeas	idade:	15 a 20 meses	N:	27
Linhagem:	Lacaune			Peso:	50 a 60 kg		

Local do experimento: O experimento será realizado na cabanha Chapecó, localizada no município de Chapecó-SC. Udesc Oeste tem convenio com a fazenda.

Lages, 23 de outubro de 2019

Indremale

Ubiraiara Maciel da Costa Coordenador da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina

em aberto Vice-Coordenador da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina

Av. Luis de Camões, 2090 - Centro Agroveterinário - Bairro Conta Dinheiro Lages/SC CEP: 88520-000 - tel: 55 (49) 32899129 Horário de atendimento: 2º a 6º das 8h às 18h : e-mail: ceteadjc av.udesc.br CEUA N 5184250218



## LAGES CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS AGROVETERINÁRIAS

# Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais

### CERTIFICADO

Certificamos que a proposta intitulada "Inclusão de colina vegetal e sais aniônicos da dieta de ovelhas leiteiras: efeitos sobre saúde animal e eficiência produtiva", protocolada sob o CEUA nº 2481011018 (#D 000747), sob a responsabilidade de **Aleksandro Schafer da Silva** - que envolve a produção, manutenção e/ou utilização de animais pertencentes ao filo Chordata, subfilo Vertebrata (exceto o homem), para fins de pesquisa científica ou ensino - está de acordo com os preceitos da Lei 11.794 de 8 de outubro de 2008, com o Decreto 6.899 de 15 de julho de 2009, bem como com as normas editadas pelo Conselho Nacional de Controle da Experimentação Animal (CONCEA), e foi **aprovada** pela Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais da Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina (CEUA/UDESC) na reunião de 10/10/2018.

We certify that the proposal "Inclusion of vegetable choline and anionic salts of dairy sheep diet: effects on animal health and productive efficiency", utilizing 40 Ovines (40 females), protocol number CEUA 2481011018 (D 000747), under the responsibility of **Aleksandro Schafer da Silva** - which involves the production, maintenance and/or use of animals belonging to the phylum Chordata, subphylum Vertebrata (except human beings), for scientific research purposes or teaching - is in accordance with Law 11.794 of October 8, 2008, Decree 6899 of July 15, 2009, as well as with the rules issued by the National Council for Control of Animal Experimentation (CONCEA), and was **approved** by the Ethic Committee on Animal Use of the University of Santa Catarina State (CEUA/UDESC) in the meeting of 10/10/2018.

Finalidade da Proposta: Pesquisa (Acadêmica)

Vigência da Proposta: de 10/2018 a 04/2019 Área: Zootecnia

Origem:	Animais de proprietários						
Espécie:	Ovinos	sexo:	Fêmeas	idade:	2 a 4 anos	N:	40
Linhagem:	lacaune			Peso:	50 a 70 kg		_

Local do experimento: O projeto será realizado na Cabanha Três Leite onde desenvolve-se a criação de ovinos de corte e leite da raça Lacaune, localizada na cidade de Lajeado Grande, região Oeste de Santa Catarina.

Lages, 23 de outubro de 2019

Ubirajara Maciel da Costa Coordenador da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina

em aberto Vice-Coordenador da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina
UDESC	LAGES
UNIVERSIDADE DO ESTADO DE SANTA CATARINA	CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS AGROVETERINÁRIAS

Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais

## CERTIFICADO

Certificamos que a proposta intitulada "Inclusão de fosfatidilcolina na dieta de ovelhas leiteiras: efeitos sobre saúde animal e eficiência produtiva ", protocolada sob o CEUA nº 6601130319 00 000043), sob a responsabilidade de **Aleksandro Schafer da Silva** - que envolve a produção, manutenção e/ou utilização de animais pertencentes ao filo Chordata, subfilo Vertebrata (exceto o homem), para fins de pesquisa científica ou ensino - está de acordo com os preceitos da Lei 11.794 de 8 de outubro de 2008, com o Decreto 6.899 de 15 de julho de 2009, bem como com as normas editadas pelo Conselho Nacional de Controle da Experimentação Animal (CONCEA), e foi **aprovada** pela Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais da Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina (CEUA/UDESC) na reunião de 15/03/2019.

We certify that the proposal "Inclusion of phosphatidylcholine in dairy sheep diet: effects on animal health and productive efficiency", utilizing 30 Ovines (30 females), protocol number CEUA 6601130319 (D 000843), under the responsibility of **Aleksandro Schafer da Silva** - which involves the production, maintenance and/or use of animals belonging to the phylum Chordata, subphylum Vertebrata (except human beings), for scientific research purposes or teaching - is in accordance with Law 11.794 of October 8, 2008, Decree 6899 of July 15, 2009, as well as with the rules issued by the National Council for Control of Animal Experimentation (CONCEA), and was **approved** by the Ethic Committee on Animal Use of the University of Santa Catarina State (CEUA/UDESC) in the meeting of 03/15/2019.

Finalidade da Proposta: Pesquisa (Acadêmica)

Vigência da Proposta: de 04/2019 a 12/2019 Área: Zootecnia Origem: Animais de proprietários Espécie: Ovinos sexo: Fêmeas idade: 2 a 3 anos N: 30 Linhagem: lacaune Peso: 50 a 70 kg

Local do experimento: Fazenda Cabanha Chapecó - convêncio com udesc oeste

Lages, 23 de outubro de 2019

hozen

Ubirajara Maciel da Costa Coordenador da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina

em aberto Vice-Coordenador da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina

Av. Luis de Camões, 2090 - Centro Agroveterinário - Bairro Conta Dinheiro Lages/SC CEP: 88520-000 - tel: 55 (49) 32899129 Horário de atendimento: 2º a 6º das 8h às 18h : e-mail: oetea@cav.udesc.br CEUA N 660130319